
2023 Regular Meetings 
January 17; February 21; March 21; April 18; May 16; June 20; July 18; August 15; September 19; October 17; 

November 21; and December 19 at 6:00 p.m. via teleconference. 

1237.0008; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-
1901847080-751 

 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
SPECIAL MEETING 

via teleconference 
Monday, November 20, 2023 6:00 PM 

https://leydenrocklife.com/ 
 

Brett Vernon, President Term to May 2027 
Scott J. Plummer, Secretary Term to May 2027 
Jeff Cunningham, Treasurer Term to May 2025 
Christian Ardita, Assistant Secretary Term to May 2025 
Tanis Batsel Stewart, Assistant Secretary Term to May 2025 

 

This meeting can be joined through the directions below: 
 

Join Zoom Meeting 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82449264546?pwd=pYMI29b4blOqIoPBXSsj7Jg9vmLcYp.1 

Meeting ID: 824 4926 4546 
Passcode: 130651 

Call-in Number: +1-720-707-2699 
 

NOTICE OF SPECIAL MEETING AND AGENDA 
 

1. Call to Order/Declaration of Quorum 
2. Director Conflict of Interest Disclosures 
3. Approval of Agenda 
4. Public Comment – Members of the public may express their views to the Board on matters that 

affect the District on items not otherwise on the agenda. Comments will be limited to three (3) 
minutes per person. 

5. Consent Agenda: 
a. Approval of Minutes from October 17, 2023 Regular Meeting (enclosure) 
b. Approval of Minutes from November 7, 2023 Special Meeting (enclosure) 
c. Approval of Minutes from November 7, 2023 Town Hall Meeting (enclosure) 
d. Ratification of Independent Contractor Agreement with Rhonda Batchelor/Rad Booth Co, 

LLC for Photo Booth on April 13, 2023 (enclosure) 
e. Ratification of Independent Contractor Agreement with Worldwide Hot Dogs LLC d/b/a 

Biker Jim’s Gourmet Dogs for Catering Services (enclosure) 
f. Ratification of Independent Contractor Agreement with Bedrock for Removal of Pool Shades 

(enclosure) 
g. Ratification of Independent Contractor Agreement with Rhonda Batchelor/Rad Booth Co, 

LLC for Photo Booth (enclosure) 
h. Ratification of Facilities Agreement with Jeffco Public Schools (enclosure) 

6. Financial Matters 
a. Consider Approval of Payables/Financials (enclosure) 
b. Public Hearing on 2023 Budget Amendment and Consider Approval of Resolution 

Amending the 2023 Budget (if necessary) 

https://leydenrocklife.com/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/82449264546?pwd=pYMI29b4blOqIoPBXSsj7Jg9vmLcYp.1


2023 Regular Meetings 
January 17; February 21; March 21; April 18; May 16; June 20; July 18; August 15; September 19; October 17; 

November 21; and December 19 at 6:00 p.m. via teleconference. 

1237.0008; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-
1901847080-751 

 

c. Public Hearing on 2024 Budget and Consider Approval of Resolution Amending the 
2024 Budget (enclosure) 

d. Discuss Investment Direction 
e. Other Financial Matters 

7. District Management Matters 
a. District Manager’s Report (enclosure) 
b. Consider Approval of Partnership with Loft & Blush, Regarding Clubhouse Refresh 

(enclosure) 
c. Consider Approval of Patio Homes HOA Reimbursement Request (enclosure) 
d. Other Management Matters 

8. 2024 Contracts 
a. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Allied Waste 

Transportation, Inc. d/b/a Republic Services of Denver for Solid Waste Services 
(enclosure) 

b. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Ascent Land Development 
LLC for Project Management Services (enclosure) 

c. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Cintas Fire Protection for 
Fire Inspection Services (enclosure) 

d. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with CTL Thompson, Inc. for 
Annual Seep and Sediment Sampling (enclosure) 

e. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Done and Dusted, LLC for 
Clubhouse Cleaning Services (enclosure) 

f. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Keesen Landscape 
Management, Inc. for 2024 Landscape Maintenance Services (enclosure) 

g. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Lee Design Group, LLC for 
Design Review Services (enclosure) 

h. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Long Corporation d/b/a 
Poop 911 for Pet Waste Station Services (enclosure) 

i. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Mile High Pools LLC for 
Pool Gate Monitor (enclosure) 

j. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC 
for Pool Maintenance (enclosure) 

k. Consider Approval of Contract with Timberline Mechanical Systems, LLC for HVAC 
System Maintenance (enclosure) 

l. Consider Approval of Independent Contractor Agreement with Weed Wranglers, Inc. for 
Noxious Weed and Pest Control Services (enclosure) 

9. Director’s Matters 
a. Other Director’s Matters 

10. Capital Projects Discussion 
a. Other Capital Project Matters 

11. Legal Matters 
a. Consider Adoption of 2024 Annual Administrative Resolution (enclosure) 
b. Approval of Renewal of Property and Liability Schedule and Limits, Workers 

Compensation Coverage, and SDA Membership for 2024 (enclosure) 



2023 Regular Meetings 
January 17; February 21; March 21; April 18; May 16; June 20; July 18; August 15; September 19; October 17; 

November 21; and December 19 at 6:00 p.m. via teleconference. 

1237.0008; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-
1901847080-751 

 

c. Discuss District Website Compliance and WCAG 2.1 AA Requirements for ADA 
Compliance  

d. Discussion Regarding Architectural Review Committee Tribunal   
e. Other Legal Matters 

12. Other Business 
13. Adjourn 



1237.0006 

 
 MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 

DIRECTORS OF 
   
 LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

 
 Held: Tuesday, October 17, 2023, at 6:00 P.M. via teleconference 
 
 
Attendance The regular meeting of the Board of Directors of the Leyden Rock 

Metropolitan District was called and held as shown above and in 
accordance with the applicable statutes of the State of Colorado. The 
following directors, having confirmed their qualification to serve on 
the Board, were in attendance: 
 

                                                                 Brett Vernon 
Scott Plummer 
Jeff Cunningham 
Christian Ardita 
Tanis Batsel-Stewart 
 

 
 Also present: Megan J. Murphy, Esq., White Bear Ankele Tanaka & 

Waldron, District General Counsel; Katie Call and Christine Ahern, 
AdvanceHOA, District Management; Alex Fink, 
CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP, District Accountant; Katie Cooley, Ascent 
Land Development, LLC; and members of the public.  
 

Call to Order  
 

It was noted that a quorum of the Board was present, and the 
meeting was called to order. 
 
 

Conflict of Interest 
Disclosures 
 

Ms. Murphy advised the Board that, pursuant to Colorado law, 
certain disclosures might be required prior to taking official action at 
the meeting.  Ms. Murphy reported that disclosures for those 
directors with potential or existing conflicts of interest were filed 
with the Secretary of State’s Office and the Board at least 72 hours 
prior to the meeting, in accordance with Colorado law, and those 
disclosures were acknowledged by the Board.  Ms. Murphy noted 
that a quorum was present and inquired into whether members of the 
Board had any additional disclosures of potential or existing 
conflicts of interest with regard to any matters scheduled for 
discussion at the meeting. No additional disclosures were noted. 
 

Agenda 
 

The Board reviewed the agenda. Following discussion, upon a motion 
duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved the agenda 



1237.0006 

as amended.  
 

Public Comment 
 

None.  
 

Consent Agenda Following a summary by Ms. Murphy, the items on the consent 
agenda were ratified, approved, or accepted in one motion duly made 
and seconded and unanimously carried: 
 

• Minutes from September 19, 2023 Regular Meeting;  
• Minutes from September 27, 2023 Special Meeting; 
• Minutes from October 3, 2023 Special Meeting;  
• Amended and Restated Residential Improvement Guidelines 

and Site Restrictions; and 
• Requisition No. 10 Related to the District’s General 

Obligation (Limited Tax Convertible to Unlimited Tax) 
Refunding and Improvement Bonds, Series 2021. 

 
 

Financial Matters 
 

 

Consider Approval of 
Payables/Financials  

Mr. Fink presented an update to the Board regarding Proposition 
HH. Director Cunningham noted the Board is researching lowering 
the General Mill Levy. The Board reviewed the schedule of cash 
position from June 30, 2023, updated as of October 11, 2023, and 
claims in the amount of $217,869.40. Following discussion, upon a 
motion duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved 
the schedule of cash position and claims. 
 

Capital Projects 
Discussion 
 

 

Discussion and Approval 
of Proposals for Winter 
Rock  
 

Ms. Call presented the Winter Rock proposals from Keesen 
Landscaping to the Board. Following discussion, upon a motion duly 
made and seconded, the Board directed legal counsel to publish a 
notice of bid for the work in the Denver Daily Journal.  Director 
Plummer noted he would like to do more than publish a notice to bid 
to seek additional bids for this scope of work. 
 

Discussion Regarding 
Electrical Installation at 
Entrances  
 

Ms. Cooley presented a proposal for electrical installation to connect 
to the entrances in the amount of $28,689.20 to the Board. The 
contractor will coordinate installation with Xcel and obtain all 
necessary permits. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made 
and seconded, the Board approved a portion of the proposal, pending 
approval of Xcel’s proposal not to exceed $2,500.  Director 
Plummer voted against approval of the proposal and requested to 
seek additional proposals. 



1237.0006 

 
Discussion and Presentation 
Regarding Trails 

 

Director Cunningham presented The Architerra Group’s proposal to 
design trails with a total estimated cost of $770,000. Following 
discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the Board 
unanimously authorized The Architerra Group to begin designing 
the trails.  
 

Other Capital Project Matters 

 

None. 

Discussion Regarding Grant 
Investigation 

 

Director Vernon noted that he is working with a resident in the 
community to investigate the possibility of the District using grant 
funds for capital improvement projects. Ms. Murphy noted there is a 
provision in the District’s Service Plan provision that requires that 
an Intergovernmental Agreement with the City be put in place before 
the District can apply for grant funds if the City can also apply for 
the same grant funds. Following discussion, upon a motion duly 
made and seconded, the Board approved entering into an agreement 
with Ms. Fetterhoff for this work and that Ms. Fetterhoff would 
provide a memorandum to the Board by November 30, 2023. 
 

District Management 
Matters 

 

 

Discussion Regarding Verizon 
Cell Tower 

 

The Board engaged in general discussion regarding the Verizon Cell 
Tower.  
 
Director Vernon noted: he has considered the input from Verizon 
and the community; the community needs better coverage but he 
does not believe this is the right way to achieve the goal; Verizon is 
not willing to consider other locations and this installation will only 
benefit a portion of the community; he would prefer to use text 
messages during an emergency and does not accept the blanket 
statement that there are no health concerns; and the biggest decision 
is the presumption of risk because current residents near the 
clubhouse did not purchase homes near a cell phone tower.  
 
Director Plummer noted: over 10% of the community is against the 
proposal; he does not agree with the reduction in home values or that 
there are health risks; and that homeowners did not anticipate this 
coming to the neighborhood and they do not want it.  
 
Director Cunningham thanked residents for their emails and 
comments and noted: the District is not interested in locating the cell 
tower on non-District property; if more cell phone companies 



1237.0006 

wanted to use the tower, additional infrastructure would need to be 
constructed; there was no evidence to support health concerns; he 
has researched property values and cell phone towers, and the results 
are inconclusive; he represents the residents of Leyden Rock and 
will try to do what is best for the majority; and he does not support 
the proposal in its current format.  
 
Director Ardita agreed with Directors Cunningham, Vernon, and 
Plummer regarding the residents’ opinions on the cell phone tower. 
Director Ardita noted if there was a different location not as close to 
residents that would be an open discussion.  
 
Director Batsel Stewart noted that she will be voting based on the 
desire of the community. She said would reconsider the matter in the 
future based on increased evidence of safety and the ability to 
provide improved coverage for the entire community.  
 

Consider Approval of 
Memorandum of Land, 
Building and Rooftop 
Lease Agreement with 
Verizon Wireless 
 

Ms. Murphy presented the memorandum to the Board. Following 
discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the Board 
unanimously determined not to approve the memorandum. Based on 
a role call vote, each director’s votes were as follows:  
Director Vernon: No;  
Director Plummer: No; 
Director Cunningham: No;  
Director Ardita: No; and  
Director Batsel Stewart: No.  
 

District Manager’s 
Report  
 

Ms. Call presented the Manager’s Report to the Board.  

Consider Approval of 
Adults Night Out 
Beverage Choice 

Ms. Ahern requested Board approval for an alcoholic shot at the 
Halloween party. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made 
and seconded, the Board unanimously approved the alcoholic shot.  
 

Consider Approval of 
2024 Community 
Sponsorship Program  
 

Ms. Ahern presented 2024 Community Sponsorship Program to the 
Board. Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and 
seconded, the Board unanimously approved the program.  

Consider Approval of 
Account Balance 
Removal 
 

Ms. Call presented a report to the Board. The late 
fee/interest/warning letters would be in the amount of $496.12. 
Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the 
Board unanimously approved account balance removal.  
 

Consider Approval of 
Retaining Wall Repair 
 

Ms. Call presented a retaining wall repair proposal to the Board. 
Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the 
Board unanimously approved the proposal in the amount of $2,500. 



1237.0006 

   
Discussion and Consider 
Approval of Tree Care 
Services 
 
Discuss Proposed 2024 
Services, Regarding 
Operating Budget 
 
Discuss and Consider 
Approval of Proposed 
2023 Services 
 

Ms. Call presented tree care service proposals to the Board. Director 
Vernon noted, after reviewing both proposals, that he recommends 
the Preservation Tree Care proposal due to their expertise. This item 
was deferred to the next meeting.  
 
The Board engaged in discussion. No action was taken.  
 
 
 
 
The Board deferred this matter. 

Discussion on 2024 
Board Meeting Dates 
 

The Board engaged in discussion regarding regular meeting dates. 
The Board determined to keep regular meetings on the Third 
Tuesday of the month at 6 p.m. with the Capital Projects meeting on 
the First Tuesday of the month at 6 p.m. 
 

Other Management 
Matters 
 

Director Cunningham and Director Vernon have met with Ms. Call 
regarding the 2024 budget and intend to finalize it for approval by 
the Board in November.  
 

Director’s Matters 
 

 

Discussion Regarding 
Security Light Proposal  
 

Director Vernon noted he advocated for this proposal with the 
assumption that timers were included. Following discussion, upon a 
motion duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously rescinded 
approval of the proposal. 
 

Other Director’s Matters 
 

None.  
 

Legal Matters 
 

 

Other Legal Matters None.  
 

Executive Session  
 
 

Deferred.  
 

Other Business  
 

Town Hall Meeting on 
November 7, 2023 at 6 
pm 
 

The Board confirmed the Town Hall Meeting date and time.  



1237.0006 

Special Meeting on 
November 7, 2023 at 
6:30 pm 
 

The Board confirmed the Special Meeting date and time.  

Regular Meeting on 
November 21, 2023 at 6 
pm 
 

The Board engaged in discussion and moved this meeting to 
November 20, 2023 at 6 pm.  
 

Adjournment 
 

There being no further business to come before the Board and 
following discussion and upon motion duly made, seconded, and 
unanimously carried, the Board determined to adjourn the meeting. 
 
 
The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes of 
the above-referenced meeting. 
 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Secretary for the Meeting 
 
The foregoing minutes were approved by the Board of Directors on 
the 20th day of November 2023.  
 
 

 



1 
1237.0006; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-1622679811-407 
 

 
 MINUTES OF THE SPECIAL MEETING OF THE 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
   
 LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

 
 Held: Tuesday, November 7, 2023 at 6:30 P.M. via 

Teleconference  
 
 
Attendance The special meeting of the Board of Directors of the Leyden Rock 

Metropolitan District was called and held as shown above and in 
accordance with the applicable statutes of the State of Colorado.  
The following directors, having confirmed their qualification to 
serve on the Board, were in attendance: 
 

                                                                 Scott J. Plummer 
Brett Vernon 
Jeff Cunningham 
Christian Ardita 
Tanis Batsel Stewart 
 

 
 Also present: Megan Murphy, White Bear Ankele Tanaka & 

Waldron, District General Counsel; Katie Call and Christine 
Ahern, District Managers, AdvanceHOA; Brian Peck, Keesen 
Landscape Management; and members of the public.  
 

Call to Order  
 
 

It was noted that a quorum of the Board was present, and the 
meeting was called to order at 6:30 P.M. 

Conflict of Interest 
Disclosures 
 

Ms. Murphy advised the Board that, pursuant to Colorado law, 
certain disclosures might be required prior to taking official 
action at the meeting.  Ms. Murphy reported that disclosures for 
those directors with potential or existing conflicts of interest were 
filed with the Secretary of State’s Office and the Board at least 72 
hours prior to the meeting, in accordance with Colorado law, and 
those disclosures were acknowledged by the Board.  Ms. Murphy 
noted that a quorum was present and inquired into whether 
members of the Board had any additional disclosures of potential 
or existing conflicts of interest with regard to any matters 
scheduled for discussion at the meeting. No additional disclosures 
were noted.  The Board determined that the participation of the 
members present was necessary to obtain a quorum or to 
otherwise enable the Board to act. 
 



2 
1237.0006; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-1622679811-407 

Approval of Agenda 
 
 
 

The Board reviewed the agenda. Following discussion, upon a 
motion duly made and seconded, the Board unanimously approved 
the agenda as presented. 
 

Public Comment Director Ardita inquired about the anticipated date of the pool 
covers being removed. Ms. Call noted they will be removed on 
November 10th.  
 
Director Ardita inquired about the planters on the pool deck being 
removed for the Fall/Winter season. Director Batsel Stewart noted 
that Keesen Landscape Management will remove the planters. 
 

Capital Projects Discussion 
 

 

Discuss and Consider Award 
of Winter Rock Project 
 

Ms. Call provided a presentation to the Board. Ms. Call noted one 
company responded to the invitation to bid, but it did not request 
additional information or respond to a follow up email. Mr. Peck 
responded to questions regarding the proposals. Following 
discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, the Board 
unanimously approved both sections A and B.  
 

District Management 
Matters 
 

 

Discussion Regarding 2024 
Operating Budget Options 
 

Ms. Call engaged in discussion with the Board regarding 2024 
Operating Budget Options.  

Discuss and Consider 
Approval of Proposed 2023 
Tree Care Services 
 

The Board engaged in discussion regarding the proposed 2023 
Tree Care Services. Following discussion, upon a motion duly 
made and seconded, the Board approved the proposal.  Director 
Cunningham voted against approval of the proposal.  
 
 

Discuss and Consider 
Approval of Proposed 2024 
Tree Care Services 
 

The Board engaged in discussion regarding the proposed 2024 
Tree Care Services. Following discussion, upon a motion duly 
made and seconded, the Board approved the proposal.  Director 
Cunningham voted against approval of the proposal.  
 
 

Director’s Matters 
 

None.  

Other Business 
 

 

Discussion Regarding 
Contract with Wendy 
Fetterolf 

Ms. Murphy presented the Independent Contractor Agreement 
with Ms. Fetterolf to the Board. Ms. Murphy noted the vendor 
does not carry insurance and explained the Board’s options. 



3 
1237.0006; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-1622679811-407 

 Following discussion, upon a motion duly made and seconded, 
the Board unanimously approved waiving insurance requirements 
for Ms. Fetterhoff.  
 

Adjournment 
 

There being no further business to come before the Board and 
following discussion and upon motion duly made, seconded, and 
unanimously carried, the Board determined to adjourn the 
meeting. 
 
The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes 
of the above-referenced meeting. 
 
____________________________________________________ 
Secretary for the Meeting 
 
The foregoing minutes were approved by the Board of Directors 
on the 20th day of November 2023. 
 
 

 
 



MINUTES OF THE ANNUAL MEETING  
PURSUANT TO §32-1-903(6), C.R.S. 

OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

 
Held: Tuesday, November 7, 2023 at 6:00 p.m.  
 
The meeting was held via teleconference. 

 
Attendance The meeting was held in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Colorado. The following directors were in attendance: 
 
Brett Vernon 
Scott J. Plummer 
Jeff Cunningham 
Christian Ardita 
Tanis Batsel Stewart 
 

 Also present were: Megan J. Murphy, Esq., White Bear Ankele 
Tanaka & Waldron, District General Counsel; Katie Call and 
Christine Ahern, AdvanceHOA, District Manager; Alex Fink, 
CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP., District Accountant; and members of 
the public.  
 

Call to Order: The meeting was called to order at 6:05 p.m. 
 

Presentation Regarding 
the Status of Public 
Infrastructure Projects 
within the District 
 

Ms. Call presented the status of Public Infrastructure Projects 
within the District.  
 
No action was taken by the Board. 
 

Presentation Regarding 
Outstanding Bonds  
 

Mr. Fink presented the Outstanding Bonds.  
 
No action was taken by the Board. 
 

Review of Unaudited 
Financial Statements 
 

Mr. Fink presented the Unaudited Financial Statements.  
 
No action was taken by the Board. 
 

Open Floor for Questions  
 

Mr. Hill inquired about specific ownership tax and examples. Mr. 
Fink responded that specific ownership taxes are imposed and 
collected on personal property and distributed by the County to 
various taxing entities within that County based on the imposed 
mill levy.  
 
 



Adjournment 
 

Upon a motion duly made, seconded, and upon vote, 
unanimously carried, the meeting was adjourned. 
 
The foregoing constitutes a true and correct copy of the minutes 
of the above-referenced meeting. 
 
 
      
 Secretary for the Meeting 

 

 



�

���������	�
���������

��������������������������������������������������� !�� "#$�%# $&�$ '()�$&� "*+,#�"#-��./0123�4356/7809�2:;:3�.32�4005/�<0�=�=�<���(#,�� !��>$����"#&� "#$�%#-��?/050�4005/�@79A67B�01�CD9A8���E�������>$����"#&� "#$�%#���#�-��F396/���E�������� G/AB�<0159365�HICJ977K715LM�NO�PQRS�TU�QVR�TSWXSSV�=7Y271�.06Z�F7590D08A531�[AB59A65E�3�\]3BÂP_VǸNaQb�̀cdacdQWNcV�QVR�acbNWǸQb�O_TRNeNONcV�cf�WgS�hWQWS�cf�icbcdQRc�HWgS�IjNOWdǸWLM�QVR�WgS�QTceŜ97k7971672�6015936509E�adceNRSdl�cd�cWgSd�̀cVO_bWQVW�HWgS�IicVWdQ̀WcdLMm��� n15902]65A01��G/7�[AB59A65�312�5/7�<015936509�27BA97�50�71579�A150�5/AB�<0159365�50�;7�7kk765A7�5/7�2357�3;07���� ��� @60D7�0k�@79A67B���G/7�<015936509�B/388�D79k09K�5/7�B79A67B�B75�k095/�A1��op(q(#���r5/7�I��$'(%�*LMs�HQM�NV�Q�fNdOŴ683BB�K31179E�50�5/7�B35ABk365A01�0k�5/7�[AB59A65E�]BA1J�5/7�27J977�0k�BZA88�312�Z10t872J7�6]B50K39A8Y�7KD80Y72�;Y�05/79�D90k7BBA0138B�D79k09KA1J�BAKA839�B79A67B	�r;u�tA5/A1�5/7�5AK7�D79A02�BD76AkA72�A1�5/7�CJ977K715	�r6u�A1�B]6/�3�K31179�3B�50�KA1AKAv7�31Y�3110Y3167E�A1579k797167E�09�2AB9]D5A01�50�5/7�97BA2715BE�571315BE�066]D315BE�312�A1A577B�tA5/A1�5/7�[AB59A65	�312�r2u�A1�60KD8A3167�tA5/�388�3DD8A63;87�k727938E�B5357E�60]15YE�312�80638�09�K]1A6AD38�B535]57BE�092A13167BE�312�97J]835A01B����� ��� <0KD71B35A01�0k�@79A67B��<0KD71B35A01�k09�5/7�@79A67B�D90A272�]1279�5/AB�CJ977K715�B/388�;7�D90A272�A1�3660923167�tA5/�5/7�60KD71B35A01�B6/72]87�35536/72�/79750�3B��op(q(#�����G/7�<015936509�B/388�;7�97BD01BA;87�k09�388�7wD71B7B�A5�A16]9B�A1�D79k09K3167�0k�5/AB�CJ977K715�312�B/388�105�;7�715A5872�50�31Y�97AK;]9B7K715�09�60KD71B35A01�7w67D5�3B�D90A272�/797A1E�]187BB�B3A2�97AK;]9B7K715�09�60KD71B35A01�AB�3DD9072�A1�t9A5A1J�;Y�5/7�[AB59A65�A1�323167�0k�A16]99A1J�B]6/�7wD71B7B��xw/A;A5�C�K3Y�53Z7�31Y�k09K���n1�5/7�7715�0k�31Y�601k8A65�;75t771�579KB�B75�k095/�A1�5/7�;02Y�0k�5/AB�CJ977K715�312�579KB�B75�k095/�A1�xw/A;A5�CE�5/7�579KB�A1�5/7�;02Y�0k�5/AB�CJ977K715�B/388�J0791��� ��� .7D3A9B:<83AKB���G/7�<015936509�B/388�105AkY�5/7�[AB59A65�AKK72A3578YE�A1�t9A5A1JE�0k�31Y�312�388�A16A2715B:366A2715B�t/A6/�97B]85�A1�A1y]9Y�09�D90D795Y�23K3J7���G/7�<015936509�tA88�D90KD58Y�97D3A9�09E�35�5/7�jNOWdǸWzO�caWNcVl�dSNPT_dOS�WgS�jNOWdǸW�fcd�WgS�dSaQNd�cf�QVU�RQPQ{S�Wc�jNOWdǸW�adcaSdWU�̀Q_OSR�TU�WgS�icVWdQ̀Wcd�09�A5B�7KD80Y77BE�3J715BE�09�7\]ADK715����� ��� n127D712715�<015936509���G/7�<015936509�AB�31�A127D712715�6015936509�312�105/A1J�/797A1�B/388�601B5A5]57�09�27BAJ1357�5/7�<015936509�09�31Y�0k�A5B�7KD80Y77B�09�3J715B�3B�7KD80Y77B�09�3J715B�0k�5/7�[AB59A65���|gS�icVWdQ̀Wcd�NO�VcW�SVWNWbSR�Wc�Xcd}SdOz�̀cPaSVOQWNcV�TSVSfNWO�cd�_VSPabcUPSVW�NVO_dQV̀S�TSVSfNWO�312�5/7�[AB59A65�tA88�105�D90A27�31Y�A1B]93167�60793J7�09�7KD80YK715�;717kA5B�0k�31Y�ZA12�09�5YD7�50�09�k09�5/7�<015936509�09�A5B�7KD80Y77BE�B];̂601B]85315BE�6015936509BE�3J715BE�09�97D97B71535A7B��G/7�<015936509�B/388�/37�k]88�D0t79�312�3]5/09A5Y�50�B78765�5/7�K731BE�K31179E�312�K75/02�0k�D79k09KA1J�A5B�2]5A7B�]1279�5/AB�CJ977K715E�tA5/0]5�2753A872�6015908�09�2A9765A01�k90K�5/7�[AB59A65E�312�B/388�;7�97BD01BA;87�k09�B]D79ABA1J�A5B�0t1�7KD80Y77B�09�B];6015936509B���G/7�[AB59A65�AB�601679172�018Y�tA5/�5/7�97B]85B�50�;7�0;53A172���� ~�� �399315Y�312�?79KA5B��G/7�<015936509�B/388�312�207B�;Y�5/AB�CJ977K715�J]3931577�312�t399315�5/35�388�t09ZK31B/ADE�K3579A38BE�312�7\]ADK715�k]91AB/72E�A1B538872E�09�D79k09K72�k09�5/7�3660KD8AB/K715�0k�5/7�@79A67B�r6088765A7bUl�WgS�I� $�LM�XNbb�TS�cf�{ccR��_QbNWU�QVR�VSXl�_VbSOO�cWgSdXNOS�dS�_NdSR�cd�aSdPNWWSR�TU�5/AB�CJ977K715���G/7�<015936509�k]95/79�t399315B�5/35�5/7��09Z�tA88�601k09K�50�388�97\]A97K715B�0k�5/AB�CJ977K715�312�5/7�3DD8A63;87�;]A82A1J�6027�312�388�05/79�3DD8A63;87�83tBE�092A13167BE�6027BE�9]87BE�312�97J]835A01B�0k�31Y�J0791K71538�3]5/09A5A7B�/3A1J�y]9AB2A65A01�079�5/7��09Z���G/7�<015936509�/797;Y�t399315B�5/7��09Z�k09�3�D79A02�0k�017�r�u�Y739�k90K�5/7�2357�0k�60KD875A01�312�A1A5A38�3667D53167�0k�5/7��09Z���G/7�<015936509�tA88�AKK72A3578Y�6099765�09�97D8367�31Y��09Z�5/35�AB�27k765A7�09�105�601k09KA1J�50�5/AB�CJ977K715�QW�NWO�OcbS�S�aSVOS�Wc�WgS�dSQOcVQTbS�OQWNOfQ̀WNcV�cf�WgS�jNOWdǸWm��|gS�icVWdQ̀WcdzO�{_QdQVWSSO�QVR�XQddQVWNSO�OgQbb�A1�388�63B7B�B]9A7�579KA135A01�0k�5/AB�CJ977K715���G/AB�t399315Y�B/388�;7�71k09673;87�;Y�5/7�[AB59A65E�A5B�B]667BB09B�312�3BBAJ1B��



�

���������	�� 
�

�� ��� ���� �������������������������������� !����"� ##� !$%&��� �'�( &�� &�)� ��&�"�"�#��!�"�� �'��*+��"�)�'%�&�,��������&������(��-�����.,���(���)�����-�##�/&�,�&�"%� �!��!�	�� ,�0��1&2���((��!& #�3���� #�4& 5&#&�6�7�"%� �!��/&���(&�&(%(�#&(&�"��-�#& 5&#&�6��-�����#�""��� ��8�)���)����+����!!%����!��-���5�'&#6�&�9%�6� �'�+��+���6�' ( ,��#& 5&#&�6:�8�)���)����;��"�� #�<�.'	���&"&�,�7�9%�6)� �'�1&&2� �6�������&�"%� �!��!�((��#6�%"�'�56�!���� !���"�-���"��	&!�"��-������6+�����5��+��-��(�'�+%�"% ��������&"�.,���(������.##�!�	�� ,��+��	&'�'�+%�"% ��������&"�.,���(����"� ##�5��/�&����� "�+�&( �6�+�#&!&�")�����!����&5%�&�,�/&��� �'�����"%++#�(��� #���� �6�!�	�� ,���� ������=&"��&!��( 6�! ��6)� �'� �6�&�"%� �!��( &�� &��'�56�����=&"��&!��"� ##�5��!��"&'���'��*!�""���������((��!& #�3���� #�4& 5&#&�6� �'���(+�����"&	��.%��(�5&#��4& 5&#&�6�7�"%� �!��+�#&!&�"�/&##�5����'��"�'����� (������=&"��&!�� "� �� ''&�&�� #�&�"%��'����������� !������>�?@������A���B�����B����C�&��'�&�"%� �!��"� ##�����"��	�������#� "��&��-��(� �6��5#&, �&��":�����"� ##�����+%�!� "���-�������$%&��'�&�"%� �!��"��	�����#&(&����������� !������@?�D?@?�EF��GB������� !����"� ##�5����"+��"&5#��-�������+ 6(�����-� �6�'�'%!�&5#�"����&""%�'�+�#&!&�"���H�� 7�'�(�&-&! �&�������������� !����"� ##�'�-��')�&�'�(�&-6)� �'���#'�� �(#�""�����=&"��&!�� �'�� !���-�&�"�'&��!���")��--&!��")�!���� !���")��(+#�6��")� ,���")� �'�!��"%#� ��")�-��(� �'� , &�"�� �6� �'� ##�!# &(")�'�( �'")�#�""�")�#& 5&#&�&�")� !�&��")�# /"%&�")�' ( ,�")� �'��*+��"�")�&�!#%'&�,�#�, #��*+��"�"� �'�������E���>���I���?�?�J�K?����@E���?�K?����@E����>��B����������L?��?��I���J@?J����I�M?@@>�@�L?���K���I����� �6�!�&(&� #��������&�%"� !������(&""&����-���������� !������� �6��-�&�"�"%5!���� !���")��--&!��")� ,���")�����LA@E���F���GB�����������?�����D@?J���K���?�K�L�?>E��B��N?���?���>���B��N?���?�����M����J@?J����F��GB?��&�'�(�&-&! �&����5#&, �&���/&##�����5��#&(&��'�&�� �6�/ 6�56� �6�#&(&� �&���������� (�%�������6+�"��-�' ( ,�")�!�(+��" �&��)���D���>?���A�E�D@��DE���>���B�������������K���M�O������LA�����?������I�K?��D?@?�E�����)�����������(+#�6���5���-&�� !�"���P%!��&�'�(�&�6�"� ##�"%�	&	�������*+&� �&���������(&� �&����-���&"�.,���(��������������*���������=&"��&!��&"����( 6�5���5#&, ��'����&�'�(�&-6)�'�-��')������#'������ !����� �(#�""�%�'����������("��-�����.,���(���)� �6�"%!��&�'�(�&-&! �&����5#&, �&���"� ##� �&"����#6���������*�����+��(&���'�56� ++#&! 5#��# /� �'�"� ##�5��#&(&��'�"�#�#6����"%("�# /-%##6� ++��+�& ��'�-���"%!��+%�+�"��&�� !!��' �!��/&�����&"�.,���(�������� Q�� ���(&� �&�������&"�.,���(����( 6�5�����(&� ��'�56��&�����+ ��6�-���! %"�����-���!��	��&��!��%+�������1��2�' 6"��+�&���/�&��������&!���������������+ ��6����7-�����.,���(����&"����(&� ��')���������� !����"� ##�5��+ &'�-��� ##�P��	&!�"�" �&"- !���&#6�+��-��(�'�+�&����������'�"&,� ��'����(&� �&���' ��)�&�!#%'&�,���&(5%�" 5#���*+��"�"�'%����P &'�+ 6(����"� ##�5��( '��&���������( #�!�%�"���-�5%"&��""��� ��� 3�	���&�,�4 /�R�=&"+%��"�����&"�.,���(���� �'� ##�!# &("����!�����	��"&�"� �&"&�,��%���-������# �&�,������&"�.,���(����"� ##�5��,�	����'� �'�!��"��%�'�&�� !!��' �!��/&�������# /��-�����P� ����-���#�� '�)�/&���%����, �'����!��-#&!���-�# /�+�&�!&+#�"��� ��/�%#'���"%#��&������ ++#&! �&����-� �6�# /��������� ������# /��-�����P� ����-���#�� '����S��%��-��� ##� !�&��"�"� ##�5��&������=&"��&!����%���&�� �'�-�������!�%��6�&��/�&!������=&"��&!��&"�#�! ��'����� ���� P%59�!�����.��% #�.++��+�& �&��� �'�T%',���������=&"��&!��'��"�����&����'�����56����!�� ��� �(%#�&+#�U-&"! #�6� ��'&��!�����&�'&��!��'�5�����������-&� �!& #��5#&, �&���/� �"��	����������5#&, �&��"��-�����=&"��&!��%�'�����&"�.,���(����&"�"%59�!����� ��% #�5%',��&�,� �'� ++��+�& �&��")� �'���������� !�����*+��""#6�%�'��"� �'"���K��J������B����B���K��?�?��MB��B����������D�KJ�����K��AA�A�?����>��K��?��M?�B?���B��K?�����?��>�N?���?�����,�	���&�,�5�'6)� �'������5#&, �&��"��-�����=&"��&!��"� ##��*���'���#6����(��&�"� ++��+�& ��'�-�������+%�+�"�"��-���&"�.,���(���� �'�"� ##�����!��"�&�%��� �( �' ���6�!� �,�)���$%&��(�������#& 5&#&�6�&�� �6���"%&�,�-&"! #�6� ��5�6��'���������U!%������-&"! #�6� ��������=&"��&!�� �'������ !����%�'��"� �'� �'�&����'��� ������=&"��&!��"��5#&, �&������( V��+ 6(���"� �'�+ 6������� (�%��"�'%��%�'�������.,���(����"� ##�!��"�&�%��� �!%�������*+��"�� �'�"� ##�����&�� �6�/ 6�5��!��"��%�'����5�� �'�5��&��!���� 	���&����-� �6� ++#&! 5#��!��"�&�%�&�� #����"� �%���6�#&(&� �&��"������$%&��(���"���� ���� 3�	���(��� #�7((%�&�6���W���&�,�&����&"�.,���(����"� ##�5��!��"��%�'����/ &	�)�#&(&�)���������/&"��(�'&-6)�&��/��#�����&��+ ��)� �6�,�	���(��� #�&((%�&�6��� ��( 6�5�� 	 &# 5#��56�# /��������=&"��&!�)�&�"���"+�!�&	���--&!& #")��(+#�6��")�!���� !���")���� ,���")���� �6�������+��"��� !�&�,����5�� #-��-�����=&"��&!��



����������	 �	


��	��	�
������
�	����������
�	��������	
�������	��	
�
��
���	��	���	��������	�����
��	��	���	��	 �!��!���	"#	$"%&	'&(&)&	� & (�������*		+,	-./	/0-/1-	-./	2,1-345-,367	3/8/9:/7	;,3	4	<:7-3:5-	���
���	�����	���	=���������������	
��	�����	��	
������
��	
������	��	������	���	�����	���	=��������	����	
������
����	��
��	��	�������	������	��	����	�
>�����	
�������
���	���	����	�������	
��	��
��	�������	��	�������	��	
������	��	������	���	������	���	<:7-3:5-67	-./1!�������	����
�	������&		��& ?�����
���	@���������&		A���	=��������	��
��	���	��	���������	����	��������	
�
����	���	�
�����
�	
�
����	���	�����	������	��	������	��	���	�
��	��
�	��	�
�	�
��	����	����
���	��	�������	���	���	��	���	�
�����	��	�����	
�B��>������	��
�	�
��	�
���	�
�	�����������	�����
���
���	
��	�
����
���	��	���	����
�
����	��	����	=��������&	��& )����
������&		C�	
��	�������	��	����	=��������	��	����
���	��	
��	�����	��	���������D�����������	��	��	����	��	���������
���	����	��������	��
��	���	
�����	���	�
������	��	
��	���
�����	�������	>����	��
��	���
��	��	����	�����	
��	������&		C�	
�������	��	����	��	����	����	��	���������
���	���������	�����	��
��	
����
���
���	��	
����	
�	�
��	��	����	=��������	
	���������	�����
�	��	�����	��	����	�����
�	���
���	��	���������
���	���������	��	��
�	���	���������	��������	���������	��	���
�	�
���	
��	�������
���&	�E& F������
�����&			A���	=��������	�����������	���	������	
��������	���>���	���	�
�����	>����������	��	���	�
�����	
��������	������	
��	��
��	���������	
��	�����	��
�	��	>������	������
�����	�������
������	
��	�����������&	��& '�������
��	GH�������&		A���	=��������	�
�	��	�H������	��	�����
�	��������
���	�
��	��>����	�
�	��	������	
�	������
�	���	
��	��	>����	��������	��
��	����������	���	
��	���	�
��	����������&		GH������	������	������	�
�	��	���������	��	�
�������	��	��
��	��	
	@�I	��������	
��	����	�������	��
��	��	������	������
��	
��	�������	����	���	����
������	������	
��	��
��	�
��	���	����	�����	
��	������	��	���	������
�	���	
��	��������	���������	���	�����	��	��������	
�����
���	��	�����	�����������&	J�	���	����
����	��	���	���������
����	����>	�
��	�
���	
������	��
�	��	�
�	�
B��	
��	������
��	
�����	��	
������K�	�
��	���������
����	��	�H�����	����	=��������&			LMNOPMQOR	J�S		TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	?
��S	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	A����S		TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	 UVWOPXQOVPR	J�S		TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	?
��S	TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT	A����S		TTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTTT		
YZ[[\Z]	̂_̀ à̀bcde	fgd\	hij	hihk	lmnhi	gopqrsttusv	wxyyzy{|}~ ������	���������	����	���	����	�����	����������	����� ¡�¢



�

���������	�� ��


�������������������	�������������������� �!"#�������











1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1225 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant:  Worldwide Hot Dogs LLC d/b/a Biker Jim’s Gourmet 

Dogs  

Title of Agreement/Contract:  Catering Services on October 27, 2023 

Agreement/Contract Date:  October 13, 2023 
 

 This Contract (“Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-

municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 

contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

 

 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective the date above. 

 

 1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 

“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 

customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 

in the Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 

tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

 

 2. Compensation of Services. Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement shall 

be provided in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The Contractor shall 

be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any 

reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved 

in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Exhibit A may take any form.  In the event of any 

conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms in the body 

of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 

incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor will promptly repair or, at the 

District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 

or its employees, agents, or equipment.  

 

 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and nothing herein shall 

constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  

The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 

District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 

Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 

full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 

without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 

subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

 

 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and warrant 

that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the 

Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by 

this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this 

Agreement and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor hereby warrants 

the Work for a period of one (1) year from the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The 

Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement 

at its sole expense to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1225 

 
2 

in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, its 

successors and assigns. 

 

  

  

6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage:  (i) Commercial General Liability 

Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and 

property damage liability; $1,000,000 Personal & Advertising Injury, and (ii) any other insurance commonly 

used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to 

any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  

The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed 

to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not 

serve to release it from any obligations; nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the 

Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 

7. Indemnification.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, from and against any and all 

claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, including legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct,  or 

any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or 

employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the District’s own negligence.  This 

indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, 

compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under worker’s compensation acts, disability acts, or 

other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  To 

the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold Contractor harmless under the terms 

of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to the extent permitted by applicable law 

and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party for cause or for convenience upon 

ten (10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid 

for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable expenses 

due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 

without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 

State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 

located.   

 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 

multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 

under this Agreement is subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 

and agrees that the  decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of District’s 

governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of 

this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal year 

beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the District’s 

obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current expense 

and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or statutory 

limitations or requirements. 

 





1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1225 

 
4 

 

 

 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 









1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1228

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
CONTRACT  

Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant: Bedrock LLC 
Title of Agreement/Contract: Removal of shade structures at the Clubhouse 
Agreement/Contract Date:  October 24, 2023 

This Contract (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a 
quasi-municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-
referenced contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective as of the date 
above. 

1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the
“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and 
knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time 
period specified in this Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all 
applicable federal, state, county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

2. Compensation of Services. The District shall provide compensation for the Services provided
under this Agreement in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The 
Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled 
to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is 
approved in writing by the District in advance of such expenses being incurred. Exhibit A may take any form.  In 
the event of any conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the 
terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern. 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and
all incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor shall promptly repair or, at 
the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the 
Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, repairs/claims does not 
include weather worn property damage. Weather worn property damage will be reported by the Contractor to 
the District but the Contractor will not compensate the District for this type of damage.  

4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor, and nothing herein
shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the 
District.  The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits 
and the District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for 
the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall 
have full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this 
Agreement, without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor guarantees and warrants that all workmanship,
materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the Services 
(collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this 
Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement 
and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct or 
replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement, at its sole expense, to the reasonable 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1228 2 

satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all cases survive termination of 
this Agreement.   
  

6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and 
expense, during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage: (i) Standard worker’s 
compensation and employer’s liability insurance covering all employees of Contractor involved with the 
performance of the Services, with policy amounts and coverage in compliance with law; (ii) Commercial 
General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for 
bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 designated location, general aggregate; and 
$1,000,000 umbrella; (iii) Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, 
and hired automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of liability of not 
less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property damage; and (iv) any other insurance 
commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All 
coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and 
not supplemental to any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District 
shall be considered excess.  The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability 
Insurance policies will be endorsed to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to 
purchase the required insurance shall not serve to release it from any obligations, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of 
any deductibles on issued policies. 

 
7. Indemnification.  To the extent allowed by law, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, 
from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, 
including legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, 
negligence, willful misconduct,  or any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for 
the District’s own negligence.  This indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation 
on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration 
or termination of this Agreement.  To the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or 
hold Contractor harmless under the terms of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise 
only to the extent permitted by applicable law and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for 
such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause or for convenience upon ten 
(10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the District shall compensate the 
Contractor for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  The District shall make this payment in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 
without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 
State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 
located.   
 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 
multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 
under this Agreement are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly 
understands and agrees that the decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion 
of the District’s governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated 
for the purposes of this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any 
ensuing fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1228 3 

the District’s obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a 
current expense and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable 
constitutional or statutory limitations or requirements. 

11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or
otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 
its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 
and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S. 

12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement
include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 
solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 
during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party
than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 
parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 
this Agreement. 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 
which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 
shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

15. Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with
respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, 
understandings, and commitments. 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of
which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 
deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the 
original for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to 
authorize said representative to execute this Agreement.   

District: 

By:  ________________________________ 

Name: ______________________________ 

Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 

By:  ________________________________ 

Name: ______________________________ 

Title:  _______________________________ 

Colleen Brown

Chief Administrative Officer

Brett Vernon (Oct 26, 2023 19:55 MDT)
Brett Vernon

Brett Vernon
President



 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



Contractor: Advance HOA Management
Contact: Katie Call

Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com
Date: 9/13/2023

Phone: 720-346-5411

Job:

Description Unit x amount Price

Shade Structure: Removal of 12' x 43' Dugout Cantilever Fabric Roof and store 

onsite until the following season. 1 ea. x $450.00 450.00$   

Shade Structure: Removal of 10' x 10' Cantilever Fabric Roof and store onsite until 

the following season. 2 ea. x $225.00 450.00$   

Shade Structure: Removal of 12' x 43' Jointed T-Post Fabric Roof and store onsite 

until the following season. 1 ea. x $450.00 450.00$   

Shade Structure: Removal of 12' x 22' T-Post Hip Fabric Roof and store onsite until 

the following season. 1 ea. x $450.00 450.00$   
Material Sales Tax at: Exempt -1

Total 1,800.00$   

Katie Call

ACCEPTANCE OF PROPOSAL

Signature _______________________________________________________  Date ______/______/20____

If you have any questions, please call Ryan 719-726-2150 and thank you for your consideration.

Ryan Clifford  Sales

Bid Proposal: 45182

Leyden Rock Shade Seasonal Removal

To accept this proposal and the disclosure page, please sign below and fax or email a copy back to Ground 

Solutions

Bedrock LLC
1501 Backhoe Rd
Loveland CO 80537
Dispatch 970-776-8150
www.groundsolutionsco.com 

Page 1 of 2



Traffic Control: Any traffic control that is need for a project is the customers responsibility. Unless otherwise noted in this proposal.

Tax Exempt Disclosure: If the tax exemption certificate is not provide to Bedrock LLC / Ground Solutions prior to the start of the 

work in this proposal all taxes will be charged to the customer even if they are tax exempt.

Demo, Removal or Excavation Disclosure: Bedrock LLC / Ground Solutions is not responsible for repairing any landscaping in the 

area of the site work; including grass, flower beds etc. We are not responsible for any broken or damaged irrigation system including: 

main irrigation lines, sprinklers, control boxes etc. that are not clearly marked. Irrigation work will only be performed if said irrigation 

work is listed in the line items of this proposal. Bedrock LLC / Ground Solutions will call out 811 to mark the main utilities before the 

site work starts. Any secondary and/or  private utilities are the customers responsibility to have marked before site work starts. We are 

not responsible for any damaged secondary and/or private utilities where the site work is taking place if not clearly marked and 

documented. If a private locate is request of Bedrock LLC / Ground Solutions this will be at cost plus 20% if performed before the site 

work starts. Once the site work starts and no secondary or private lines are marked the customer is liable for any damages to the 

utilities. We do not cover any asphalt repairs that may be needed due to heavy equipment being loaded or unloaded while working at 

the project site.

Concrete Disclosure: Forms can leave voids after removal. Gaps between new and old concrete may also occur. Bedrock LLC/ Ground 

Solutions is not responsible for filling those voids/gaps or repairing any landscaping in the area of the concrete work; including grass, 

flower beds etc. We are not responsible for breaking/damaging any unmarked sprinkler lines/heads or private electrical lines where 

concrete work is taking place. We do not cover any asphalt repairs that may be needed due to concrete work in or near the right of 

way. All removal of concrete is based on 4" thickness and additional thickness will incur an extra charge. We will do our best to predict 

the weather and pour when appropriate, but are not responsible for act of God.  It is normal for concrete to crack and typically this 

does not affect the integrity of the concrete. We will use our 25 yrs. of knowledge to cut angled/straight control joints to direct 

cracking. If the concrete cracks outside of a control joint within 30 days of pour, we will address this with crack chasing and sealing. 

We are not responsible for cracks due to settling or expansive soils. We are not responsible for spalling of concrete from mag chloride 

or deicers being used. If a colored concrete is chosen, that color choice will be the sole responsibility of the customer. The skidsteer can 

leave black tire marks on the old concrete during tear out.  These will eventually fade. However, the homeowner is welcome to hose, or 

power wash the area off 7 days after concrete is poured. We will pick up/sweep any area near the concrete work.  Blankets will be 

used to protect the concrete when the temperatures dip below 32 degrees at night. Blankets can cause discoloration, but the 

discoloration may fade over time. The discoloration does not affect the integrity of the concrete but can be unsightly.

Payment Terms:  Due upon receipt, unless current contract reflects other terms. All overdue invoices over 60 days will incur a late fee 

of $75 or 1.75% of the balance (whichever is greater) added to the original invoice amount for each 30 day period past terms. If you do 

not have an account set up with Bedrock LLC / Ground Solutions prior to your project starting you will be asked to provide a credit 

card or check prior to the start of work for payment. All payments for concrete work will be due upon completion of pouring the 

concrete.

Inflation Surcharge:  Effective April 15, 2022 there will be a inflation surcharge add to the total of the invoice minus taxes to offset the 

increase in fuel, labor and materials. This percentage is based on the currant fuel pricing at the time of issuing the purchase order this 

proposal or excepting this proposal. This surcharge will be implemented when fuel reaches $3.00 at a rate of 0.5% of total invoice 

minus taxes and increase a 0.5% of every additional $0.25 in fuel pricing. Please contact your sales representative to confirm the 

percentage rate at the time of order. Surcharge will be based off pricing information found at the website: 

https://www.colorado.aaa.com/automotive/gas-and-fuel-guide/weekly-fuel-cost-chart

Progress Billing: Any ongoing project that extends beyond 2 weeks for the scope of work outlined in the estimate will be subject to 

progress billing. 

Special Order Materials Billing: Any special order material that Bedrock LLC/Ground Solutions procures for a project is subject to 

billing prior to the start of the project. All steps possible will be made to inform the customer prior to invoicing this.

Page 2 of 2



    



    



Includes copyrighted material of Insurance Services Office, Inc. with its permission.

CA-F-127 (03-03)                     Policy Number:            Transaction Effective Date:6115485       04/01/2023

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

BUSINESS AUTO COVERAGE PART

With respect to coverage provided by this endorsement, the provisions of the Coverage Form apply unless

modified by the endorsement.

A. WHO IS AN INSURED for "bodily injury" and "property damage" liability is amended to include:

Any person or organization other than a joint venture, for which you have agreed by written contract to

procure bodily injury or property damage "auto" liability insurance arising out of operation of a covered

"auto" with your permission. However, this additional insurance does not apply to:

(1) The owner or anyone else from whom you hire or borrow a covered "auto". This exception does

not apply if the covered "auto" is a "trailer" connected to a covered "auto" you own.

(2) Your "employee" if the covered "auto" is owned by that "employee" or a member of his or her

household.

(3) Someone using a covered "auto" while he or she is working in a business of selling, servicing,

repairing, parking or storing "autos" unless that business is yours.

(4) Anyone other than your "employees", partners (if you are a partnership), members (if you are a

limited liability company), or a lessee or borrower or any of their "employees", while moving

property to or from a covered "auto".

(5) A partner (if you are a partnership), or a member (if you are a limited liability company) for a

covered "auto" owned by him or her or a member of his or her household.

B. The coverage extended to any additional insured by this endorsement is limited to, and subject to all terms,

conditions, and exclusions of the Coverage Part to which this endorsement is attached. 

In addition, coverage shall not exceed the terms and conditions that are required by the terms of the written

agreement to add any insured, or to procure insurance.  

C. The limits of insurance applicable to such insurance shall be the lesser of the limits required by the

agreement between the parties, or the limits provided by this policy.

D. Additional exclusions. The insurance afforded to any person or organization as an insured under this

endorsement does not apply:

1. To "loss" which occurs prior to the date of your contract with such person or organization; 
2. To "loss" arising out of the sole negligence of any person or organization that would not be an insured

except for this endorsement.
3. To "loss" for any leased or rented "auto" when the lessor or his or her agent takes possession of the

leased or rented "auto" or the policy period ends, whichever occurs first.

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

ADDITIONAL INSURED BY CONTRACT ENDORSEMENT 

 

 



© Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2018

Policy Number: Transaction Effective Date: 6115485       04/01/2023

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY COVERAGE PART

is amended to
include as an additional insured any person or
organization for whom you are performing
operations when you and such person or
organization have agreed in writing in a contract
or agreement that such person or organization be
added as an additional insured on your policy.
Such person or organization is an additional
insured only with respect to liability for "bodily
injury", "property damage" or "personal and
advertising injury" caused, in whole or in part, by:

Your acts or omissions; or

The acts or omissions of those acting on your
behalf;

in the performance of your ongoing operations for
the additional insured.

However, the insurance afforded to such
additional insured:

Only applies to the extent permitted by law;
and

Will not be broader than that which you are
required by the contract or agreement to
provide for such additional insured.

A person's or organization's status as an
additional insured under this endorsement ends
when your operations for that additional insured
are completed.

With respect to the insurance afforded to these
additional insureds, the following additional
exclusions apply:

This insurance does not apply to:

"Bodily injury", "property damage" or
"personal and advertising injury" arising out
of the rendering of, or the failure to render,
any professional architectural, engineering or
surveying services, including:

The preparing, approving, or failing to
prepare or approve, maps, shop drawings,
opinions, reports, surveys, field orders,
change orders or drawings and
specifications; or

Supervisory, inspection, architectural or
engineering activities.

This exclusion applies even if the claims
against any insured allege negligence or other
wrongdoing in the supervision, hiring,
employment, training or monitoring of others
by that insured, if the "occurrence" which
caused the "bodily injury" or "property
damage", or the offense which caused the
"personal and advertising injury", involved the
rendering of or the failure to render any
professional architectural, engineering or
surveying services.

Page 1 of 2

CG 20 33 12 19

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY
CG 20 33 12 19

A. Section II - Who Is An Insured 

1.

2.

1.

2.

B.

1.

a.

b.

ADDITIONAL INSURED - OWNERS, LESSEES OR
CONTRACTORS - AUTOMATIC STATUS WHEN

REQUIRED IN A WRITTEN CONSTRUCTION
AGREEMENT WITH YOU

THIS ENDORSEMENT CHANGES THE POLICY. PLEASE READ IT CAREFULLY.

 

 



© Insurance Services Office, Inc., 2018

Policy Number: Transaction Effective Date: 6115485       04/01/2023

"Bodily injury" or "property damage"
occurring after:

All work, including materials, parts or
equipment furnished in connection with
such work, on the project (other than
service, maintenance or repairs) to be
performed by or on behalf of the additional
insured(s) at the location of the covered
operations has been completed; or

That portion of "your work" out of which
the injury or damage arises has been put
to its intended use by any person or
organization other than another contractor
or subcontractor engaged in performing
operations for a principal as a part of the
same project.

With respect to the insurance afforded to these
additional insureds, the following is added to 

The most we will pay on behalf of the additional
insured is the amount of insurance:

Required by the contract or agreement you
have entered into with the additional insured;
or

Available under the applicable limits of
insurance;

whichever is less.

This endorsement shall not increase the
applicable limits of insurance.

Page 2 of 2

CG 20 33 12 19

2.

a.

b.

C.

Section III - Limits Of Insurance:

1.

2.

 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4X-380565144-1223 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  

CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant:  Rhonda Batchelor d/b/a Rad Booth Co L.L.C.  

Title of Agreement/Contract:  Photo Booth Services on October 27, 2023 

Agreement/Contract Date:  October 6, 2023 
 

 This Contract (“Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-

municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 

contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 

 

 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective the date above. 

 

 1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 

“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 

customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 

in the Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 

tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 

county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  

 

 2. Compensation of Services. Compensation for the Services provided under this Agreement shall 

be provided in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The Contractor shall 

be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled to any 

reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved 

in writing by the District in advance of incurring such expenses. Exhibit A may take any form.  In the event of any 

conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the terms in the body 

of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 

incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor will promptly repair or, at the 

District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 

or its employees, agents, or equipment.  

 

 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor and nothing herein shall 

constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  

The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 

District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 

Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 

full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 

without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 

subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 

 

 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and warrant 

that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the 

Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by 

this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this 

Agreement and the applicable building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and 

regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor hereby warrants 

the Work for a period of one (1) year from the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The 

Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement 

at its sole expense to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall 

in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, its 

successors and assigns. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4X-380565144-1223 2 

 

  

  

6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage:  (i) Commercial General Liability 

Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and 

property damage liability; $1,000,000 Personal & Advertising Injury, and (ii) any other insurance commonly 

used by contractors for services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to 

any coverage that the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  

The Commercial General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed 

to name the District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not 

serve to release it from any obligations; nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the 

Contractor’s liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 

7. Indemnification.  The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 

each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, from and against any and all 

claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, including legal expenses and 

attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct,  or 

any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or 

employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the District’s own negligence.  This 

indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, 

compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under worker’s compensation acts, disability acts, or 

other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  To 

the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold Contractor harmless under the terms 

of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to the extent permitted by applicable law 

and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  This Agreement may be terminated by either party for cause or for convenience upon 

ten (10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be paid 

for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable expenses 

due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 

relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 

without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 

State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 

located.   

 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 

multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 

under this Agreement is subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 

and agrees that the  decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of District’s 

governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of 

this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement or liability in any ensuing fiscal year 

beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the District’s 

obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current expense 

and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or statutory 

limitations or requirements. 

 

 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 

otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 

its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 



and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S. 

 
12. Remedies. To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement 

include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 
solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 
during the District’s then-current fiscal period. 

 
13. Negotiated Provisions. This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party 

than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 
parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 
this Agreement. 

 
14. Severability. If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent jurisdiction 

to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, which shall 
remain in full force and effect. In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there shall 
automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 
15. Miscellaneous. This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, understandings, 
and commitments. 

 
16. Counterpart Execution. This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 

which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. 
Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 
deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original 
for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

 
By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to authorize 
said representative to execute this Agreement. 

 
District: 

By:   

Name:  Jeffrey Cunningham  
Jeffrey Cunningham (Oct 15, 2023 11:11 MDT) 

 
 

Title:   

Contractor: 

By:    

Name:  RhondaBatchelor  
RhondaBatchelor (Oct 14, 2023 22:23 MDT) 

 
 

Title:   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4X-380565144-1223 3 

https://na1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAA2aHM4PMm5RQe-UlFMCFhM1vyxT90tdxi
https://na1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAA2aHM4PMm5RQe-UlFMCFhM1vyxT90tdxi
https://na1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAA2aHM4PMm5RQe-UlFMCFhM1vyxT90tdxi
https://na1.documents.adobe.com/verifier?tx=CBJCHBCAABAA2aHM4PMm5RQe-UlFMCFhM1vyxT90tdxi


1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4X-380565144-1223 4 

Exhibit A 

Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



















LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

SEPTEMBER 30, 2023



General Special Revenue Debt Service Capital Projects Total

Assets
Checking Account $ 101,375.10 $ - $ - $ 56,513.29 $ 157,888.39
Checking Account - AHM - 352,745.69 - - 352,745.69
Petty Cash/Debit Card - AHM - 5,000.00 - - 5,000.00
CSAFE 353,106.22 - 17,972.89 - 371,079.11
UMB Bond Fund - - 1,549,626.01 - 1,549,626.01
UMB Project Fund - - - 4,269,022.55 4,269,022.55
Accounts Receivable - 20,582.43 - - 20,582.43
Receivable from County Treasurer 9,472.60 - 14,022.83 - 23,495.43

Total Assets $ 463,953.92 $ 378,328.12 $ 1,581,621.73 $ 4,325,535.84 $ 6,749,439.61

Liabilities
Accounts Payable $ 21,790.05 $ 76,565.76 $ - $ 56,028.29 $ 154,384.10
Prepaid assessments - 2,420.72 - - 2,420.72

Total Liabilities 21,790.05 78,986.48 - 56,028.29 156,804.82

Fund Balances 442,163.87 299,341.64 1,581,621.73 4,269,507.55 6,592,634.79

Liabilities and Fund Balances $ 463,953.92 $ 378,328.12 $ 1,581,621.73 $ 4,325,535.84 $ 6,749,439.61

Leyden Rock Metro District
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

September 30, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and the statement
of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 1



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Property taxes $ 1,462,014.00 $ 1,462,014.00 $ 1,460,139.29 $ 1,874.71
Specific ownership taxes 102,341.00 76,755.78 79,589.18 (2,833.40)
Interest income 10,000.00 7,500.06 26,540.69 (19,040.63)
Other revenue 10,000.00 7,500.06 - 7,500.06

Total Revenue 1,584,355.00 1,553,769.90 1,566,269.16 (12,499.26)

Expenditures
Accounting 50,000.00 37,500.03 37,635.89 (135.86)
Auditing 7,000.00 7,000.00 6,100.00 900.00
County Treasurer's fee 21,930.00 21,930.00 21,907.68 22.32
Dues and membership 2,000.00 2,000.00 1,237.50 762.50
Insurance 31,500.00 31,500.00 34,313.00 (2,813.00)
Legal 150,000.00 112,500.00 89,056.87 23,443.13
Miscellaneous 250.00 187.47 960.00 (772.53)
Election 40,000.00 29,999.97 19,275.34 10,724.63
Contingency 7,320.00 7,320.00 - 7,320.00

Total Expenditures 310,000.00 249,937.47 210,486.28 39,451.19

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers to other fund (1,419,131.00) (1,064,348.20) (1,259,715.04) 195,366.84

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (1,419,131.00) (1,064,348.20) (1,259,715.04) 195,366.84

Net Change in Fund Balances (144,776.00) 239,484.23 96,067.84 143,416.39

Fund Balance - Beginning 306,776.00 306,776.00 346,096.03 210,708.16
Fund Balance - Ending $ 162,000.00 $ 546,260.23 $ 442,163.87 $ 354,124.55

Leyden Rock Metro District
General Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 2



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Operations fee $ 25,888.00 $ 19,415.97 $ 13,688.00 $ 5,727.97
Interest income 750.00 562.50 81.77 480.73
Other revenue 20,975.00 15,731.28 14,109.94 1,621.34
Rental income 15,000.00 11,250.00 11,913.16 (663.16)

Total Revenue 62,613.00 46,959.75 39,792.87 7,166.88

Expenditures
Miscellaneous 2,978.00 2,233.48 3,217.61 (984.13)
Facilities management 367,104.00 275,328.00 228,598.42 46,729.58
Irrigation repairs 36,000.00 27,000.00 23,650.21 3,349.79
Pool contract maintenance 103,962.00 77,971.50 97,180.94 (19,209.44)
Pool supplies 15,000.00 11,250.00 17,624.86 (6,374.86)
Pool repairs and maintenance 6,000.00 4,500.00 8,562.60 (4,062.60)
District clean-up 43,000.00 32,249.97 22,785.25 9,464.72
Maintenance of district assets 4,500.00 3,375.00 54,265.00 (50,890.00)
Landscape replacement 125,000.00 93,750.03 75,290.28 18,459.75
Lighting 6,500.00 4,875.03 - 4,875.03
Native weed control 73,000.00 54,749.97 - 54,749.97
Landscape maintenance 200,500.00 150,374.97 236,594.82 (86,219.85)
Clubhouse maintenance and supplies 12,700.00 9,524.97 10,029.83 (504.86)
Clubhouse social activities 63,000.00 47,250.00 45,684.95 1,565.05
Clubhouse housekeeping 28,000.00 20,999.97 21,430.00 (430.03)
Clubhouse keys and locks 1,200.00 900.00 10,734.61 (9,834.61)
Pest Control 10,000.00 7,499.97 4,500.00 2,999.97
Snow removal 55,000.00 41,249.97 15,298.60 25,951.37
Utilities - gas and electric 20,000.00 15,000.03 19,660.82 (4,660.79)
Utilities - trash removal 247,500.00 185,625.00 188,500.83 (2,875.83)
Utilities - water and sewer 30,000.00 22,500.00 7,827.08 14,672.92
Telephone/Wi-Fi/Cable 9,000.00 6,750.00 4,054.07 2,695.93
Administration costs 4,200.00 3,150.00 1,504.52 1,645.48
Postage, printing, copies 500.00 375.03 916.08 (541.05)
Water and soil sampling 8,000.00 6,000.03 4,000.00 2,000.03
Mileage 1,300.00 974.97 778.27 196.70
Office equipment 2,400.00 1,800.00 1,927.92 (127.92)
Website 1,400.00 1,050.03 677.28 372.75
Contingency 4,000.00 4,000.00 - 4,000.00

Total Expenditures 1,481,744.00 1,112,307.92 1,105,294.85 7,013.07

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Transfers from other funds 1,419,131.00 1,064,348.20 1,259,715.04 (195,366.84)

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) 1,419,131.00 1,064,348.20 1,259,715.04 (195,366.84)

Net Change in Fund Balances - (999.97) 194,213.06 (195,213.03)

Fund Balance - Beginning 122,475.00 122,475.00 105,128.58 (71,738.06)
Fund Balance - Ending $ 122,475.00 $ 121,475.03 $ 299,341.64 $ (266,951.09)

Leyden Rock Metro District
Special Revenue Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 3



SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Property taxes $ 2,163,780.00 $ 2,163,780.00 $ 2,161,005.37 $ 2,774.63
Specific ownership taxes 151,465.00 113,598.72 117,823.35 (4,224.63)
Interest income 7,000.00 5,249.97 23,334.35 (18,084.38)

Total Revenue 2,322,245.00 2,282,628.69 2,302,163.07 (19,534.38)

Expenditures
County Treasurer's fee 32,457.00 32,457.00 32,423.94 33.06
Insurance - - 250.00 (250.00)
Paying agent fees 6,000.00 6,000.00 4,000.00 2,000.00
Bond interest - Series 2021A 1,751,100.00 875,550.00 875,550.00 -
Bond principal - Series 2021A 500,000.00 500,000.00 - 500,000.00
Contingency 10,443.00 10,443.00 - 10,443.00

Total Expenditures 2,300,000.00 1,424,450.00 912,223.94 512,226.06

Net Change in Fund Balances 22,245.00 858,178.69 1,389,939.13 (531,760.44)

Fund Balance - Beginning 169,827.00 169,827.00 191,682.60 (1,220,112.13)
Fund Balance - Ending $ 192,072.00 $ 1,028,005.69 $ 1,581,621.73 $ (1,751,872.57)

Leyden Rock Metro District
Debt Service Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 5



Budget Year to Date Budget Year to Date Actual Variance

Revenues
Interest income $ 148,000.00 $ 148,000.00 $ 167,277.17 $ (19,277.17)
Other revenue 12,635.00 12,635.00 - 12,635.00

Total Revenue 160,635.00 160,635.00 167,277.17 (6,642.17)

Expenditures
Engineering - - 56,241.85 (56,241.85)
Capital outlay 4,831,280.00 4,831,280.00 450,429.25 4,380,850.75
Contingency 12,635.00 12,635.00 - 12,635.00

Total Expenditures 4,843,915.00 4,843,915.00 506,671.10 4,337,243.90

Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Repay developer advance (2,641,085.00) (2,641,085.00) (2,641,085.68) 0.68

Total Other Financing Sources (Uses) (2,641,085.00) (2,641,085.00) (2,641,085.68) 0.68

Net Change in Fund Balances (7,324,365.00) (7,324,365.00) (2,980,479.61) (4,343,885.39)

Fund Balance - Beginning 7,397,365.00 7,397,365.00 7,249,987.16 10,377,844.61
Fund Balance - Ending $ 73,000.00 $ 73,000.00 $ 4,269,507.55 $ 6,033,959.22

Leyden Rock Metro District
Capital Projects Fund Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in

Fund Balances - Budget and Actual
For the Period Ending September 30, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 6



General Debt Service Capital Projects Total

Fund Fund Fund Funds

First Bank - Checking 
Balance as of 09/30/23 101,375.10$         -$  56,513.29$           157,888.39$         
Subsequent activities:

10/4/2023 Bill.com Payments - - (56,513.29)           (56,513.29)           
Anticipated activities:

Anticipated Bill.com Payments (24,879.55)           - - (24,879.55)           
Anticipated Balance 76,495.55$          -$  -$  76,495.55$          

CSAFE
Balance as of 09/30/23 353,106.22$         17,972.89$              -$  371,079.11$         
Subsequent activities:

10/10/2023 Property/SO tax 9,472.60               14,022.83 - 23,495.43 
Anticipated Pledged Revenue Transfer - (31,995.72) - (31,995.72) 

Anticipated Balance 362,578.82$        -$  -$  362,578.82$        

UMB - 2021 Bond Fund
Balance as of 09/30/23 -$  1,549,626.01$         -$  1,549,626.01$      
Subsequent activities:
Anticipated activities:

Anticipated Pledged Revenue Transfer - 31,995.72 - 31,995.72
Anticipated Balance -$  1,581,621.73$        -$  1,581,621.73$     

UMB - 2021 Project Fund
Balance as of 09/30/23 -$  -$  4,269,022.55$      4,269,022.55$      
Subsequent activities:

Anticipated Balance -$  -$  4,269,022.55$     4,269,022.55$     

Anticipated Balances 439,074.37$        1,581,621.73$        4,269,022.55$     6,289,718.65$     

Yield information (as of 09/30/23):
CSAFE - 5.44%
UMB invested in Goldman Sachs Govt Fund - 5.17%

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
Schedule of Cash Position

September 30, 2023
Updated as of October 18, 2023

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 7



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
Property Taxes Reconciliation

2023

Delinquent Specific Net Total
Property Taxes, Rebates Ownership Treasurer's Amount Cash 

Taxes and Abatements Taxes Interest Fees Received Monthly Y-T-D Received Monthly Y-T-D

January 7,004.71$         -$ 23,020.47$     -$  (105.07)$              29,920.11$              0.19% 0.19% 43,137.39$             0.53% 0.53%
February 1,650,384.06    - 21,728.83 - (24,755.76) 1,647,357.13           45.52% 45.71% 1,686,579.35          45.35% 45.88%
March 90,384.91         - 22,773.71 46.48 (1,356.47)             111,848.63              2.49% 48.20% 117,910.94             2.60% 48.48%
April 195,887.54       - 18,783.85 75.23 (2,939.44)             211,807.18              5.40% 53.61% 181,764.32             4.43% 52.91%
May 244,507.21       - 23,163.90 114.04 (3,669.32)             264,115.83              6.74% 60.35% 244,992.55             6.09% 59.00%
June 1,411,917.21    - 20,675.60 176.61 (21,181.41)           1,411,588.01           38.94% 99.29% 1,503,619.12          40.45% 99.46%
July 13,712.04         - 21,103.58 337.97 (210.75) 34,942.84 0.38% 99.67% 32,843.53               0.32% 99.77%
August 5,214.24           - 24,851.93 128.04 (80.13) 30,114.08 0.14% 99.81% 31,818.88               0.11% 99.89%
September 2,132.74           - 21,310.66 85.30 (33.27) 23,495.43 0.06% 99.87% 21,903.96               0.00% 99.89%
October - 0.00% 99.87% 24,094.60               0.03% 99.92%
November - 0.00% 99.87% 23,884.40               0.07% 99.99%
December - 0.00% 99.87% 16,484.67               0.00% 99.99%

3,621,144.66$  -$ 197,412.53$   963.67$  (54,331.62)$         3,765,189.24$         99.87% 99.87% 3,929,033.71$        99.99% 99.99%

 Taxes Levied  % of Levied 
 Property Taxes 

Collected 
 % Collected to 
Amount Levied 

Property Tax
General Fund 25.000              1,462,014.00$         40.32% 1,460,139.27$      99.87%
Debt Service Fund 37.000              2,163,780.00           59.68% 2,161,005.39        99.87%

62.000              3,625,794.00$         100.00% 3,621,144.66$      99.87%

Specific Ownership Tax
General Fund 102,314.00$            40.32% 79,589.19$           77.79%
Debt Service Fund 151,465.00              59.68% 117,823.34           77.79%

253,779.00$            100.00% 197,412.53$         77.79%

Treasurer's Fees
General Fund 21,930.00$              40.32% 21,907.67$           99.90%
Debt Service Fund 32,457.00                59.68% 32,423.95             99.90%

54,387.00$              100.00% 54,331.62$           99.90%

Current Year Prior Year
% of Total Property % of Total Property

Taxes Received Taxes Received

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial
statements, and the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances - governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 8



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Services Provided 

The District, a quasi-municipal corporation and a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, was organized 
(originally as Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 10) by order and decree of the District Court for the 
County of Jefferson on January 5, 2012, and is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special 
District Act (Title 32, Article 1, Colorado Revised Statutes).  

The District was established to provide financing for the operations and maintenance and design, acquisition, 
installation, construction and completion of public improvements and services, including water, sanitation, 
street, safety protection, park and recreation, transportation, fire protection, security, television relay and 
translation and mosquito control improvements and services. The District provides covenant control and was 
organized in conjunction with nine other related Districts – Leyden Rock Metropolitan District Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 
5, 6, 7, 8, and 9. The District serves as the Operating and Financing District which will pay all vendors, issue 
debt, levy ad valorem taxes on taxable properties within each District and assess fees, rates and other 
charges as authorized by law. The District’s service area is located entirely within the City of Arvada, 
Jefferson County, Colorado. District Nos. 1-9 have been dissolved.  

The District is not authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, 
operate or maintain fire protection facilities or services, unless such facilities and services are provided 
pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City. The District is not authorized to plan for, design 
acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain television relay and translation 
facilities and services, other than for the installation of conduit as part of a street construction project, unless 
such facilities and services are provided pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City. 

On November 1, 2011, the District’s voters authorized total indebtedness of $80,000,000 for each of the 
above listed facilities, $80,000,000 for intergovernmental agreements and $80,000,000 for refunding of debt. 
Collectively, the Districts shall not issue debt over the amount of $80,000,000. Additionally, the maximum 
debt mill levy is 40.000 mills, subject to adjustment, which shall not be imposed for longer than 40 years from 
the first year the debt service mill levy is imposed unless a refunding of the Debt has been voted upon. As of 
December 31, 2019, the adjusted debt mill levy is 44.531. The election also approved an annual increase in 
property taxes of $5,000,000 without limitation of rate, to pay the District’s operation and maintenance costs. 

The District has no employees and all administrative functions are contracted. 

The District prepares its budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the 
requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 using its best estimates as of the date of the 
budget hearing. These estimates are based on expected conditions and its expected course of actions. The 
assumptions disclosed herein are those that the District believes are significant to the budget. There will 
usually be differences between the budget and actual results, because events and circumstances frequently 
do not occur as expected, and those difference may be material.

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and
the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 9



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Revenues 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are levied by the District’s Board of Directors. The levy is based on assessed valuations 
determined by the County Assessor generally as of January 1 of each year. The levy is normally set by 
December 15 by certification to the County Commissioners to put the tax lien on the individual properties as 
of January 1 of the following year. The County Treasurer collects the determined taxes during the ensuing 
calendar year. The taxes are payable by April or, if in equal installments, at the taxpayer’s election, in 
February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in August and, generally, sale of the tax liens on 
delinquent properties are held in November or December. The County Treasurer remits the taxes collected 
monthly to the District. 

The calculation of the taxes levied is displayed on the property tax summary information page of the budget. 

Operations Fee 

The District will collect a fee of $276 per year from homeowners located within Filing 6, Tract K, of the District 
to pay for the District’s costs of operations, payable on January 1 of each year or in quarterly installments. In 
addition, the District receives $305 from each new homeowner.  

Specific Ownership Taxes 

Specific ownership taxes are set by the State and collected by the County Treasurer, primarily on vehicle 
licensing within the County as a whole. The specific ownership taxes are allocated by the County Treasurer 
to all taxing entities within the County. The budget assumes that the District’s share will be equal to 
approximately 7% of the property taxes collected. 

Interest Income 

Interest earned on the District’s available funds has been estimated based on an average interest rate of 
approximately 4.00%. 

Expenditures 

Administrative and Operating Expenditures 

Administrative and operating expenditures include the estimated services necessary to maintain the District’s 
administrative viability such as legal, management, accounting, insurance and meeting expense. Estimated 
expenditures related to landscaping and utilities are included in the Fee Operations Fund budget. 

County Treasurer’s Fee 

County Treasurer’s collection fees have been computed at 1.5% of property taxes.

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and
the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 10



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2023 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Expenditures –(continued) 

Debt Service 

Principal and interest payments in 2023 are provided based on the debt amortization schedule from the 
Series 2021 Bonds (discussed under Debts and Leases). 

Debt and Leases 

The District issued its 2021 Bonds (the Bonds) on October 22, 2021, in the amount of $45,840,000. The 
proceeds from the sale of the Bonds were used to: (i) pay the costs of refunding the 2016A, 2016B and 
2017C Bonds; (ii) funding and reimbursing a portion of the costs of constructing and installing certain public 
improvements benefiting the District; (iii) paying the costs of issuing the costs of issuance of the Bonds, 
including premium for the Insurance Policy and the Reserve Policy. 

The Bonds bear interest at 3.00%-5.00%, payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, beginning on 
December 1, 2021. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the District, as a 
whole or in part by lot in integral multiples of $1,000 on December 1, 2031, and on any date thereafter upon 
payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, without redemption premium. The Bonds maturing on December 1, 2046 also are subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, in part, by lot, upon payment of 100% of the principal 
amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without redemption 
premium. The Bonds maturing on December 1, 2051 also are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption 
prior to maturity, in part, by lot, upon payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed 
plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without redemption premium. 

The Bonds are secured by and payable solely from and to the extent of the Pledged Revenue, which includes 
monies derived from the following, net of costs of collection: (i) the Required Mill Levy; (ii) the portion of the 
Specific Ownership Tax which is collected as a result of the imposition of the Required Mill Levy and (iii) any 
other legally available amounts that the District determines, in its absolute discretion to transfer to the trustee 
for application as Pledge Revenue. 

The Bonds are also secured by amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund in the amount of $2,739,400, which 
is funded by the Reserve Policy. The Reserve Policy, issued by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (AGM) is 
a policy of insurance guaranteeing the payment, when due, of the principal and interest on the Bonds. The 
insurance extends over the life of the issue and cannot by canceled by AGM as further provided in the policy. 
. 
The District has no operating or capital leases. 

Emergency Reserves 

The District has provided for an Emergency Reserve equal to at least 3% of fiscal year spending, as defined 
under the TABOR Amendment. 

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and
the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 11



Year Ended
December 31, Principal Amount Interest Amount Annual Total

2023 500,000$             1,751,100$          2,251,100$          
2024 570,000               1,726,100            2,296,100            
2025 665,000               1,697,600            2,362,600            
2026 745,000               1,664,350            2,409,350            
2027 780,000               1,627,100            2,407,100            
2028 865,000               1,588,100            2,453,100            
2029 910,000               1,544,850            2,454,850            
2030 1,005,000            1,499,350            2,504,350            
2031 1,055,000            1,449,100            2,504,100            
2032 1,155,000            1,396,350            2,551,350            
2033 1,200,000            1,350,150            2,550,150            
2034 1,300,000            1,302,150            2,602,150            
2035 1,350,000            1,250,150            2,600,150            
2036 1,455,000            1,196,150            2,651,150            
2037 1,515,000            1,137,950            2,652,950            
2038 1,610,000            1,092,500            2,702,500            
2039 1,660,000            1,044,200            2,704,200            
2040 1,745,000            994,400               2,739,400            
2041 1,795,000            942,050               2,737,050            
2042 1,850,000            888,200               2,738,200            
2043 1,925,000            814,200               2,739,200            
2044 2,000,000            737,200               2,737,200            
2045 2,080,000            657,200               2,737,200            
2046 2,165,000            574,000               2,739,000            
2047 2,250,000            487,400               2,737,400            
2048 2,340,000            397,400               2,737,400            
2049 2,435,000            303,800               2,738,800            
2050 2,530,000            206,400               2,736,400            
2051 2,630,000            105,200               2,735,200            
Total 44,085,000$        31,424,700$        75,509,700$        

3.00% - 5.00%
June 1 and December 1

Beginning December 1, 2021

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF DEBT SERVICE
REQUIREMENTS TO MATURITY

$45,840,000

 2021 General Obligation Limited Tax Convertible to 
Unlimited Tax Refunding and Improvement Bonds 

Principal Payable December 1

No assurance is provided on these financial statements. Substantially all required disclosures, the government-wide financial statements, and
the statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund balances – governmental funds have been omitted.

Page 12



Invoice Date Payment Date Vendor Ref # Amount

8/29/2023 9/25/2023 RLI LSM0663749 2023 250.00$          

8/31/2023 9/26/2023 White, Bear & Ankele PC 29802 8,378.58         

9/8/2023 10/4/2023 The Architerra Group, Inc. 7638 17,973.29       

8/16/2023 10/4/2023 Keesen Landscape BRO226757 38,540.00       

9/30/2023 11/10/2023 White, Bear & Ankele PC 30400 12,052.39       

8/31/2023 11/10/2023 Winzenburg, Leff, Purvis & Payne, LLP 690790 340.00            

8/31/2023 11/10/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP 3871839 6,487.16         

8/31/2023 11/16/2023 Ascent Land Development 2023.01 6,000.00         

10/12/2023 11/16/2023 The Architerra Group, Inc. 7678 5,221.25         

11/7/2023 11/16/2023 The Architerra Group, Inc. 7690 48,709.25       

10/31/2023 11/16/2023 White, Bear & Ankele PC 30809 13,166.89       

9/30/2023 11/16/2023 Winzenburg, Leff, Purvis & Payne, LLP 691815 136.00            

9/30/2023 11/16/2023 CliftonLarsonAllen, LLP 3924183 3,029.90         

160,284.71$  

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District

Interim Claims 09/14/23 ‐ 11/17/23



1237.0015  

RESOLUTION 
ADOPTING BUDGET, APPROPRIATING FUNDS AND CERTIFYING MILL LEVIES 

FOR THE CALENDAR YEAR 2024 
 

       
 

The Board of Directors of Leyden Rock Metropolitan District (the “Board”), City of 

Arvada, Jefferson County, Colorado (the “District”), held a special meeting, via teleconference 

on November 20, 2023, at the hour of 6:00 p.m. 

Prior to the meeting, each of the directors was notified of the date, time and place of the 

budget meeting and the purpose for which it was called and a notice of the meeting was posted or 

published in accordance with § 29-1-106, C.R.S. 

 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 

 



 

1237.0015 2 

NOTICE AS TO PROPOSED 2024 BUDGET 
 



 

1237.0015 3 

WHEREAS, the Board has designated its accountant to prepare and submit a proposed 

budget to the Board in accordance with Colorado law; and  

WHEREAS, the proposed budget has been submitted to the Board for its review and 

consideration; and 

WHEREAS, upon due and proper notice, provided in accordance with Colorado law, said 

proposed budget was open for inspection by the public at a designated place, a public hearing was 

held and interested electors were given the opportunity to register their protest to the proposed 

budget prior to the adoption of the budget by the Board. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Adoption of Budget.  The budget attached hereto and incorporated herein is 

approved and adopted as the budget of the District for fiscal year 2024.  In the event of 

recertification of values by the County Assessor’s Office after the date of adoption hereof, staff is 

hereby directed to modify and/or adjust the budget and certification to reflect the recertification 

without the need for additional Board authorization.  Any such modification to the budget or 

certification as contemplated by this Section 1 shall be deemed ratified by the Board. 

Section 2. Levy for General Operating Expenses.  For the purpose of meeting all general 

operating expenses of the District during the 2024 budget year, there is hereby levied a tax of 

__.000 mills upon each dollar of the total valuation of assessment of all taxable property within 

the District. 

Section 3. Levy for Debt Service Obligations.  For the purposes of meeting all debt service 

obligations of the District during the 2024 budget year, there is hereby levied a tax of __.000 mills 

upon each dollar of the total valuation of assessment of all taxable property within the District. 

Section 4. Levy for Contractual Obligation Expenses.  For the purposes of meeting all 

contractual obligations of the District during the 2024 budget year, there is hereby levied a tax of 

__.000 mills upon each dollar of the total valuation of assessment of all taxable property within 

the District. 



1237.0015 4 

Section 5. Levy for Capital Project Expenses.  For the purposes of meeting all capital 

project obligations of the District during the 2024 budget year, there is hereby levied a tax of 

__.000 mills upon each dollar of the total valuation of assessment of all taxable property within 

the District. 

Section 6. Mill Levy Adjustment.  When developing the attached budget, consideration 

was given to any changes in the method of calculating assessed valuation, including any changes 

to the assessment ratios, or any constitutionally mandated tax credit, cut or abatement, as 

authorized in the District’s service plan.  The Board hereby determines in good faith (such 

determination to be binding and final), that to the extent possible, the adjustments to the mill levies 

made to account for changes in Colorado law described in the prior sentence, and the actual tax 

revenues generated by the mill levies, are neither diminished nor enhanced as a result of those 

changes. 

Section 7. Certification to County Commissioners.  The Board directs its legal counsel, 

manager, accountant or other designee to certify to the Board of County Commissioners of 

Jefferson County, Colorado the mill levies for the District as set forth herein.  Such certification 

shall be in compliance with the requirements of Colorado law. 

Section 8. Appropriations.  The amounts set forth as expenditures in the budget attached 

hereto are hereby appropriated. 

Section 9. Filing of Budget and Budget Message.  The Board hereby directs its legal 

counsel, manager or other designee to file a certified copy of the adopted budget resolution, the 

budget and budget message with the Division of Local Government by January 30 of the ensuing 

year. 

Section 10. Budget Certification.  The budget shall be certified by a member of the District, 

or a person appointed by the District, and made a part of the public records of the District. 

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank] 



 

1237.0015 5 

ADOPTED NOVEMBER 20, 2023. 

 

DISTRICT: 
 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

By:  
 Officer of the District 

 
Attest: 
 

By:  
  
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
General Counsel to the District 
 
 
STATE OF COLORADO 
COUNTY OF JEFFERSON 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
 

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution constitutes a true and correct copy of the 
record of proceedings of the Board adopted by a majority of the Board at a District meeting held 
via teleconference on Monday, November 20, 2023, as recorded in the official record of the 
proceedings of the District. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto subscribed my name this ___ day of November 

2023. 

 
       
 
              
      Signature 



 

 

EXHIBIT A 
 

BUDGET DOCUMENT 
 

BUDGET MESSAGE 
 

 



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 

ANNUAL BUDGET 

FOR THE YEAR ENDING DECEMBER 31, 2024 

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



10/11/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET
2022 2023 6/30/2023 2023 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 7,945,419$    7,996,443$    7,918,464$    7,884,304$    5,079,545$    

REVENUES
Property taxes 3,728,015      3,625,794      3,600,086      3,625,794      5,080,352      
Specific ownership taxes 255,951         253,806         130,146         260,292         355,625         
Interest income 118,709         165,750         135,635         271,270         162,750         
Operations and transfer fees 24,284           25,888           6,368             12,736           16,738           
Rental income 19,237           15,000           11,260           22,520           17,000           
Other revenue 41,599           43,610           16,955           33,910           43,199           

Total revenues 4,187,795      4,129,848      3,900,450      4,226,522      5,675,664      

TRANSFERS IN 1,395,961      1,419,131      751,125         1,419,131      1,566,522      

Total funds available 13,529,175    13,545,422    12,570,039    13,529,957    12,321,731    

EXPENDITURES
General Fund 255,550         310,000         175,346         289,316         300,000         
Debt Service Fund 2,347,431      2,300,000      911,781         2,287,557      2,358,000      
Capital Projects Fund 224,616         7,485,000      2,937,560      3,091,086      4,502,500      
Special Revenue Fund 1,421,313      1,481,744      650,536         1,363,322      1,627,410      

Total expenditures 4,248,910      11,576,744    4,675,223      7,031,281      8,787,910      

TRANSFERS OUT 1,395,961      1,419,131      759,715         1,419,131      1,566,522      

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 5,644,871      12,995,875    5,434,938      8,450,412      10,354,432    

ENDING FUND BALANCES 7,884,304$    549,547$       7,135,101$    5,079,545$    1,967,299$    

GENERAL FUND EMERGENCY RESERVE 49,100$         47,600$         45,500$         47,600$         66,700$         
SPECIAL REVENUE EMERGENCY RESERVE 2,000             1,900             1,900             1,900             1,900             
CAPITAL REPLACEMENT RESERVE 288,406         114,400         870,484         167,255         503,059         
AVAILABLE FOR OPERATIONS 103,128         120,575         238,454         228,311         222,111         

TOTAL RESERVE 442,634$       284,475$       1,156,338$    445,066$       793,770$       

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
SUMMARY

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
1

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



10/11/23
 

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET
2022 2023 6/30/2023 2023 2024

ASSESSED VALUATION
Residential 58,795,724$  57,156,090$  57,156,090$  57,156,090$  80,551,250$  
State assessed 20,684           30,041           30,041           30,041           31,899           
Vacant land 203                -                 -                 -                 -                 
Personal property 1,320,562      1,294,372      1,294,372      1,294,372      1,357,958      
Other 51                  51                  51                  51                  50                  

Certified Assessed Value 60,137,224$  58,480,554$  58,480,554$  58,480,554$  81,941,157$  

MILL LEVY
General 25.000 25.000 25.000 25.000 25.000
Debt Service 37.000 37.000 37.000 37.000 37.000

Total mill levy 62.000 62.000 62.000 62.000 62.000

PROPERTY TAXES
General 1,503,431$    1,462,014$    1,462,014$    1,462,014$    2,048,529$    
Debt Service 2,225,077      2,163,780      2,163,780      2,163,780      3,031,823      

Levied property taxes 3,728,508      3,625,794      3,625,794      3,625,794      5,080,352      
Adjustments to actual/rounding (493)               -                 (25,708)          -                 -                 

Budgeted property taxes 3,728,015$    3,625,794$    3,600,086$    3,625,794$    5,080,352$    

BUDGETED PROPERTY TAXES
General 1,503,232$    1,462,014$    1,451,648$    1,462,014$    2,048,529$    
Debt Service 2,224,783      2,163,780      2,148,438      2,163,780      3,031,823      

3,728,015$    3,625,794$    3,600,086$    3,625,794$    5,080,352$    

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
PROPERTY TAX SUMMARY INFORMATION

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions.
2

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



10/11/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET
2022 2023 6/30/2023 2023 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 353,240$       306,776$       337,506$       337,506$       214,855$       

REVENUES
Property taxes 1,503,232      1,462,014      1,451,648      1,462,014      2,048,529      
Specific ownership taxes 103,206         102,341         52,470           104,940         143,397         
Interest income 9,478             10,000           9,421             18,842           19,500           
Other revenue 19,861           10,000           - - 10,000           

Total revenues 1,635,777      1,584,355      1,513,539      1,585,796      2,221,426      

Total funds available 1,989,017      1,891,131      1,851,045      1,923,302      2,436,281      

EXPENDITURES
General and administrative

Accounting 40,705           50,000           29,668           55,000           55,000           
Auditing 5,900             7,000             6,100             6,100             7,000             
County Treasurer's fee 22,554           21,930           21,777           21,930           30,728           
Directors' fees - - - 500 1,200             
Dues and membership 534 2,000             1,238             1,238             2,000             
Insurance 29,772           31,500           34,313           34,313           36,000           
Legal 122,571         150,000         62,015           150,000         160,000         
Miscellaneous - 250 960 960 2,000             
Election 33,514           40,000 19,275           19,275           - 
Contingency - 7,320 - - 6,072             

Total expenditures 255,550         310,000         175,346         289,316         300,000         

TRANSFERS OUT
Transfers to other fund 1,395,961      1,419,131      759,715         1,419,131      1,566,522      

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 1,651,511      1,729,131      935,061         1,708,447      1,866,522      

ENDING FUND BALANCES 337,506$       162,000$       915,984$       214,855$       569,759$       

GENERAL FUND EMERGENCY RESERVE 49,100$         47,600$         45,500$         47,600$         66,700$         
CAPITAL REPLACEMENT RESERVE 288,406$       114,400$       870,484$       167,255$       503,059$       
TOTAL RESERVE 337,506$       162,000$       915,984$       214,855$       569,759$       

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
GENERAL FUND 

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
3

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



10/11/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET
2022 2023 6/30/2023 2023 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 65,084$         122,475$       105,128$       105,128$       230,211$       

REVENUES
Operations and transfer fees 24,284           25,888           6,368             12,736           16,738           
Interest income 137 750 54 108 750 
Rental income 19,237           15,000           11,260           22,520           17,000           
Other revenue 21,738           20,975           16,955           33,910           20,200           

Total revenues 65,396           62,613           34,637           69,274           54,688           

TRANSFERS IN
Transfers from other funds 1,395,961      1,419,131      751,125         1,419,131      1,566,522      

Total funds available 1,526,441      1,604,219      890,890         1,593,533      1,851,421      

EXPENDITURES
General and administrative

Administration costs 4,069             4,200             952 1,904             6,200             
Contingency - 4,000 - - 44,000           
Facilities management 345,842         367,104 176,229         352,458         288,000         
Maintenance of district assets 3,834             4,500             - 4,500 - 
Miscellaneous 7,057             2,978             2,529             5,058 4,310             
Postage, printing, copies 2,444             500 305 610 700 
Mileage 1,271             1,300             778 1,556 1,300             
Office equipment 2,604             2,400             895 1,790 2,400             
Website 1,483             1,400             423 846 3,600             

Landscape maintenance
District clean-up 35,447           43,000           17,885           35,770           43,000           
Irrigation repairs 60,935           36,000           - 18,000 38,000           
Landscape maintenance 207,055         200,500         151,562         303,124 259,800         
Landscape replacement 51,042           125,000         37,890           75,780 200,000         
Lighting 6,306             6,500             - 3,250 6,500             
Native weed control 75,842           73,000           - 36,500 73,000           
Pest Control 9,000             10,000           4,500             9,000 10,000           
Snow removal 37,041           55,000           15,299           30,598 55,000           
Water and soil sampling 7,804             8,000             4,000             8,000 24,000           

Utilities
Utilities - gas and electric 23,690           20,000           7,046             14,092 20,000           
Utilities - trash removal 260,247         247,500         126,422         252,844 258,500         
Utilities - water and sewer 30,452           30,000           3,880             7,760             30,000           
Telephone/Wi-Fi/Cable 4,058             9,000             2,777             5,554             7,000             

Clubhouse Maintenance
Clubhouse maintenance and supplies 9,546             12,700           5,761             11,522           12,700           
Clubhouse social activities 58,404           63,000           33,877           67,754           63,000           
Clubhouse housekeeping 27,670           28,000           9,135             18,270           31,000           
Clubhouse keys and locks 579 1,200             5,351             10,702           1,200             

Pool Maintenance
Pool contract maintenance 98,706           103,962         36,714           73,428           118,000         
Pool supplies 24,302           15,000           2,344             4,688             16,200           
Pool repairs and maintenance 24,583           6,000             3,982             7,964             10,000           

Total expenditures 1,421,313      1,481,744      650,536         1,363,322      1,627,410      

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 1,421,313      1,481,744      650,536         1,363,322      1,627,410      

ENDING FUND BALANCES 105,128$       122,475$       240,354$       230,211$       224,011$       

SPECIAL REVENUE EMERGENCY RESERVE 2,000$           1,900$           1,900$           1,900$           1,900$           
AVAILABLE FOR OPERATIONS 103,128         120,575         238,454         228,311         222,111         
TOTAL RESERVE 105,128$       122,475$       240,354$       230,211$       224,011$       

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
SPECIAL REVENUE FUND

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
4

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



10/11/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET
2022 2023 6/30/2023 2023 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 144,730$       169,827$       191,683$       191,683$       253,478$       

REVENUES
Property taxes 2,224,783      2,163,780      2,148,438      2,163,780      3,031,823      
Specific ownership taxes 152,745         151,465         77,676           155,352         212,228         
Interest income 16,856           7,000             15,110           30,220           34,000           

Total revenues 2,394,384      2,322,245      2,241,224      2,349,352      3,278,051      

Total funds available 2,539,114      2,492,072      2,432,907      2,541,035      3,531,529      

EXPENDITURES
Debt Service 

Bond interest - Series 2021A 1,777,850      1,751,100      875,550         1,751,100      1,726,100      
Bond principal - Series 2021A 535,000         500,000         - 500,000 570,000         
County Treasurer's fee 33,381           32,457           32,231           32,457 45,477           
Paying agent fees 1,200             6,000             4,000             4,000             6,000             
Contingency - 10,443 - - 10,423           

Total expenditures 2,347,431      2,300,000      911,781         2,287,557      2,358,000      

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 2,347,431      2,300,000      911,781         2,287,557      2,358,000      

ENDING FUND BALANCES 191,683$       192,072$       1,521,126$    253,478$       1,173,529$    

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
DEBT SERVICE FUND 

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
5

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



10/11/23

ACTUAL BUDGET ACTUAL ESTIMATED BUDGET
2022 2023 6/30/2023 2023 2024

BEGINNING FUND BALANCES 7,382,365$    7,397,365$    7,284,147$    7,249,987$    4,381,001$    

REVENUES
Interest income 92,238           148,000         111,050         222,100         108,500         
Other revenue - 12,635 - - 12,999           

Total revenues 92,238           160,635         111,050         222,100         121,499         

Total funds available 7,474,603      7,558,000      7,395,197      7,472,087      4,502,500      

EXPENDITURES
Contingency - 12,635 - - 12,999           
Repay developer advance - 2,641,085 2,641,086      2,641,086      - 
Engineering - - 24,753           50,000           - 
Capital outlay 224,616         4,831,280      271,721         400,000         4,489,501      

Total expenditures 224,616         7,485,000      2,937,560      3,091,086      4,502,500      

Total expenditures and transfers out 
requiring appropriation 224,616         7,485,000      2,937,560      3,091,086      4,502,500      

ENDING FUND BALANCES 7,249,987$    73,000$         4,457,637$    4,381,001$    -$  

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
CAPITAL PROJECTS FUND 

2024 BUDGET
 WITH 2022 ACTUAL AND 2023 ESTIMATED

For the Years Ended and Ending December 31,

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
6

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Services Provided 

The District, a quasi-municipal corporation and a political subdivision of the State of Colorado, was organized 
(originally as Leyden Rock Metropolitan District No. 10) by order and decree of the District Court for the 
County of Jefferson on January 5, 2012, and is governed pursuant to provisions of the Colorado Special 
District Act (Title 32, Article 1, Colorado Revised Statutes).  

The District was established to provide financing for the operations and maintenance and design, acquisition, 
installation, construction and completion of public improvements and services, including water, sanitation, 
street, safety protection, park and recreation, transportation, fire protection, security, television relay and 
translation and mosquito control improvements and services. The District provides covenant control and was 
organized in conjunction with nine other related Districts – Leyden Rock Metropolitan District Nos. 1, 2, 3, 4, 
5, 6, 7, 8, and 9. The District serves as the Operating and Financing District which will pay all vendors, issue 
debt, levy ad valorem taxes on taxable properties within each District and assess fees, rates and other 
charges as authorized by law. The District’s service area is located entirely within the City of Arvada, 
Jefferson County, Colorado. District Nos. 1-9 have been dissolved.  

The District is not authorized to plan for, design, acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, 
operate or maintain fire protection facilities or services, unless such facilities and services are provided 
pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City. The District is not authorized to plan for, design 
acquire, construct, install, relocate, redevelop, finance, operate or maintain television relay and translation 
facilities and services, other than for the installation of conduit as part of a street construction project, unless 
such facilities and services are provided pursuant to an intergovernmental agreement with the City. 

On November 1, 2011, the District’s voters authorized total indebtedness of $80,000,000 for each of the 
above listed facilities, $80,000,000 for intergovernmental agreements and $80,000,000 for refunding of debt. 
Collectively, the Districts shall not issue debt over the amount of $80,000,000. Additionally, the maximum 
debt mill levy is 40.000 mills, subject to adjustment, which shall not be imposed for longer than 40 years from 
the first year the debt service mill levy is imposed unless a refunding of the Debt has been voted upon. The 
election also approved an annual property tax of $5,000,000 without limitation of rate, to pay the District’s 
operation and maintenance costs.  

The District has no employees and all administrative functions are contracted. 

The District prepares its budget on the modified accrual basis of accounting in accordance with the 
requirements of Colorado Revised Statutes C.R.S. 29-1-105 using its best estimates as of the date of the 
budget hearing. These estimates are based on expected conditions and its expected course of actions. The 
assumptions disclosed herein are those that the District believes are significant to the budget. There will 
usually be differences between the budget and actual results, because events and circumstances frequently 
do not occur as expected, and those difference may be material.

7

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Revenues 

Property Taxes 

Property taxes are levied by the District’s Board of Directors. The levy is based on assessed valuations 
determined by the County Assessor generally as of January 1 of each year. The levy is normally set by 
December 15 by certification to the County Commissioners to put the tax lien on the individual properties as 
of January 1 of the following year. The County Treasurer collects the determined taxes during the ensuing 
calendar year. The taxes are payable by April or, if in equal installments, at the taxpayer’s election, in 
February and June. Delinquent taxpayers are notified in August and, generally, sale of the tax liens on 
delinquent properties are held in November or December. The County Treasurer remits the taxes collected 
monthly to the District. 

The calculation of the taxes levied is displayed on the property tax summary information page of the budget. 

Operations Fee 

The District will collect a fee of $372 per year from homeowners located within Filing 6, Tract K, of the District 
to pay for the District’s costs of operations, payable on January 1 of each year or in quarterly installments. In 
addition, the District receives $305 from each new homeowner. 

Specific Ownership Taxes 

Specific ownership taxes are set by the State and collected by the County Treasurer, primarily on vehicle 
licensing within the County as a whole. The specific ownership taxes are allocated by the County Treasurer 
to all taxing entities within the County. The budget assumes that the District’s share will be equal to 
approximately 7% of the property taxes collected. 

Interest Income 

Interest earned on the District’s available funds has been estimated based on an average interest rate of 
approximately 5%. 

Expenditures 

Administrative and Operating Expenditures 

Administrative and operating expenditures include the estimated services necessary to maintain the District’s 
administrative viability such as legal, management, accounting, insurance and meeting expense. Estimated 
expenditures related to landscaping and utilities are included in the Fee Operations Fund budget. 

County Treasurer’s Fee 

County Treasurer’s collection fees have been computed at 1.5% of property taxes.

8

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT 
2024 BUDGET 

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ASSUMPTIONS 

Expenditures –(continued) 

Debt Service 

Principal and interest payments in 2023 are provided based on the debt amortization schedule from the 
Series 2021 Bonds (discussed under Debts and Leases). 

Debt and Leases 

The District issued its 2021 Bonds (the Bonds) on October 22, 2021, in the amount of $45,840,000. The 
proceeds from the sale of the Bonds were used to: (i) pay the costs of refunding the 2016A, 2016B and 
2017C Bonds; (ii) funding and reimbursing a portion of the costs of constructing and installing certain public 
improvements benefiting the District; (iii) paying the costs of issuing the costs of issuance of the Bonds, 
including premium for the Insurance Policy and the Reserve Policy. 

The Bonds bear interest at 3.00%-5.00%, payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1, beginning on 
December 1, 2021. The Bonds are subject to redemption prior to maturity at the option of the District, as a 
whole or in part by lot in integral multiples of $1,000 on December 1, 2031, and on any date thereafter upon 
payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed, plus accrued interest to the 
redemption date, without redemption premium. The Bonds maturing on December 1, 2046 also are subject 
to mandatory sinking fund redemption prior to maturity, in part, by lot, upon payment of 100% of the principal 
amount of the Bonds to be redeemed plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without redemption 
premium. The Bonds maturing on December 1, 2051 also are subject to mandatory sinking fund redemption 
prior to maturity, in part, by lot, upon payment of 100% of the principal amount of the Bonds to be redeemed 
plus accrued interest to the redemption date, without redemption premium. 

The Bonds are secured by and payable solely from and to the extent of the Pledged Revenue, which includes 
monies derived from the following, net of costs of collection: (i) the Required Mill Levy; (ii) the portion of the 
Specific Ownership Tax which is collected as a result of the imposition of the Required Mill Levy and (iii) any 
other legally available amounts that the District determines, in its absolute discretion to transfer to the trustee 
for application as Pledge Revenue. 

The Bonds are also secured by amounts on deposit in the Reserve Fund in the amount of $2,739,400, which 
is funded by the Reserve Policy. The Reserve Policy, issued by Assured Guaranty Municipal Corp. (AGM) is 
a policy of insurance guaranteeing the payment, when due, of the principal and interest on the Bonds. The 
insurance extends over the life of the issue and cannot by canceled by AGM as further provided in the policy. 

The District has no operating or capital leases. 

Emergency Reserves 

The District has provided for an Emergency Reserve equal to at least 3% of fiscal year spending, as defined 
under the TABOR Amendment. 

This information is an integral part of the accompanying budget. 

9

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



Year Ended
December 31, Principal Amount Interest Amount Annual Total

2024 570,000$             1,726,100$          2,296,100$          
2025 665,000               1,697,600            2,362,600            
2026 745,000               1,664,350            2,409,350            
2027 780,000               1,627,100            2,407,100            
2028 865,000               1,588,100            2,453,100            
2029 910,000               1,544,850            2,454,850            
2030 1,005,000            1,499,350            2,504,350            
2031 1,055,000            1,449,100            2,504,100            
2032 1,155,000            1,396,350            2,551,350            
2033 1,200,000            1,350,150            2,550,150            
2034 1,300,000            1,302,150            2,602,150            
2035 1,350,000            1,250,150            2,600,150            
2036 1,455,000            1,196,150            2,651,150            
2037 1,515,000            1,137,950            2,652,950            
2038 1,610,000            1,092,500            2,702,500            
2039 1,660,000            1,044,200            2,704,200            
2040 1,745,000            994,400               2,739,400            
2041 1,795,000            942,050               2,737,050            
2042 1,850,000            888,200               2,738,200            
2043 1,925,000            814,200               2,739,200            
2044 2,000,000            737,200               2,737,200            
2045 2,080,000            657,200               2,737,200            
2046 2,165,000            574,000               2,739,000            
2047 2,250,000            487,400               2,737,400            
2048 2,340,000            397,400               2,737,400            
2049 2,435,000            303,800               2,738,800            
2050 2,530,000            206,400               2,736,400            
2051 2,630,000            105,200               2,735,200            
Total 43,585,000$        29,673,600$        73,258,600$        

3.00% - 5.00%
June 1 and December 1

Beginning December 1, 2021

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT
SCHEDULE OF DEBT SERVICE
REQUIREMENTS TO MATURITY

$45,840,000

 2021 General Obligation Limited Tax Convertible to 
Unlimited Tax Refunding and Improvement Bonds 

Principal Payable December 1

No assurance provided. See summary of significant assumptions. 
10

PRELIMINARY DRAFT - SUBJECT TO REVISION



 

MANAGEMENT REPORT 
 

COMMUNITY: MANAGER: REPORT DATE: 
Leyden Rock Metro District Katie Call November 13, 2023 

 

2023 Regular Board Meeting Schedule:  

 December 19  

2023 Special Meeting Dates: 

 December 5 | Capital Projects Discussion 

2024 Regular Board Meeting Schedule:  
 
 January 16 
 February 20 
 March 19 
 April 16 
 May 21 
 June 18 
 July 16 
 August 20 
 September 17 
 October 15 
 November 19 
 December 17 

2024 Special Meeting Dates: 
 
 January 2* (day after New Year’s) 
 February 6 
 March 5 
 April 2 
 May 7 
 June 4 
 July 2 
 August 6 
 September 3* (day after Labor Day) 
 October 11 
 November 5 
 December 3 

Last Reserve Study: 2020 
 
Operating Fee:   $0.00/year 
Tract K Filing Fee: $372/year 
 
Current mill levy (2022), for collection 
in 2023  
25.000 mills - (general fund)  
37.000 mills - (debt service fund)  
  0.000 mills - (capital projects fund) 
 

Board of Directors: 
 Brett Vernon, President 

Term to May 2027 
 Scott J. Plummer, Secretary 

Term to May 2027 
 Christian Ardita, Assistant Secretary 

Term to May 2025 
 Tanis Batsel Stewart, Assistant Secretary 

Term to May 2025 
 Jeff Cunningham, Treasurer 

Term to May 2025 
District Services:  Residential Trash, 
Common Area Landscape 
Maintenance, Common Area Snow 
Removal, Common Area Pet Waste 
Removal, Pool Maintenance & Staffing, 
Social Events 
 
 

Dates to Note: 
 District Office Closure: Wednesday November 22nd 

thru Friday November 24th  
 Republic Community Meeting: Wednesday, 

November 29th  
 Far-vada Craft Fair: Saturday, December 2nd  
 Santa Visits: Friday, December 8th 

                       Saturday, December 9th 
                       Sunday, December 10th  
 

  



 

Landscape Committee: 
Tanis Batsel-Stewart, Chair 
Carolyn Rowe 
Thu Koelling 
Diane Mangam 
Lisa Coleman 
Pam Hill 

Additional Information: 
 Compliance: 1x weekly, completed by our 

inspector Pam Mitchell 
 E-newsletter Performance: 

Total Contacts: 2,105 (down 12) 
Email Open Rate: 73% (down 2%) 
1260/1439 Reaching approximately 88% of the 
homes in the community 

 
  



 

CURRENT PROJECTS / ACTION ITEMS  
 

PROJECT DESCRIPTION STATUS 
Shade Removal Pool Shade Complete- Removed Friday 11/3 
Network Upgrade Enhance WiFi connections/relocate 

equipment 
Complete- Completed Tuesday 10/31 

2024 Contracts Working with vendors to complete 
service agreements for 2024 

In progress 

2024 Calendar Calendar of events, projects, meetings In progress 
Surveillance System Clubhouse Surveillance system install In progress- Equalized was onsite 10/25, 10/30, 

10/31, pending next service date  
Below is a detailed list of steps yet to finish 

• Test & tune sound system. 
• Program control apps. 
• Test control apps. 
• Install audio connection plate at 

countertop (this item is still backordered). 
• Install and program board mic system. 
• Continue to check in on surveillance 

system day and confirm recording. 
• Training. 

AV Upgrade Clubhouse speakers and tv upgrade • See update above under surveillance 
system 

Tree Health Maintenance Recommended annual tree 
maintenance from tree health report 

• Pending contract signature from vendor 
• Winter watering service will only be 

completed in December this year 
Retaining Wall Retaining wall repair on LR Drive • Pending project schedule dates 
Updated Maps Project Community maps used for vendors • Snow maps, complete 

• Landscape maps, in progress 
Pool & Clubhouse Use 
Policy Update 

Work with WBA for updates to policy • In progress 

Clubhouse Cabinet Cabinet installation under new TV • Pending knob installation 
• Locks purchased did not work 

Clubhouse Furniture Replacement of Tables & Chairs • 11/20 meeting agenda 
Pet Stations Station relocation On Hold 
Pool Plaster Resurfacing the pool On Hold 
Pool Lighting Upgrade lights to LED On Hold 
Pool Heater Replacement w/ Electronic Thermostat On Hold 
Column Stone Replacement Stone has come off on of the fence 

columns in the community 
On Hold 

Clubhouse Repairs Replacement of blocks on back railings On Hold 
Wayfinding Sign Stain Stain the wood on the wayfinding signs 

and Ping Pong Park sign 
On Hold 

 



 

ANNUAL CALENDAR – 2023 
 

January 
 

 Board Meeting – January 17, 2023 
 New Resident Social- January 24, 2023 

February  Special Board Meeting- February 7, 2023 
 Board Meeting – February 21, 2023 
 Republic Landfill Community Meeting - February 28, 2023 

March  Special Board Meeting – March 7, 2023 
 Board Meeting – March 21, 2023 

April  Signature Event | Easter - April 1, 2023 
 Special Board Meeting – April 4, 2023 
 Board Meeting – April 18, 2023 
 Landfill Free day – April 22, 2023 
 New Resident Social- April 25, 2023 (canceled) 

May  Special Board Meeting – May 2, 2023 
 Signature Event | Adults Night Out – May 6, 2023 
 Board Meeting – May 16, 2023 
 Republic Landfill Community Meeting: May 24, 2023 
 Snow Contract Expires - May 31, 2023 
 Irrigation Start-up / Spring Clean-up 
 Backflow Inspection 

June  Special Board Meeting – June 6, 2023 (canceled) 
 Board Meeting – June 20, 2023 
 Arvada Fire District Community meeting - June 27, 2023 

July  Signature Event | Independence Day – July 4, 2023 
 Special Board Meeting – July 4, 2023 (rescheduled) 
 Special Board Meeting – July 11, 2023 (reschedule date/canceled) 
 Special Board Meeting – July 12, 2023 *Preservation Tree Care Presentation 

 Board Meeting – July 18, 2023 
 Family Fire Safety Event: July 21, 2023 
 New Resident Social - July 31, 2023 (rescheduled date) 
 Republic Landfill Community Meeting - July 26, 2023, onsite tour 

August  Special Board Meeting – August 1, 2023 (canceled) 
 Board Meeting – August 15, 2023 
 Arvada Police Community Meeting- August 29, 2023 (canceled, reschedule date 

TBD) 
 Budget Working Session- August 18, 2023 

September  Special Board Meeting – September 5, 2023 
 Republic Landfill Community Meeting: September 8, 2023, onsite tour 

(postponed, date TBD) 
 Landfill Free day – September 16, 2023 
 Board Meeting – September 19 2023 
 Pool Closing Date – September 22, 2023 
 Signature Event | Fall Fest – September 23, 2023 



 

 Cell Tower Feedback Meeting/Special Board Meeting – September 27, 2023 
 Renew Snow Contract 

October  Special Board Meeting – October 3, 2023 
 Board Meeting – October 17, 2023 
 Republic Landfill Community Meeting: October 19, 2023, onsite tour (canceled) 
 New Resident Social – October 24, 2023 
 Signature Event | Adults Night Out – October 27, 2023 
 Irrigation Shutdown / Fall Clean-up 

November  Annual Meeting – November 7, 2023 
 Special Board Meeting – November 7, 2023 
 Arvada Police Department Community Meeting: November 14, 2023 
 Board Meeting – November 20, 2023 (Budget Hearing) 
 Board Meeting – November 21, 2023 (Budget Hearing) rescheduled 
 Republic Landfill Community Meeting- November 29, 2023 

December  Special Board Meeting – December 5, 2023 
 Signature Event | Santa Visit – December 8/9/10, 2023 
 Board Meeting – December 19, 2023 

  



 

ANNUAL CALENDAR - 2024 
 

January 
 

 Special Board Meeting – January 2, 2024 
 Domain Auto Renewal- January 5, 2024 
 Board Meeting – January 16, 2024 
 HVAC Preventative Maintenance- TBD 

February  Special Board Meeting- February 6, 2024 
 Board Meeting – February 20, 2024 

March  Special Board Meeting – March 5, 2024 
 Board Meeting – March 19, 2024 

April  Special Board Meeting – April 2, 2024 
 Board Meeting – April 16, 2024 
 Board Email Auto Renewal- April 8, 2024 

May  Special Board Meeting – May 7, 2024 
 Board Meeting – May 21, 2024 
 Snow Contract Expires - May 31, 2024 
 Irrigation Start-up / Spring Clean-up 
 Backflow Inspection 
 HVAC Preventative Maintenance- TBD 

June  Special Board Meeting – June 4, 2024 
 Board Meeting – June 18, 2024 

July  Special Board Meeting – July 2, 2024 

 Board Meeting – July 16, 2024 
August  Special Board Meeting – August 6, 2024 

 Board Meeting – August 20, 2024 
 Budget Working Session- TBD 

September  Special Board Meeting – September 3, 2024 
 Board Meeting – September 17, 2024 
 Pool Closing Date – September 4, 2024 
 Renew Snow Contract 
 HVAC Preventative Maintenance- TBD 

October  Special Board Meeting – October 11, 2024 
 Board Meeting – October 15, 2024 
 Irrigation Shutdown / Fall Clean-up 

November  Annual Meeting – TBD 
 Special Board Meeting – November 5, 2024 
 Board Meeting – November 19, 2024 (Budget Hearing) 

December  Special Board Meeting – December 3, 2024 
 Board Meeting – December 17, 2024 

  



 

CURRENT CONTRACTS 
 
 

SERVICE COMPANY RATE EXPIRATION 
TERMINATION 

CLAUSE 
     

Landscaping Keesen Landscape 

Not to exceed 
$142,512 

$11,876/month *see 
fee schedule for T&M 

rates 

December 31, 2023 30 days 

Snow Removal Keesen Landscape 
T&M 

*see fee schedule for 
T&M rates 

May 31, 2024 30 days 

Pond Retention 
Maintenance OPEN 

*Keesen completed 
pond maintenance for 

2023 
  

Soil/Sediment Sampling CTL Thompson $4,000 per sample 
every 6 months December 31, 2023 30 days 

Weed & Pest Control Weed Wranglers 

$132/man hour for 
labor and equipment; 
$68/sprayed acre for 

materials 
$4,500/pest control 

visit (2x/yr) 

December 31, 2023 30 days 

Pet Waste Removal Poop 911 

$2,060/ 3x week per 
month 

$1,610/ 2x week per 
month 

+ $8.00 per roll for 
bags 

December 31, 2023 30 days 

Trash Removal Republic Services 

$10.50 per home / 
weekly trash 

+ 
$3.69 per home/ 
weekly recycle 

December 31, 2023 30 days 

Janitorial Services Done & Dusted (f.k.a. 
The Helping Hand) 

$200.00/ clubhouse 
cleaning 

$75.00/pool cleaning 
December 31, 2023 30 days 

Pool Maintenance Peak One Pool & Spa 
$110.00/weekday visit 

+ NTE $7,000 
chemicals 

December 31, 2023 
*see fee 

schedule for 
T&M rates 

Pool Monitors Mile High Pools $39.00/ hour September 4, 2023 30 days 

HVAC Timberline 
Mechanical 

$105/ PM visit 
+ materials December 31, 2023 30 days 

Design Review Lee Design Group $50/ application December 31, 2023 30 days 

Fence Staining Neighborly Fence 
Staining, LLC $33,741/ phase December 31, 2023 30 days 



 

FACILITY MAINTENANCE HISTORY 
 
Last Updated: November 16, 2023  
 
 

ELEMENT 
MAINTENANCE 

APPROACH MAINTENANCE / INSPECTION HISTORY NOTES 
AED Annual • Inspection for expiration of pads & battery  
Backflows Annual Testing 

Required by COA 
• Completed in in May/June 2023 23 backflow locations 

Fencing Each phase completed 
once every 5 years 

• Phase 1 fence staining completed 2023 
• Phase 2- 2024 
• Phase 3- 2025 
• Phase 4- 2026 
• Phase 5- 2027 

 

HVAC 3 preventative 
maintenance visits per 
year 

• Completed January, May & September 
2023 

 

 

Plumbing Annual visit • Inspection of drains, faucets, toilets PENDING  
Annual cost $515.00.   

Fire System Annual visit • Inspection of fire extinguishers, emergency 
lights  

PENDING  
Annual Cost ~ $385 

Building Exterior  •  Pending further 
research 

Sidewalk/Parking 
Lot 

 •  Pending further 
research 

Roofs  •  Pending further 
research 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

CAPITAL PROJECT BUDGET 
 
 
Submittal Categories Project Location Name Budget 
    

METRO DISTRICT 
TRACTS 

Major Vista 

String of Pearls 1,000,000 
Zircon Street culdesac 0 
Traveler's Hub 0 
Ping Pong Park 0 
Demo Garden 0 

Major Vista/Mudflow 

Timber Way (Rich) 100,000 
The 84th Ave area (between 
Yucca & Windy) 100,000 
84th Ave Cul de sac (Leclair) 0 

Drainage remediation 
Multiple locations 250,000 
Winter Rock Section A 36,000 
Winter Rock Section B 139,000 

Fire exit Eldora Way to 82nd 0 
Trailheads & minor vistas 
(general palette)  0 

TOTAL 1,625,000 
    

ENTRANCES 
Entrance, + Electricity Culebra 

see total 
below 

Entrance, + Electricity Yule 
see total 
below 

Entrance LR Drive 0 
TOTAL 250,000 

    

PARKS 

Westridge (includes the hillside 
in front)  750,000 
Lookout  0 
Daybreak  500,000 

TOTAL 1,250,000 
    

TRAILS Trails  850,000 
TOTAL 850,000 

    
CONTINGENCY   25,000 

TOTAL 25,000 
    

   $4,000,000.00 
 



 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From: Christine Ahern- /Lifestyle/Operations Coordinator 
 
Date: November 16, 2023 
 
Re:   Metro District Clubhouse Refresh Project 
 
 
We would like the Leyden Rock Metro District Board of Directors to consider hiring Michelle Horan, Leyden 
Rock Resident & Owner of Loft &Blush Interior Designs to consult on the Clubhouse Refresh Project.  
Michelle has provided a Scope of Work Agreement for the Boards review. 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Michelle Horan | Loft & Blush Interiors | michellehoran@loftandblush.com | 970.420.1355 

              
SCOPE OF WORK AGREEMENT 

 
                                                                                       

                                                                                                                                                                                                                               
Loft & Blush Interiors 

                  17649 W. 84th Place  
                Arvada, CO 80007 

                970.420.1355 
 Client: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District                                                                                
             17685 W. 83rd Drive 
             Arvada, CO 80007 
              
                                        
             November 16th, 2023 
 
       Loft and Blush Interiors, LLC, hereinafter referred to as “Consultant”; 
        Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, hereinafter referred to as “Client” agrees as follows. 
 
I.         EMPLOYMENT OF CONSULTANT 
           The Client employs the Consultant to render interior design services at the property 
           17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada, CO 80007. 
 
II.         CONSULTANT’S  DESIGN SERVICES: SCOPE OF WORK 
 

A. Initial Design Study: Client consultation to review parameters of project. Study will consist of      
a brief survey discussing Client’s, needs, wants and design style. Consultant will measure the 
existing spaces and prepare sketches and take photos of the existing interior. Budget 
parameters will be discussed during initial consultation. Further consultation may be needed 
for clarification before interior design conceptual meeting.  

                  
B. Conceptual Schematic Phase: A meeting to discuss conceptual preliminary ideas for the 

project. This can include, but is not limited to, furniture images, textiles, wall coverings, paint 
samples, swatches, and renderings. If needed; a maximum of three conceptual revisions are 
included within this agreement 

 
C. Design Development Phase:  A presentation to discuss and finalize interior design options will 

be done during this phase. Finish materials, lighting selections, all Furniture Fixture & 
Equipment (FF&E) will be discussed and presented to the Client at this time. Clients will  

 



 

Michelle Horan | Loft & Blush Interiors | michellehoran@loftandblush.com | 970.420.1355 

review and give feedback on all FF&E during this time. Consultant will be provided with a 
max of one option and up to three revisions per project as needed. 

 
             D. Purchasing Phase: Client will sign off and approve all orders prior to  
                  purchase. PO’s and quotes are provided with detailed specifications for Client’s review.  
                  The Consultant will provide the Client with all trade discounts and net pricing.     

     Client understands that purchasing invoices will require 50% deposit upon ordering and    
     balances including taxes, shipping and all handling fees are due upon delivery. By signing   
this, the Client understands that delivery and shipping fees can be billed separately. 

                 
III.      COMPENSATION AND METHOD OF PAYMENT 
 

A. Fee: Consultant will charge a flat rate of 10% of the total cost of the job.  
Payment of 50% is do at the time of signing the Scope of Work Agreement, following 50% 
once the job is completed. If at any time the scope of the project should change,  Client and 
the Consultant will come to an agreement on additional fees. 

                      
             
IV.        CONTRACTORS AND TRADES 
 
             A. Tradespersons, contractors, installers will enter into a separate agreement    
                  directly with the Client.  All tradespeople will be given finish schedules and direction from           
                  the Consultant on work to be completed. The Consultant may recommend contractors 
                  appropriate for the project and prepare, request, and review bids. 
 
V.         INSTALLATION 
 
             A. All deliverable items received by the Consultant will coordinate with the Client 
                 or installation crew on an appropriate time to install products. The Consultant 
                 will supervise and assist during the installation as needed. 
 
VI.        CANCELLATION POLICY 
 

A. If at any time the Client decides to cancel, the Client is responsible to pay in full any items 
purchased and time spent on the project thus far. A timesheet will be given to Client 
indicating time spent on project. All legal fees will be paid by Client. 

 
 
  
 
 
 



 

Michelle Horan | Loft & Blush Interiors | michellehoran@loftandblush.com | 970.420.1355 

VII.       MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS   
 

A. All drawings and specifications are intended for design concept only and cannot be used for 
construction of architectural purposes.  

The Consultant does not include any responsibility for the design of structural, electrical, 
plumbing, heating, or other mechanical systems that exist or might be needed for the project.  

a. Consultant will perform the services described in good faith but cannot be 
responsible for the performance, quality or timely completion of work by others. 
Further, Consultant will not be responsible for any changes to the project that the 
Client or contractor(s) make without informing the designer.  

b. Client is expected to grant reasonable access to the premises for the Consultant, as 
well as to contractors required to perform the agreed-upon work. By signing this 
agreement, you understand that the peace and privacy of your home or business 
space may be disrupted for the time required to perform work.    

c. This contract may be terminated for any reason by either the Client or the 
Consultant provided ten days written notice has been given. In the event of 
termination by the Client, the Client will pay the Consultant for all work done and 
expenses due up to the date of termination.      

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this agreement to be duly executed this date 
November 16th, 2023. 
 
ACCEPTED BY: 
 
       By: _________________________________________                         ____________ 
             Leyden Rock Metro District                                                       Date 
          
       By: __________________________________________                        ____________ 
             Loft & Blush Interiors                                                                  Date 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:  Board of Directors 
 
From: Katie Call, Community Manager 
 
Date: November 15, 2023 
 
Re: Patio Homes HOA Reimbursement Request 
 
 
The Board of Directors with the Leyden Rock Patio Homes HOA are requesting a reimbursement of $1,995.23 
for payment of pet waste removal services to 3 pet waste stations from 11/2021 to 08/2023.  
 
In mid-September, District management staff directed the District’s pet waste vendor, Poop 911, to install a 
trash can at a pet station that has been a bag dispenser only location. Shortly after Poop 911 installed the trash 
can, the trash can was removed by someone unknown. District staff included a notice about the new trash can 
being removed in the community’s e-newsletter to try to gather information about the missing can. 
 

     
 
After the notice went out in the e-newsletter, information came over the course of a few weeks. What was 
discovered was that not only has Poop 911 been servicing the pet waste stations located on District property but 
the Patio Homes HOA had hired a pet waste vendor in 2021 to service 3 pet waste stations located in that 
pocket of the community. After the District’s vendor installed the trash can, the Patio Villa HOA’s vendor 
removed the trash can.  
 
In coordination with the HOA Community Manager, it was confirmed that the HOA was paying for services to 
3 pet waste stations that the District vendor has been servicing. The 3 locations referenced all are located on 
common area property and have been confirmed as District common area. The HOA manager immediately 
canceled services from their hired vendor and the trash can was returned. After the HOA manager notified the 
HOA Board of Directors of the situation, reimbursement was requested for servicing District pet stations. 



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

 



 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
SOLID WASTE SERVICES 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and ALLIED WASTE 
TRANSPORTATION, INC. d/b/a REPUBLIC SERVICES OF DENVER, a Delaware corporation 
(the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a 
“Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 2

the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 
(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i), or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement for the 
next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding 
year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 3

and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 
standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 4

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 5

local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 
workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 6

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 7

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 8

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 9

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District:

With a Copy to: 

Contractor: 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com

Allied Waste Transportation, Inc. d/b/a 
Republic Services of Denver 
5075 E. 74th Avenue 
Commerce City, Colorado 80022 
Attention: Don Archuleta



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 10

Phone:
Email:

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 

(720) 590-4337
darchuleta@republicservices.com



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 11

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 12

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



 

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Solid Waste Services with  
Allied Waste Transportation, Inc. d/b/a Republic Services of Denver, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Solid Waste Services 
with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
ALLIED WASTE TRANSPORTATION, INC. 
d/b/a REPUBLIC SERVICES OF DENVER, a 
Delaware corporation  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF  )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Allied Waste 
Transportation, Inc. d/b/a Republic Services of Denver, a Delaware corporation. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

The Contractor shall provide solid waste services to residential units and the Clubhouse within the 
District at the following rates: 

 
Collection Service 2024 

Weekly Trash, 96 gallon cart $10.50 

EOW Recycle, 96 gallon cart $4.25 

Individual TOTAL $14.75 

Monthly Charge TOTAL $21,092.50 

Annual TOTAL $253,110.00 

 
CLUBHOUSE 2024  

Trash 6yd 1x/wk $105.00 per month 

Recycle 6yd 1x/wk $150.00 per month 

Monthly Charge TOTAL $255.00  

Annual TOTAL $3,060.00 

   

Contract Total $256,170.00  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1236 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 



 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
PROJECT MANAGEMENT SERVICES 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and ASCENT LAND 
DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The District 
and the Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the 
“Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 2

the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 
(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i), or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement for the 
next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding 
year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 3

and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 
standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 4

of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 5

local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 
workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 6

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 7

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 8

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 9

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 
 

  
Contractor: Ascent Land Development, LLC 

16980 W. 86th Place  
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Cooley  
Phone: (303) 810-2704 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 10

Email: katie@cooleydevelopment.com 
 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 11

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 12

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. STANDARD OF CARE.  In providing Services under this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall perform in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances at 
the same time. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



 

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Project Management 
Services with Ascent Land Development, LLC, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Project Management 
Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
ASCENT LAND DEVELOPMENT, LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Ascent Land Development, 
LLC, a Colorado limited liability company. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

All Services shall be billed on an hourly basis set forth on statements of work approved and 
executed by an authorized District representative. The Compensation Schedule shall be detailed 
pursuant to such statements of work approved and executed by an authorized District 
representative.  
 
Contractor does not take any liability for the project construction warranties or schedule. 
Contractor will act on behalf of the owner to aid in the project construction deliverables and driving 
the schedule and is no way responsible for materials/warranties/schedule. 
 
Contractor shall perform the following Services on a per project basis as directed by the District:  
 

1. Coordination of final entitlements in order to gain final construction 
plans/plat/DA/landscape plans, etc. approval from the jurisdiction(s) if necessary. 
Contractor will work with consulting engineer(s), landscape architect for final plan 
approval. Contractor will coordinate with the City and/or inspectors for final approval and 
permit. 
 

2. Value Engineering of plans. Contractor will work with engineers and/or contractors, if 
directed, to review plans for efficiency of construction and availability of materials. If 
requested, Contractor will work with the contractors and/or jurisdiction to create a phasing 
plan. 
 

3. Budget/Bid estimate review and coordination with subcontractors as selected by the 
District. Contractor will put together a bid review/tabulation to be used to help create the 
budget and pay applications.  
 

4. Review and approval of site invoices with the District. Contractor will review site invoices 
submitted by contractor(s) and recommend approval or denial based on project status, 
materials on-site and completion. Contractor will also review and recommend 
approval/denial of requested project change orders. 
 

5. Coordination of Bid Solicitations including bid review on ongoing scope if necessary. 
 

6. Coordination of land development infrastructure on a per project basis as directed by the 
District. This coordination includes working with the municipality regarding permitting, 
surety requirements, tap fees, system development fees, etc. to keep the project moving 
forward relating to land development operations. (Fees will be paid by the District.) 
Contractor will coordinate with the District Manager and contractors on a daily basis 
regarding schedule of the project and inspection approval (by other i.e. geotech, engineer 
and/or jurisdiction). Contractor will provide daily site reports/pictures if requested. 
Contractor will coordinate with jurisdiction inspectors and contractor(s) in order to gain 
building permit release and/or initial acceptance. Contractor will hold weekly meetings 
with contractor(s) as necessary. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 A-2 

 
7. Coordination with the District Manager for schedule completion and project management.  

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

5. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1248 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 
 
 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1239 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant: Cintas Fire Protection  
Title of Agreement/Contract: Fire Inspection Services  
Agreement/Contract Date:  November 20, 2023 
 
 This Contract (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-
municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 
contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 
 
 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective as of the date 
above. 
 

1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 
“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 
customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 
in this Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 
tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 
county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  
 
 2. Compensation of Services. The District shall provide compensation for the Services provided 
under this Agreement in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The 
Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled 
to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is 
approved in writing by the District in advance of such expenses being incurred. Exhibit A may take any form.  In 
the event of any conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the 
terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 
incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor shall promptly repair or, at the 
District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 
or its employees, agents, or equipment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, repairs/claims does not include weather 
worn property damage. Weather worn property damage will be reported by the Contractor to the District but the 
Contractor will not compensate the District for this type of damage.  
 
 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor, and nothing herein shall 
constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  
The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 
District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 
Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 
full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 
subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 
 
 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor guarantees and warrants that all workmanship, materials, 
and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the 
“Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The 
Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and the applicable 
building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that 
is defective or not conforming to this Agreement, at its sole expense, to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  
The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.   



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1239 2

  
6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage: (i) Standard worker’s compensation 
and employer’s liability insurance covering all employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the 
Services, with policy amounts and coverage in compliance with law; (ii) Commercial General Liability Insurance 
with minimum limits of liability of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property 
damage liability; $2,000,000 designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella; (iii) 
Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired automobiles used in 
connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined 
single limit bodily injury and property damage; and (iv) any other insurance commonly used by contractors for 
services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that 
the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The Commercial 
General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name the 
District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve to 
release it from any obligations, nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s 
liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 
7. Indemnification.  To the extent allowed by law, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, 
from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, 
including legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, 
negligence, willful misconduct,  or any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the 
District’s own negligence.  This indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on 
the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration 
or termination of this Agreement.  To the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold 
Contractor harmless under the terms of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to 
the extent permitted by applicable law and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose 
in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause or for convenience upon ten 
(10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the District shall compensate the 
Contractor for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  The District shall make this payment in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 
without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 
State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 
located.   
 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 
multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 
under this Agreement are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 
and agrees that the decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of the 
District’s governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the 
purposes of this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the 
District’s obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current 
expense and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or 
statutory limitations or requirements. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1239 3

 
 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 
otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 
its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 
and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S. 
  
 12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement 
include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 
solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 
during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  
 

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party 
than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 
parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 
this Agreement. 
 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 
which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 
shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 
15.   Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, understandings, 
and commitments. 
 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 
which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 
deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original 
for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 
 
By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to authorize 
said representative to execute this Agreement.   
 

District: 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
  
Name: ______________________________ 
 
Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
  
Name: ______________________________ 
   
Title:  _______________________________ 

 
 



 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule 

 
 



 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
ANNUAL SEEP AND SEDIMENT SAMPLING 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and CTL | THOMPSON, INC., a 
Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are referred to herein 
individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 2

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i), or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement for the 
next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding 
year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 3

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 4

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 5

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 6

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 7

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 8

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 9

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District:

With a Copy to: 

Contractor: 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com

CTL | Thompson, Inc. 
1971 West 12th Avenue 
Denver, Colorado 80204 
Attention: Matt Wardlow
Phone: (303) 825-0777 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 10

Email: mwardlow@CTLThompson.com 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 11

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 12

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



 

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Annual Seep and 
Sediment Sampling Services with  CTL | Thompson, Inc., dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Annual Seep and 
Sediment Sampling Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 

2023 
 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
CTL | THOMPSON, INC., a Colorado 
corporation  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of CTL | Thompson, Inc., a 
Colorado corporation. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE

 



 

1237.4200,  A-2 



 

1237.4200,  A-3 



 

1237.4200,  A-4 



 

1237.4200,  A-5 



 

1237.4200,  A-6 



 

1237.4200,  A-7 



 

1237.4200,  A-8 



 

1237.4200,  A-9 



 

1237.4200,  A-10 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1237 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 
 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
CLUBHOUSE CLEANING SERVICES 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and DONE AND DUSTED, LLC, 
a Colorado limited lability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 2 

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i), or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement for the 
next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each succeeding 
year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 3 

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 4 

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 5 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 6 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 7 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 8 

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 9 

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 
 

  
Contractor: Done and Dusted, LLC 

16682 W. 86th Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Laura A. Dean 
Phone: (307) 399-0071 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 10 

Email: thehelpinghand.ld@gmail.com 
 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 11 

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 12 

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Clubhouse Cleaning 
Services with Done and Dusted, LLC, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Clubhouse Cleaning 
Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
DONE AND DUSTED, LLC, a Colorado 
limited lability company  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Done and Dusted, LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

Leyden Rock Janitorial Services 
Scope: 

- 2x's week year round for clubhouse cleaning (Monday + Friday) 
- 7 x's week pool restrooms, grill area cleaning, trash removal (May-September)  

Month 
# of 

Cleanings for 
Clubhouse 

Base Cost 
for 

Clubhouse  

# of 
cleaning 
for pool 

area 

Base Cost 
for Pool 
Season 

Additional Cost for 
Pool Restrooms, Grill 

Area, Deck Trash (cost 
per cleaning $95) 

Deep Cleaning 
prior to pool 

opening  (May 
27, 2022) 

Month Total 

Jan-24 9 $200.00     $0.00   $1,800.00 
Feb-24 8 $200.00     $0.00   $1,600.00 
Mar-24 9 $200.00     $0.00   $1,800.00 
Apr-24 9 $200.00     $0.00   $1,800.00 

May-24 9 $200.00 8 $95.00 $760.00 $115.00 $2,675.00 
Jun-24 8 $200.00 30 $95.00 $2,850.00   $4,450.00 
Jul-24 9 $200.00 31 $95.00 $2,945.00   $4,745.00 

Aug-24 9 $200.00 31 $95.00 $2,945.00   $4,745.00 
Sep-24 9 $200.00 2 $95.00 $190.00   $1,990.00 
Oct-24 8 $200.00     $0.00  $1,600.00 
Nov-24 9 $200.00     $0.00   $1,800.00 
Dec-24 9 $200.00     $0.00   $1,800.00 

TOTALS         $9,690.00   $30,805.00 
 

POOL SEASON: Memorial Day, May 25, 2024, until Labor Day, September 2, 2024. 
 
Additional Services:  
After social event cleaning $140  
Disinfection $45 
 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third-party fidelity bond in favor of 
the District, covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be 
responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 
responsibility for money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District 
against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 C-2 

or other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be in an 
amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1246 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 
 



   

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
2024 LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE SERVICES 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and KEESEN LANDSCAPE 
MANAGEMENT, INC., a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The District and the 
Contractor are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 2 

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of January 1, 2024 
hereof and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; 
or (ii) midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant 
to subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this 
Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 
of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 3 

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit B 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 4 

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 5 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 6 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 7 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 8 

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 9 

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 
 

  
Contractor: Keesen Landscape Management, Inc.  

3355 South Umatilla Street 
Englewood, CO 80110 
Attention: Devon Finn 
Phone: (303) 591-1778 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 10 

Email: dfinn@keesenlandscape.com 
 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 11 

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 12 

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY AND PERMITS.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement 
guarantee and warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or 
performed for the accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good 
quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further 
warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and the applicable 
building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any 
governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  All materials are subject to the 
satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the completed Work will not constitute 
final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor to correct defects at a later date.  
Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any other 
warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

a. The Contractor hereby warrants the Work for a period of one (1) year from 
the date of completion and initial acceptance of the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct 
or replace any Work that is defective or not conforming to this Agreement at its sole expense to 
the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all 
cases survive termination of this Agreement.  This warranty shall be enforceable by the District, 
its successors and assigns. 

b. Prior to final payment for any Services involving Work, and at any time 
thereafter but before the final inspection, as set forth below, the Contractor and the District shall, 
at the request of the District, conduct an inspection of the Work for the purpose of determining 
whether any Work is defective or otherwise not in conformance with this Agreement.  The 
Contractor’s fees and costs associated with the inspection shall be included in the compensation 
schedule set forth in Exhibit B and shall not be billed separately to the District.  In the event the 
Contractor neglects to include the fees and costs associated with the inspection in the compensation 
schedule set forth in Exhibit B, the Contractor is deemed to have waived these fees and costs.  
After completion of the inspection, the District will provide the Contractor with written notice of 
any Work requiring corrective action.  The Contractor agrees to correct or replace the defective 
Work within a reasonable time, as agreed to by the Parties, but in no event later than thirty (30) 
calendar days from the date of notice from the District, unless otherwise agreed to by the District. 

c. The Contractor agrees that if warranty issues appear before payment has 
been made under this Agreement, the District may withhold payment until such warranty issues 
are resolved to the District’s satisfaction.  If repair or replacement of any warranty or defective 
Work is not made by the Contractor promptly upon request by the District as set forth in this 
Agreement, in addition to any other remedy, the District may withhold any payment the District 
may owe to the Contractor, including payments under other contracts or agreements related or 
unrelated to the Work and Services. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 13 

d. The Contractor shall promptly notify the District of any Work, whether by 
the Contractor, its subcontractors or any third parties, which the Contractor believes to be defective 
or not conforming with this Agreement. 

e. The Contractor shall, at its expense, obtain all permits, licenses, and other 
consents required from all governmental authorities, utility companies, and appropriate parties 
under any restrictive covenants in connection with the Work.  The Contractor shall comply with 
all the terms and conditions of all permits, licenses, and consents. 

f. At or around eleven (11) months, but no more than one (1) year, after the 
completion and acceptance of the Work, the Contractor and the District shall, at the request of the 
District, conduct a final inspection of the Work for the purpose of determining whether any Work 
is defective or otherwise not in conformance with this Agreement.  The Contractor’s fees and costs 
associated with the inspection shall be included in the compensation schedule set forth in Exhibit 
B and shall not be billed separately to the District.  In the event the Contractor neglects to include 
the fees and costs associated with the inspection in the compensation schedule set forth in Exhibit 
B, the Contractor is deemed to have waived these fees and costs.  After completion of the final 
inspection, the District will provide the Contractor with written notice of any Work requiring 
corrective action.  In the event the Contractor does not correct or replace the defective Work within 
thirty (30) calendar days from the date of notice from the District, or within such other reasonable 
time as agreed to by the Parties, the District may correct or replace the defective Work and the 
Contractor shall reimburse the District for the related costs and fees.  

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



   

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Landscape Maintenance 
Services with Keesen Landscape Management, Inc., dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 14 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



   

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Landscape 
Maintenance Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 15 

CONTRACTOR: 
KEESEN LANDSCAPE MANAGEMENT, 
INC., a Colorado corporation 
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Keesen Landscape 
Management, Inc., a Colorado corporation. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



   

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The Contractor shall provide the following landscape maintenance services to the District: 
 
Section 1 – GENERAL SCOPE OF WORK 

1. Terms of Work 

a. Contractor will furnish all labor, tools, specialized equipment, supervision and 
transportation required to maintain the landscape in an attractive condition 
throughout the year for the maintenance period specified in the Agreement. 

b. Damages: Contractor will be responsible for any damages to the property caused 
by the Contractor. The cost of all repairs will be borne by the Contractor. All repairs 
must be completed as promptly as possible. 

c. Contractor will provide a weekly written report to District staff detailing all work 
conducted during the week and outlining any issues or concerns to be addressed. 
Weekly reports will be provided via email every Friday prior to 12 p.m. throughout 
the year. 

d. Contractor will be available at the request of the Board or District staff to attend 
monthly meetings of the Board of Directors to provide a landscape report and to 
answers any questions. 

e. Acts of God: The Contractor assumes no responsibility for and shall not be held 
liable by the District for damages due to conditions beyond the Contractor’s control. 
Such conditions include, but are not limited to: harsh weather; abnormally cold 
winter temperatures; snow damage; ice; melting snow; wind; fire; vandalism; and 
theft. 

f. Communication System: The Contractor is expected to be available via telephone, 
and respond as necessary to emergencies that may arise. Emergencies are defined 
as items, which, by their nature, cannot be postponed and may cause damage to 
health or property. Response to emergencies will be by whatever means is most 
practical to remedy a particular situation. Contractor is entitled to compensation for 
such emergencies. 

g. Personnel: Contractor’s employees shall conduct themselves in a workmanlike 
manner at all times. Contractor is expected to provide adequate supervision at all 
times. 

h. Licenses and Permits: Contractor shall be responsible for obtaining and paying for 
all licenses and permits required by Federal, State, and local laws that are necessary 
for the legal operation of the Contractor’s business. Such licenses and permits shall 
include, but not be limited to: business and commercial pesticides applicator. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-2 

However, special permits (such as special watering permits) will be obtained at the 
expense of the District. 

i. Weather permitting: All items in this agreement are stated assuming that weather 
conditions are favorable. Contractor is not to be held responsible, in any way, for 
delays in the completion of specified tasks due to weather conditions. 

j. Modification: In all cases, the included “Description of Services” shall supersede 
or modify items stipulated in the “General Scope of Work”. 

2. Location of Work 

a. The Leyden Rock Metropolitan District Office is located in the Leyden Rock 
Clubhouse (17685 W 83rd Drive, Arvada, CO 80007). 

b. The location of work within the District is more particularly described as District 
Tracts of land within Leyden Rock Subdivision Filings 1-6. 

Section 2 – DESCRIPTION OF SERVICES 

1. Mowing 

a. All sod areas to be mowed on a weekly basis at an approximate height of three (3) 
to four (4) inches during the active growing season (May through September). All 
sod areas to be mowed a minimum of one time when the turf is growing at a slower 
rate (April and October). 

b. Grass clippings will be mulched and excessive clumps will be distributed or 
gathered and removed from the Premises. Catchers will be used as Contractor 
deems necessary. Grass clippings will be swept or blown from walks, porches, and 
curbs. 

c. Services may be postponed until the next visit any area deemed unsafe due to: 

i. Excessive wetness due to improper drainage; 

ii. Areas under construction; or 

iii. Areas in use at the time of mowing by groups of residents, children, or 
special groups. 

2. Trimming 

a. All turf areas inaccessible to mowing equipment will be trimmed as needed in 
conjunction with mowing operations to maintain a neat well-groomed appearance. 

b. Where practical, Contractor may use an approved herbicide and/or growth regulator 
around fences, trees, and other obstacles that may be damaged by repeated use of 
string line trimmers. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-3 

c. After mowing operations are completed, all grass clippings will be blown and/or 
removed from walks, drives, patios, etc. 

3. Edging 

a. Concrete walks adjacent to turf areas are to be edged bi-weekly during the growing 
season with a steel-bladed edger. 

b. Concrete curbs, and drain pans adjacent to turf areas are to be edged twice during 
the growing season with a steel-bladed edger. 

4. Aeration 

a. All irrigated turf areas will be core aerated one (1) time in the spring and one (1) 
time in the fall. 

5. Fertilization 

a. All irrigated turf areas will be fertilized three (3) times during the growing season 
with a slow release, granular product. “Revive” must be used for at least two (2) of 
the fertilizer applications. 

6. General Clean-up 

a. All landscape areas will be policed for trash in conjunction with mowing 
operations. 

b. All native grass areas adjacent to all main entrances (W 82nd Ave at Leyden Rock 
Drive, Yule Way, and Culebra Street) and along all main roads will be policed for 
trash on a weekly basis throughout the year. All trash must be removed from the 
Premises. 

c. The clean-up of debris due to vandalism, dumping, improperly contained 
dumpsters, acts of God, etc., will be an extra service to the contract. 

d. Removal of pet droppings is not the responsibility of the Contractor unless 
otherwise specified. 

7. Spring Clean-up 

a. The Contractor shall remove leaves and litter from all landscaped areas within the 
Premises one (1) time during the spring clean-up. Debris will be removed from 
Premises. 

b. Concrete walks adjacent to turf areas will be edged with a steel-bladed edger. 

c. Perennial grasses will be cut back to approximately 1’ to promote new growth. 

8. Fall Clean-up 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-4 

a. The Contractor shall remove leaves and litter from all landscaped areas within the 
Premises one (1) time during the fall clean-up. It is understood that this service will 
be performed after the majority of leaves have fallen and this clean-up shall be 
completed by November 30th, or as weather conditions permit. Debris will be 
removed from Premises. 

b. Additional fall clean-up services may be requested, which will be an additional 
charge outside the scope of the annual contract. 

9. Weed Control 

a. The Contractor shall provide for a complete chemical program for the control of 
weeds within all landscaped areas. The program shall provide preventative control 
where required, as well as curative chemical control. The Contractor shall be 
selective in the chemical controls used as to insure against an improper application 
that may cause further damage to turf, trees, or shrubs. The Contractor shall provide 
for the complete safety of the public, residents, and their properties. The Contractor 
shall be responsible for meeting all Colorado State and Environmental Protection 
Agency (EPA) licensing requirements. 

b. The cost of one (1) pre-emergent application to all landscape beds and problem turf 
areas shall be included in the scope. The cost of three (3) post-emergent herbicide 
applications to irrigated turf areas shall be included in the scope. 

c. Non-selective herbicides will be applied as necessary to sidewalk cracks, curb lines, 
and mulch beds. Paved area weed control will be coordinated and approved with 
the District as necessary. 

d. Consistent with industry standards, a buffer area shall be established by chemical 
application around all trees and wooden fence-lines in irrigated turf two (2) times 
during the growing season. The Contractor will be notified if a buffer area is to be 
established by other means. 

e. Turf insect, pests, and disease control shall not be a part of the scope of the contract. 

10. Tree and Shrub Care 

a. Pruning shall be performed consistent with reasonable industry standards to provide 
a well-groomed appearance. Trees and shrubs under ten (10) feet shall be included 
in the scope. 

b. Contractor shall perform esthetic pruning of all deciduous and evergreen shrubs 
within the Premises. Flowering shrubs will be pruned once in fall after blooming. 
Evergreen and non-flowering shrubs shall be pruned two (2) times during the 
growing season. Pruning shall be scheduled and performed pursuant to 
environmental conditions as the Contractor deems necessary in order to provide a 
well-groomed appearance. The Contractor will provide recommendations to the 
District if environmental conditions warrant additional pruning cycles. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-5 

c. Nuisance growth, including suckers, from shrubs and trees shall be pruned as 
needed during the growing season to maintain reasonable access on walkways and 
parking areas. 

d. Trees less than ten (10) feet shall be pruned as needed to maintain sidewalk and 
roadway clearance. 

e. Debris resulting from pruning operations shall be collected and removed by the 
Contractor at the time of pruning. 

f. Structural, renewal, or corrective pruning is not included in the scope of the work. 

g. Dead trees and shrubs shall be removed after notification from the District. This 
work will be billed additionally, outside of the scope of the contract, at the 
Contractor’s hourly rate. 

11. Irrigation Maintenance and Operation 

a. Contractor shall activate the irrigation system in the spring (typically in April), in 
accordance with any governmental restrictions and regulations when the 
environmental conditions allow or when agreed upon by the District and 
Contractor. 

b. Contractor shall inspect the irrigation system to ensure proper operation. Pattern 
adjustments and controller programming will be performed as the Contractor deems 
necessary. Watering schedules shall be set in accordance with governmental 
restrictions and regulations, irrigation system capabilities, and reasonable industry 
standards. 

c. Irrigation system repairs are not included as a part of the annual contract. This 
includes raising or lowering heads, clearing of plugged lines, and replacement of 
broken or missing heads due to circumstances other than those related to the 
services of the Contractor. Additional services that are not included: backflow 
certification, design, irrigation system evaluation, valve location, electrical work, 
and anything that requires digging or excavation. Irrigation system repairs shall be 
performed as agreed upon by the District and Contractor at the contractor’s hourly 
rate plus materials and additional equipment, if required. The Contractor shall 
immediately perform irrigation repairs that do not exceed $2,500 per occurrence. 
In the event that an irrigation system repair is estimated to exceed $2,500, the 
Contractor shall contact the District for approval. 

d. Contractor shall winterize the irrigation system in the fall, in accordance with any 
governmental restrictions and regulations, prior to November 1st or when agreed 
upon by the District and Contractor. 

e. Backflow testing may be requested on an annual basis, outside of the scope of the 
contract. The Contractor shall provide their testing charge per device. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-6 

12. Winter Season Services 

a. Weekly policing of landscaped areas November through March shall be included 
as part of the contract scope. 

b. Monthly site inspections of the Premises November through March are included as 
a part of the contract scope. 

13. Native Grass Area Services 

a. Mowing of irrigated and non-irrigated native grass (i.e. beauty bands) along District 
concrete sidewalks and District soft trails shall be competed on a monthly basis or 
as needed. The concrete sidewalk along the entire length of W. 82nd Avenue 
between Leyden Rock Drive and Culebra Street shall also be included for beauty 
bands. 

b. All native grasses behind all fence lines backing to all District-owned and City of 
Arvada-owned open space tracts of land shall be mowed twice per season in either 
June or early July. Mow buffers shall be at least six (6) feet in width. The cost of 
this service shall be an additional $11,316.11/mow not to exceed $22,632.22 for 
two mows.  

c. Broad leaf weed control within native grass areas is not included as part of the scope 
of the contract. 

14. Trail Maintenance 

a. All concrete, crushed, or dirt trails highlighted in green on the District site maps 
shall be maintained on a weekly basis. In addition to mow bands on a monthly basis 
or as needed as detailed above, trail maintenance shall include weeding and 
regrading or crushed/grey breeze trails as needed. 

b. Any additional trail repairs that may be required shall be outside of the scope of 
this contract and proposed to the District for approval. 

c. All trails highlighted green on the site maps shall be patrolled on a weekly basis for 
trash. All trash shall be collected and removed from the Premises. 

Section 3 – NON INCLUDED SERVICES 

The following services are Non Included Services, and are to be provided by Contractor when 
authorized by the District on a Unit Cost or Hourly Rate basis as agreed to between the Contractor 
and the District. 

1. General 

a. Any services expressly identified elsewhere in the Contract Specifications as Non 
Included Services. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 A-7 

2. Snow Removal 

a. Snow removal services proposals may be provided separately. 

3. Graffiti Removal 

a. Contractor shall report to the District the presence of graffiti on any surfaces in the 
Common Areas, including: walkways and hard surfaces, site furniture, boulders, 
retaining walls, monuments and signage and as promptly as possible following 
receipt of authorization from the District, preferably the same day it is visually 
noted, remove the graffiti. Cost of graffiti removal will be based on the Contractor’s 
hourly rate as well as the cost of materials/supplies. 

4. Landscape and/or Drainage Enhancement Projects 

a. All additional projects/work, including all landscape and drainage enhancement 
projects, must be proposed by the Contractor and approved by the District outside 
of the spoke of the annual contract. 

Section 4 – LANDSCAPE AND FENCE LINE MAPS 

1. All site maps are included herein. 

 



   

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE  

 
The Contractor shall receive an amount not to exceed $196,450 for the landscape maintenance 
services set forth on Exhibit A. Compensation will be paid monthly in the amount of $196,450.00. 
 
 
 
The Contractor and the District may enter into agreements for additional work as approved by the 
District pursuant to written service/work orders executed by an authorized representative of the 
Contractor and the District. the compensation schedule for additional work shall be as detailed on 
written service/work orders executed by an authorized representative of the Contractor and the 
District. 
 
Additional services may be provided separately per work orders on a time and material basis. 



   

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B-1 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



   

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



   

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1249 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
DESIGN REVIEW SERVICES 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and LEE DESIGN GROUP, LLC, 
a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 2 

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i) above, or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this Agreement 
for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 of each 
succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. [INTENTIONALLY DELETED].   

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 
standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 3 

c. [Intentionally Deleted].  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit B 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B-1. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 4 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 
workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 5 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 6 

access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 7 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. [Intentionally Deleted].  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 8 

termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 
non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 9 

and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 
 

  
Contractor: Lee Design Group, LLC 

1905 Country Club Rd. 
Fort Collins, CO 80524 
Attention: Rachel Lee  
Phone: (970) 407-8641 
Email: Rachel@leedesigngrp.com 
 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 10 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 11 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. STANDARD OF CARE.  In providing Services under this Agreement, the 
Contractor shall perform in a manner consistent with that degree of care and skill ordinarily 
exercised by members of the same profession currently practicing under similar circumstances at 
the same time. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 12 

PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Design Review Services 
with  Lee Design Group, LLC, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Design Review 
Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
LEE DESIGN GROUP, LLC, a Colorado 
limited liability company  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Lee Design Group, LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

The Contractor shall review Design Review Applications for residential improvements for 
conformance with the Residential Improvement Guidelines and Site Restrictions for Leyden Rock 
Metropolitan District, as amended. 
 
A written comment report will be prepared for each submittal stating if the Design Review 
Application is approved, approved with conditions, denied, or if additional information is needed. 
The written comment report will be sent via email to the District’s Manager within thirty (30) days 
of receiving the submittal. 
 
The Scope of Services shall not include any AutoCAD drafting, landscape design, grading and 
drainage services, civil engineering, and site/landscape renderings. 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE  

 
Contractor’s rates for the Services described in Exhibit A are as follows:  
 
$55.00 per Design Review Application submittal excluding Design Review Applications for 
custom paint requests.  
$75 per Design Review Application for custom painting submittal.  
  
The above rates include the initial plan review and, if necessary, one subsequent revision review. 
 
Additional consulting services such as neighborhood meetings, board meetings, and homeowner 
site walk-through visits are not included in the above rates and will be billed at an hourly rate of 
$95/hour.



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 B-1 

EXHIBIT B-1 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. If applicable: Contractor shall secure and maintain a third-party fidelity bond in favor of 
the District, covering the Contractor and its employees and agents who may provide or be 
responsible for the provision of Services where such activities contemplate the 
responsibility for money or property of the District.  Such bond shall protect the District 
against any fraudulent or dishonest act which may result in the loss of money, securities, 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 C-2 

or other property belonging to or in the possession of the District.  Said bond shall be in an 
amount as determined by the District, from a surety acceptable to the District. 

5. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

6. Professional liability insurance in the amount of $2,000,000.00 each occurrence. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1234 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 
 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
PET WASTE STATION SERVICES  
      

 
This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 

attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and LONG CORPORATION d/b/a 
POOP 911, a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 2 

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this 
Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 
of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 3 

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 4 

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 5 

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 6 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 7 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 8 

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 9 

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be 
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com  
 

  
With a Copy to: WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 

2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com 
 

  
Contractor: Long Corporation d/b/a/ Poop 911 

2755 S. Locust Street, Suite 220 
Denver, Colorado 80222 
Attention: Jory Long 
Phone: (303) 483-5941 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 10 

Email: [_________________________] 
 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 11 

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 12 

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pet Waste Station Services 
with  Long Corporation d/b/a/ Poop 911, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 



Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pet Waste Station 
Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
LONG CORPORATION d/b/a POOP 911, a 
Colorado corporation  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Long Corporation d/b/a/ 
Poop 911, a Colorado corporation. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

Contractor will perform one of the following services, per visit:  
 

• Inspect and clean pet waste stations three times per week May 1st through September 30th. 
• Inspect and clean pet waste stations twice per week October 1st through April 30th.  

 
1. Pet Waste Stations:  

a. 20 pet waste station locations  
b. 5 dispenser only locations 

2. Large Trash Cans co-located with Pet Waste Stations:  
a. 15 co-located trash cans  

3. Large Trash Cans stand alone: 
a. 1 locations 

4. Additional Repairs completed on an as needed basis: 
a. Labor will be charged at $50 per hour plus parts needed to replace or fix.  

 
NOTE: $10 per roll extra for pet waste bags when added.  
For providing the above services, Contractor will receive the service compensation below.  
 
Three Times per week - $2,060 per month.  
Twice per week - $1,610 per month. 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 C-1 

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1243 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 



 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
POOL GATE MONITOR 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and MILE HIGH POOLS LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are 
referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 2

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of May 24, 2024 hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on September 2, 2024.   

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 
standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 3

District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit B.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit B 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 4

any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B-1. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 
workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 5

and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 6

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 7

Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 8

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 
non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 9

is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District:

With a Copy to: 

Contractor: 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com

Mile High Pools LLC 
7418 Fraser Circler
Frederick CO 80530
Attention: Jenna Hann 
Phone: (303) 552-1601
Email: jenna@milehighpools.com 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 10

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 11

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 12

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



 

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool Gate Monitor 
Services with Mile High Pools LLC, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool Gate Monitor 
Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
MILE HIGH POOLS LLC, a Colorado limited 
liability company  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Mile High Pools LLC, a 
Colorado limited liability company. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Contract for Pool Gate Monitor (referred to as “PGM”) Services for the pool season period of 
Friday, May 24, 2024 (Memorial Day weekend) through Monday, September 2, 2024 (Labor 
Day weekend).  
 

 PGM Schedule & Hours  
o PGM coverage per an estimated schedule of 2,192.0 hours at a rate of $44.00 per 

hour.  
 Scheduled PGM times/hours may be changed if the client wants to do so 

to provide more or less coverage on certain days, as long as the total 
contract hours remain at 2,192.0.  

 The Contractor and the District must plan and prepare for the necessity of 
reduced coverage for the last 3 weeks of the season due to the majority of 
Contractor’s employees returning to school.  

o At the end of every month, the Contractor will audit the PGM hours provided 
(from payroll records) and compare it to what was to be provided per the contract. 
Based on this audit, Contractor will issue a final reconciliation invoice which will 
include the following:  
 Additional hours over the contracted 2,192.0.  
 Not included in the scheduled hours (and price) are PGM arrivals 10-15 

minutes prior to the opening shift to get things ready for the day AND 10-
15 minutes at the end of the day for closing/cleaning duties.  

 These hours are picked up in the audit and will be included to the 
contracted hours total.   

 PGM Obligations/Requirements  
o The Contractor will assure that all PGMs fulfill the following obligations in 

addition to all the other applicable provisions of this contract.  
 Maintain a notebook containing information on PGM procedures and 

policies, along with forms to be completed by daily personnel. Reports are 
to include but are not limited to: 

 Daily Reports  
 Incident Reports  
 Water Chemistry Logs  
 Pool Temperature Logs 
 Hourly Guest Counts  
 Instead of a notebook/binder, an electronic device such as a tablet 

or iPad provided by the District may be used.  
o PGMs will report to the Contractor’s management of any issues that need to be 

relayed to the District such as: 
 Recurrent discipline problems with adults or children.  
 Pool closures, other than routine weather closures.  

o Lane lines & flags:  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 A-2 

 PGMs will be responsible for removing lane lines & flags in the morning 
and installing lane lines & flags at closing.  

o In a coordinated effort with the janitorial personnel, the PGMs will:  
 Inspect restrooms regularly, clean, and restock as needed.  

 Cleaning of the restrooms is the responsibility of the janitorial 
staff, but PGMs will provide cleaning services for smaller messes.  

 Inspect the BBQ area regularly and clean as needed.  
o Cleaning of the BBQ area is the responsibility of the 

janitorial staff, but PGMs will provide cleaning services for 
smaller messes.  

 The Contractor is not responsible for providing all necessary cleaning 
supplies or other restroom supplies.  

o In a coordinated effort with the pool maintenance personnel, the PGM will: 
 Test water balance and advise the Contractor’s management of any 

potential problems.  
 PGMs are not responsible for adding/handling any pool related 

chemicals or preforming pool maintenance.  
 The Contractor will provide chemical testing strips.  

 Keep deck area free from trash and take trash out when needed.  
 Straighten furniture as needed.  

 PGMs will also be responsible for wiping and disinfecting pool 
deck furniture.  

 Skim the pool and clean out skimmer baskets.  
 Scrub pool tiles subject to pool maintenance contractor’s approval. 

 Pool tile cleaner shall be provided by the pool maintenance 
contractor. 

o Enforce all pool rules and set an example by following them.  
 It is understood that PGMs are not Lifeguards and will not be responsible 

for performing rescuing or lifesaving actions in the event of an accident 
within the pool area. PGMs will make every effort to contact Emergency 
Personnel via 911 should the need arise as well as contact the Contractor’s 
management.  

 PGMs are also not law enforcement personnel. In the event any 
community member or guest is threatening another community 
member/guest or are unwilling to follow Leyden Rock Community Pool 
rules, they will be reported to local law enforcement, the Contractor’s 
management, and to the District.  

o Maintain a positive and friendly attitude.  
 Additional PGM Services  

o The Contractor will provide additional PGM hours/services, if requested at least 
ten (10) days in advance, to be invoiced at $39.00 per hour. Additional PGM 
services are contingent on staff availability.  
 PGMs provided for District sponsored events will be invoiced to and paid 

for by the District.  
 Cancellation Due to Global Pandemic, State/City/County Orders or CDC 

Orders/Guidelines (e.g., COVID-19)  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 A-3 

o In the case of a global pandemic, or health orders issued by the state/city or 
county officials, or orders/guidelines issued by the Centers for Disease Control or 
any other situation that causes the pool facility to not be opened for use, this 
contract shall be terminated, and the Client will only be responsible for services 
rendered.  

 Utilities  
o Client will furnish water, electricity, gas, and telephone service for the pool area 

and will be responsible for paying their expense.  
 Access 

o Client will provide the Contractor with 2 keys to each lock in the pool area (e.g., 
equipment room, gate, bathhouse, storage area).  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

COMPENSATION SCHEDULE  

Pool Gate Monitor cost is  $96,448.00  for the season payable as 
follows:  

Due  as prepayment of  Amount  
April 15, 2024  192 hours in May  $8,448.00  
May 15, 2024 720 hours in June  $31,680.00  
June 15, 2024  744 hours in July  $32,736.00  
July 15, 2024 504 hours in August  $22,176.00  
August 15, 2024  32 hours in September  $1,408.00  

TOTAL PAYMENTS  $96,448.00  
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 B-1 

EXHIBIT B-1 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1240 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 

 



 

1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
POOL MAINTENANCE 

      
 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and PEAK ONE POOL & SPA, 
LLC, a Colorado limited liability company (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor 
are referred to herein individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall 
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 2

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof 
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.   

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor 
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any 
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS. 

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and 
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 
standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 3

District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and 
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and 
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with 
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement 
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at 
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES. 

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this 
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 
District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 4

any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th 
of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed. 

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process 
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget.  
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor 
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 
workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 5

and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and 
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.   

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall 
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve 
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 6

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and 
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this 
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor.  
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this 
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or 
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 7

Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.   

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and 
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under 
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no 
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation.  
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 
in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 8

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof, 
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the 
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2, 
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms, 
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 
non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 9

is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District:

With a Copy to: 

Contractor: 

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com

Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC 
1840 Commerce Street 
Boulder, CO 80301 
Attention: Lauren Hengstenberg 
Phone: (970) 418-0767 
Email: peakonepoolandspa@gmail.com 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 10

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of 
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement 
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the 
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be 
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.   

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the 
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to 
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being 
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 
in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 11

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 
the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 12

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



 

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool Maintenance 
Services with  Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Pool Maintenance 
Services with Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC , dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
PEAK ONE POOL & SPA, LLC, a Colorado 
limited liability company  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Peak One Pool & Spa, LLC, 
a Colorado limited liability company. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

Maintenance visit pricing and frequency:  
 Pool service per visit @ 5 days a week    $110.00  
 Weekend visits if necessary - per visit    $120.00  
 Pool Opening 2024 (including drain & pressure wash)  $900.00 
 Pool Closing 2024      $500.00 

 
Service shall include the following:  

 Pool Opening – removing cover/storing cover, fill, install deck equipment and start 
equipment. 

 Pool Closing – draining pool, blowing out lines and plugging, installing cover. 
 Testing water for proper balance using Taylor Test Kit and Langelier Saturation Index  

o Addition of required chemicals to maintain proper water balance to health code 
standards  

o Check water temperature and adjust if necessary  
o Record water chemistry and maintain log  

 Remove visible dirt and debris from water and equipment  
o Skim water surface to remove floating debris  
o Scrub and clean waterline tile as needed  
o Clean skimmer basket(s) and pump basket(s) each visit  
o Daily backwashing  
o Daily vacuum and brush  
o Not to exceed the amount of $7,000 for chemicals unless approved by the property  

 Add water as required to maintain proper levels  
 Inspect deck area and remove excessive debris  
 Inspect equipment for proper operation including pump(s), heater(s), filter(s), chemical 

feeder(s), plumbing and safety equipment  
 
Additional costs:  

 Chemicals, supplies, and repairs are extra costs and will be billed at our current rates.  
 Chemicals and supplies will be delivered as needed. Every body of water is different and 

the amount of chemicals needed for proper maintenance varies greatly between bodies of 
water. Chemical rates can change throughout the season. We are continuously monitoring 
our pricing to supply you with the best product at the best price available.  

 Acceptance of this contract approves any necessary minor repairs (under $500.00) to be 
completed as needed. All major repairs (over $500.00) will be presented in the form of an 
estimate for approval before any work is started.  

 All repairs to the pool be performed exclusively by Contractor for the duration of the 
Agreement. 

 Our current labor rate for repairs is $150.00 per hour.  
 Additional charges for excessive debris due to events, misuse, or weather. If at any time, 

during a regular service visit, cleaning requires Contractor to be onsite for more than 45 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 A-2 

minutes additional time will be charged at our current labor rate of $150.00 per hour in 15-
minute increments. 

 
 
District responsibilities:  

 Provide access to water through a hose or exterior faucet to perform services as required. 
Maintain pool water level and any costs associated. Water will be added with each service 
visit, but it may be insufficient to maintain the proper operating level.  

 
Services not provided:  

 Repairs to fences, decking, gates and/or doors, buildings, storage sheds, furniture, or locks. 
Landscaping, weeding, pruning, planting, cutting or watering of planters, bushes or trees. 
Cleaning or arranging deck furniture or emptying trash cans in pool area unless specified 
in this contract. Regulating usage or maximum bather load, life guarding, security, etc.  

 
Scheduling:  

 Requests to schedule additional cleanings, repairs, openings and closings must be directed 
to the office either by phone or email. Priority scheduling is given to customers with a 
current agreement. Requests to cancel or postpone service must be received by our office 
at least one (1) week before service is scheduled to occur. Cancellations via notes left for 
or handed to technicians or verbal requests to technicians do not constitute a cancellation 
request. Your technician may change without notice and substitute technicians will be used, 
when necessary, without notice. 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 B-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1241 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s website is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s website, https://www.coloradosos.gov/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the 

certificate’s confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate 

is merely optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our website, 

https://www.coloradosos.gov click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

PEAK ONE POOL & SPA, LLC

Limited Liability Company

20081392021

11/13/2023
11/14/2023 12:23:48

11/14/2023 12:23:48
15486006

07/23/2008



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1238 

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
CONTRACT  

 
Name of Contractor/Provider/Consultant: Timberline Mechanical Systems, LLC  
Title of Agreement/Contract: HVAC System Maintenance  
Agreement/Contract Date:  November 20, 2023 
 
 This Contract (this “Agreement”) is made by and between Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, a quasi-
municipal corporation and political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”) and the above-referenced 
contractor, provider, or other consultant (the “Contractor”). 
 
 Introduction. The District and the Contractor desire to enter into this Contract to be effective as of the date 
above. 
 

1. Scope of Services.  The Contractor shall perform the services set forth in Exhibit A (the 
“Services”): (a) in a first-class manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using the degree of skill and knowledge 
customarily employed by other professionals performing similar services; (b) within the time period specified 
in this Agreement; (c) in such a manner as to minimize any annoyance, interference, or disruption to the residents, 
tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District; and (d) in compliance with all applicable federal, state, 
county, and local or municipal statutes, ordinances, and regulations.  
 
 2. Compensation of Services. The District shall provide compensation for the Services provided 
under this Agreement in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  The 
Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement and shall not be entitled 
to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided herein, unless said reimbursement or compensation is 
approved in writing by the District in advance of such expenses being incurred. Exhibit A may take any form.  In 
the event of any conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, the 
terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern. 
 

3. Repairs/Claims.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately, in writing, of any and all 
incidents/accidents which result in injury or property damage.  The Contractor shall promptly repair or, at the 
District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of any damage to District property caused by the Contractor 
or its employees, agents, or equipment. Notwithstanding the foregoing, repairs/claims does not include weather 
worn property damage. Weather worn property damage will be reported by the Contractor to the District but the 
Contractor will not compensate the District for this type of damage.  
 
 4. Independent Contractor.  The Contractor is an independent contractor, and nothing herein shall 
constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees or agents as employees or agents of the District.  
The Contractor is not entitled to workers’ compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits and the 
District will not provide any insurance coverage or employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the 
Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, contractors, agents, or representatives. The Contractor shall have 
full power and authority to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, 
without detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own employees or 
subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained. 
 
 5. Warranty and Permits. The Contractor guarantees and warrants that all workmanship, materials, 
and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the 
“Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The 
Contractor further warrants that the Work will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and the applicable 
building code and all other applicable laws, ordinances, codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental 
authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  The Contractor will immediately correct or replace any Work that 
is defective or not conforming to this Agreement, at its sole expense, to the reasonable satisfaction of the District.  
The Contractor’s guarantees and warranties shall in all cases survive termination of this Agreement.   



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1238 2

  
6.  Contractor’s Insurance.  The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense, 

during the entire term of the Agreement, the following insurance coverage: (i) Standard worker’s compensation 
and employer’s liability insurance covering all employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the 
Services, with policy amounts and coverage in compliance with law; (ii) Commercial General Liability Insurance 
with minimum limits of liability of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property 
damage liability; $2,000,000 designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella; (iii) 
Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired automobiles used in 
connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined 
single limit bodily injury and property damage; and (iv) any other insurance commonly used by contractors for 
services of the type to be performed pursuant to this Agreement.  All coverage provided pursuant to this 
Agreement shall be written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that 
the District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The Commercial 
General Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name the 
District as an additional insured. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve to 
release it from any obligations, nor shall the purchase of the required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s 
liability.  The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 

 
7. Indemnification.  To the extent allowed by law, the Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and 

hold harmless the District and each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants, 
from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, lawsuits, damages, and expenses, 
including legal expenses and attorneys’ fees, arising directly or indirectly out of the errors or omissions, 
negligence, willful misconduct,  or any criminal or tortious act or omission of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees.   The Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District for the 
District’s own negligence.  This indemnification obligation will not be limited in any way by any limitation on 
the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by or for the Contractor under workers’ 
compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit acts.  Such indemnity shall survive the expiration 
or termination of this Agreement.  To the extent the District is or may be obligated to indemnify, defend, or hold 
Contractor harmless under the terms of the Agreement, any such indemnification obligation shall arise only to 
the extent permitted by applicable law and shall be limited solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose 
in accordance with this Agreement.   

 8. Termination.  Either party may terminate this Agreement for cause or for convenience upon ten 
(10) days’ prior written notice to the other party.   If the Agreement is terminated, the District shall compensate the 
Contractor for all Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including reimbursable 
expenses due.  The District shall make this payment in the normal course of business. 

 9. Governing Law / Disputes.  This Agreement and all claims or controversies arising out of or 
relating to this Agreement shall be governed and construed in accordance with the law of the State of Colorado, 
without regard to conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the 
State of Colorado.  Venue for all actions shall be in the District Court in and for the county in which the District is 
located.   
 

10. Subject to Annual Appropriation and Budget.  The District does not intend hereby to create a 
multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever.  The obligations of the District 
under this Agreement are subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and the Contractor expressly understands 
and agrees that the decision whether or not to budget and appropriate funds is within the discretion of the 
District’s governing body, and the obligations of the District shall extend only to monies appropriated for the 
purposes of this Agreement and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  The District and Contractor understand and intend that the 
District’s obligation to make payments and pay other amounts due under the Agreement shall constitute a current 
expense and shall not in any way be construed to be a debt in contravention of any applicable constitutional or 
statutory limitations or requirements. 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1238 3

 
 11. Governmental Immunity.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to waive, limit, or 
otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be available by law to the District, 
its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any other person acting on behalf of the District 
and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or available to the District pursuant to the §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S. 
  
 12. Remedies.  To the extent the Contractor’s remedies for a District default under the Agreement 
include any right to accelerate amounts to become due under the Agreement, such acceleration shall be limited 
solely to sums lawfully appropriated for such purpose and shall further be limited to amounts to become due 
during the District’s then-current fiscal period.  
 

13. Negotiated Provisions.  This Agreement shall not be construed more strictly against one party 
than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been prepared by counsel for one of the 
parties, it being acknowledged that each party has contributed substantially and materially to the preparation of 
this Agreement. 
 

14. Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of competent 
jurisdiction to be void or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the validity of any remaining portion, 
which shall remain in full force and effect.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable provision, there 
shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms to such illegal, invalid, or 
unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, valid, and enforceable. 

 
15.   Miscellaneous.   This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with 

respect to the matters addressed herein, and shall supersede all prior oral or written negotiations, understandings, 
and commitments. 
 

16. Counterpart Execution.  This Agreement may be executed in several counterparts, each of 
which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.  
Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be 
deemed originals and binding upon the signatories hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original 
for all purposes, including the rules of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 
 
By the signature of its representative below, each party affirms that it has taken all necessary action to authorize 
said representative to execute this Agreement.   
 

District: 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
  
Name: ______________________________ 
 
Title:  ______________________________ 

Contractor: 
 
By:  ________________________________ 
  
Name: ______________________________ 
   
Title:  _______________________________ 

 
 



 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Services/Compensation Schedule 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1238 5



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1238 6



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1238 7

 



1237.4200; PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 

INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT 
NOXIOUS WEED AND PEST CONTROL SERVICES 

This INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, including any and all exhibits 
attached hereto (the “Agreement”), is entered into as of the 20th day of November 2023, by and 
between LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado (the “District”), and WEED WRANGLERS, INC., 
a Colorado corporation (the “Contractor”).  The District and the Contractor are referred to herein 
individually as a “Party” and collectively as the “Parties.” 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, the District was organized pursuant to and in accordance with the provisions 
of §§ 32-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. for the purpose of constructing, financing, operating, and 
maintaining certain public facilities and improvements for itself, its taxpayers, residents, and users; 
and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(d)(I), C.R.S., the District is empowered to enter 
into contracts and agreements affecting the affairs of the District; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to § 32-1-1001(1)(i), C.R.S., the District is empowered to appoint, 
hire, and retain agents, employees, engineers, and attorneys; and 

WHEREAS, the District desires to engage the Contractor to perform certain services as are 
needed by the District to serve the property within and without its boundaries; and 

WHEREAS, the Contractor has represented that it has the professional experience, skill, 
and resources to perform the services, as set forth herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and stipulations set forth 
herein, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties hereto agree as 
follows: 

TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

1. SCOPE OF SERVICES; PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.  The Contractor shall
perform the services described in Exhibit A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this 
reference (the “Services”): (a) in a professional manner, to the satisfaction of the District, using 
the degree of skill and knowledge customarily employed by other professionals performing similar 
services; (b) within the time period and pursuant to the Scope of Services specified in said Exhibit 
A; and (c) using reasonable commercial efforts to minimize any annoyance, interference, or 
disruption to the residents, tenants, occupants, and invitees within the District.  Exhibit A may 
take any form, including forms which may include price and payment terms.  In the event of any 
conflict between terms set forth in the body of this Agreement and terms set forth in Exhibit A, 
the terms in the body of this Agreement shall govern.  Contractor shall have no right or authority, 
express or implied, to take any action, expend any sum, incur any obligation, or otherwise obligate 
the District in any manner whatsoever, except to the extent specifically provided in this Agreement 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 2

(including Exhibit A) or through other authorization expressly delegated to or authorized by the 
District through its Board of Directors. 

2. TERM/RENEWAL.  This Agreement shall be effective as of the dated date hereof
and shall terminate on the earlier to occur of: (i) termination pursuant to Section 18 hereof; or (ii) 
midnight on December 31, 2024.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless terminated pursuant to 
subsection (i) or (ii) above, or unless the District determines not to appropriate funds for this 
Agreement for the next succeeding year, this Agreement shall automatically renew on January 1 
of each succeeding year for an additional one (1) year term. 

3. ADDITIONAL SERVICES.  The District may, in writing, request the Contractor
provide additional services not set forth in Exhibit A.  The terms and conditions of the provision 
of such services shall be subject to the mutual agreement of the Contractor and the District pursuant 
to a written service/work order executed by an authorized representative of the District and the 
Contractor or an addendum to this Agreement.  Authorization to proceed with additional services 
shall not be given unless the District has appropriated funds sufficient to cover the additional 
compensable amount.  To the extent additional services are provided pursuant to this Section 3, 
the terms and conditions of this Agreement relating to Services shall also apply to any additional 
services rendered. 

4. REPAIRS/CLAIMS.  The Contractor shall notify the District immediately of any
and all damage caused by the Contractor to District property and that of third parties.  The 
Contractor will promptly repair or, at the District’s option, reimburse the District for the repair of 
any damage to property caused by the Contractor or its employees, agents, or equipment.  In 
addition, the Contractor shall promptly notify the District of all potential claims of which it 
becomes aware.  The Contractor further agrees to take all reasonable steps to preserve all physical 
evidence and information, which may be relevant to the circumstances surrounding a potential 
claim, while maintaining public safety, and to grant to the District the opportunity to review and 
inspect such evidence, including the scene of any damage or accidents.  The Contractor shall be 
responsible for initiating, maintaining, and supervising all safety precautions and programs in 
connection with the Services and shall provide all reasonable protection to prevent damage or 
injury to persons and property, including any material and equipment related to the Services, 
whether in storage on or off site, under the care, custody, or control of the Contractor or any of its 
subcontractors. 

5. GENERAL PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.

a. The Contractor has by careful examination ascertained: (i) the nature and
location of the Services; (ii) the configuration of the ground on which the Services are to be 
performed; (iii) the character, quality, and quantity of the labor, materials, equipment, and facilities 
necessary to complete the Services; (iv) the general and local conditions pertaining to the Services; 
and (v) all other matters which in any way may affect the performance of the Services by the 
Contractor.  Contractor enters into this Agreement solely because of the results of such 
examination and not because of any representations pertaining to the Services or the provision 
thereof made to it by the District or any agent of the District and not contained in this Agreement.  
The Contractor represents that it has or shall acquire the capacity and the professional experience 
and skill to perform the Services and that the Services shall be performed in accordance with the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 3

standards of care, skill, and diligence provided by competent professionals who perform services 
of a similar nature to those specified in this Agreement.  If competent professionals find that the 
Contractor’s performance of the Services does not meet this standard, the Contractor shall, at the 
District’s request, re-perform the Services not meeting this standard without additional 
compensation.   

b. The Contractor shall use reasonable commercial efforts to perform and
complete the Services in a timely manner.  If performance of the Services by the Contractor is 
delayed due to factors beyond the Contractor’s reasonable control, or if conditions of the scope or 
type of services are expected to change, Contractor shall give prompt notice to the District of such 
a delay or change and receive an equitable adjustment of time and/or compensation, as negotiated 
between the Parties. 

c. The Services provided under this Agreement shall be adequate and
sufficient for the intended purposes and shall be completed in a good and workmanlike manner.  

d. The Contractor agrees that it has complied and will continue to comply with
all Laws while providing Services under this Agreement.  “Laws” means: (i) federal, state, county, 
and local or municipal body or agency laws, statutes, ordinances, and regulations; (ii) any 
licensing, bonding, and permit requirements; (iii) any laws relating to storage, use, or disposal of 
hazardous wastes, substances, or materials; (iv) rules, regulations, ordinances, and/or similar 
directives regarding business permits, certificates, and licenses; (v) regulations and orders 
affecting safety and health, including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Act of 
1970; (vi) Wage and Hour laws, Worker Compensation laws, and immigration laws; and (vii) rules 
and regulations of the Colorado Department of Public Health and Environment..    

e. The responsibilities and obligations of the Contractor under this Agreement
shall not be relieved or affected in any respect by the presence of any agent, consultant, sub-
consultant, or employee of the District.  Review, acceptance, or approval by the District of the 
Services performed or any documents prepared by the Contractor shall not relieve the Contractor 
of any responsibility for deficiencies, omissions, or errors in said Services or documents, nor shall 
it be construed to operate as a waiver of any rights under this Agreement or of any cause of action 
arising out of the performance of this Agreement. 

6. MONTHLY STATUS REPORT.  The Contractor shall provide to the District, at
the District’s request, on or before the 25th of each month, a narrative progress and status report 
describing work in progress and results achieved during the reporting period, including a 
description of the Services performed during the invoice period and the Services anticipated to be 
performed during the ensuing invoice period (“Monthly Report”).  

7. COMPENSATION AND INVOICES.

a. Compensation.  Compensation for the Services provided under this
Agreement shall be in accordance with the compensation schedule attached hereto as Exhibit A.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for all expenses it incurs in performance of this Agreement 
and shall not be entitled to any reimbursement or compensation except as provided in Exhibit A 
of this Agreement, unless said reimbursement or compensation is approved in writing by the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 4

District in advance of incurring such expenses.  Any direct reimbursable costs for materials will 
be reimbursable at the Contractor’s actual cost, provided that the Contractor shall make a 
reasonable attempt to notify the District of the estimated amount of such reimbursable costs (or 
any material adjustments thereto subsequently identified) prior to commencing the requested 
services.  Concurrent with the execution of this Agreement, the Contractor shall provide the 
District with a current completed Internal Revenue Service Form W-9 (Request for Taxpayer 
Identification Number and Certification) (“W-9”).  No payments will be made to the Contractor 
until the completed W-9 is provided.  The W-9 shall be attached hereto and incorporated herein as 
Exhibit B. 

b. Invoices.  Invoices for the Services shall be submitted monthly, by the 10th

of each month, during the term of this Agreement and shall contain the following information: 

i. An itemized statement of the Services performed.

ii. Any other reasonable information required by the District to process
payment of the invoice, including project and/or cost codes as provided in any applicable written 
service/work order. 

The District shall be charged only for the actual time and direct costs 
incurred for the performance of the Services.  Invoices received by the District after the 10th of 
each month may be processed the following month. 

8. TIME FOR PAYMENT.  Payment for the Services shall be made by the District
within thirty (30) days of receipt of: (i) a timely, satisfactory, and detailed invoice in the form 
required by Section 7; and (ii) if applicable, a reasonably satisfactory and detailed Monthly Report, 
for that portion of the Services performed and not previously billed.  The District may determine 
to waive or extend the deadline for filing the Monthly Report, or may make payment for Services 
to the Contractor notwithstanding a delay in filing the Monthly Report, upon reasonable request 
of the Contractor, if it is in the interest of the District to do so.  In the event a Board meeting is not 
scheduled in time to review payment of an invoice, the Board hereby authorizes payment for 
Services, subject to the appropriation and budget requirements under Section 27 hereof, without 
the need for additional Board approval, so long as any payment required to be made does not 
exceed the amounts appropriated for such Services as set forth in the District’s approved budget. 
Such payment shall require review and approval of each Monthly Report and invoice by two 
officers of the District. 

9. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  The Contractor is an independent contractor
and nothing in this Agreement shall constitute or designate the Contractor or any of its employees 
or agents as employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor shall have full power and authority 
to select the means, manner, and method of performing its duties under this Agreement, without 
detailed control or direction from the District, and shall be responsible for supervising its own 
employees or subcontractors.  The District is concerned only with the results to be obtained.  The 
District shall not be obligated to secure, and shall not provide, any insurance coverage or 
employment benefits of any kind or type to or for the Contractor or its employees, sub-consultants, 
contractors, agents, or representatives, including coverage or benefits related but not limited to: 
local, state or federal income, or other tax contributions, insurance contributions (e.g. FICA taxes), 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 5

workers’ compensation, disability, injury, health or life insurance, professional liability insurance, 
errors and omissions insurance, vacation or sick-time benefits, retirement account contributions, 
or any other form of taxes, benefits, or insurance.  The Contractor shall be responsible for its safety, 
and the safety of its employees, sub-contractors, agents, and representatives.  All personnel 
furnished by the Contractor will be deemed employees or sub-contractors of the Contractor and 
will not for any purpose be considered employees or agents of the District.  The Contractor is 
not entitled to worker’s compensation benefits or unemployment insurance benefits, unless 
unemployment compensation coverage is provided by the Contractor or some other entity 
other than the District, and the Contractor is obligated to pay federal and state income taxes 
on moneys by it earned pursuant to this Agreement.   

10. EQUAL OPPORTUNITY.  This Agreement is subject to all applicable laws and
executive orders relating to equal opportunity and non-discrimination in employment and the 
Contractor represents and warrants that it will not discriminate in its employment practices in 
violation of any such applicable law or executive order. 

11. CONTRACTOR’S INSURANCE.

a. The Contractor shall acquire and maintain, at its sole cost and expense,
during the entire term of this Agreement, insurance coverage in the minimum amounts set forth in 
Exhibit C, attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference.  A waiver of subrogation and 
rights of recovery against the District, its directors, officers, employees, and agents is required for 
Commercial General Liability and workers’ compensation coverage.  The Commercial General 
Liability and Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance policies will be endorsed to name 
the District as an additional insured.  All coverage provided pursuant to this Agreement shall be 
written as primary policies, not contributing with and not supplemental to any coverage that the 
District may carry, and any insurance maintained by the District shall be considered excess.  The 
District shall have the right to verify or confirm, at any time, all coverage, information, or 
representations contained in this Agreement. 

b. Prior to commencing any work under this Agreement, the Contractor shall
provide the District with a certificate or certificates evidencing the policies required by this 
Agreement, as well as the amounts of coverage for the respective types of coverage, which 
certificate(s) shall be attached hereto as Exhibit C-1.  If the Contractor subcontracts any portion(s) 
of the Services, said subcontractor(s) shall be required to furnish certificates evidencing statutory 
workers’ compensation insurance, comprehensive general liability insurance, and automobile 
liability insurance in amounts satisfactory to the District and the Contractor; provided, however, 
that sub-contractors of the Contractor shall not be required by the District to provide coverage in 
excess of that which is required hereunder of the Contractor.  If the coverage required expires 
during the term of this Agreement, the Contractor or subcontractor shall provide replacement 
certificate(s) evidencing the continuation of the required policies. 

c. The Contractor’s failure to purchase the required insurance shall not serve
to release it from any obligations contained in this Agreement, nor shall the purchase of the 
required insurance serve to limit the Contractor’s liability under any provision in this Agreement.  
The Contractor shall be responsible for the payment of any deductibles on issued policies. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 6

12. CONFIDENTIALITY AND CONFLICTS.

a. Confidentiality.  Any information deemed confidential by the District and
given to the Contractor by the District, or developed by the Contractor as a result of the 
performance of a particular task, shall remain confidential.  In addition, the Contractor shall hold 
in strict confidence, and shall not use in competition, any information which the Contractor 
becomes aware of under or by virtue of this Agreement which the District deems confidential, or 
which the District has agreed to hold confidential, or which, if revealed to a third party, would 
reasonably be construed to be contrary to the interests of the District.  Confidential information 
shall not include, however, any information which is: (i) generally known to the public at the time 
provided to the Contractor; (ii) provided to the Contractor by a person or entity not bound by 
confidentiality to the District; or (iii) independently developed by the Contractor without use of 
the District’s confidential information.  During the performance of this Agreement, if the 
Contractor is notified that certain information is to be considered confidential, the Contractor 
agrees to enter into a confidentiality agreement in a form reasonably acceptable to the District and 
the Contractor.  The Contractor agrees that any of its employees, agents, or subcontractors with 
access to any information designated thereunder as confidential information of the District shall 
agree to be bound by the terms of such confidentiality agreement. 

b. Personal Identifying Information.  During the performance of this
Agreement, the District may disclose Personal Identifying Information to the Contractor. 
“Personal Identifying Information” means a social security number; a personal identification 
number; a password; a pass code; an official state or government-issued driver’s license or 
identification card number; a government passport number; biometric data, as defined in § 24-73-
103(1)(a), C.R.S.; an employer, student, or military identification number; or a financial 
transaction device, as defined in § 18-5-701(3), C.R.S.  In compliance with § 24-73-102, C.R.S., 
the Contractor agrees to implement and maintain reasonable security procedures and practices that 
are: (i) appropriate to the nature of the Personal Identifying Information disclosed to the 
Contractor; and (ii) reasonably designed to help protect the Personal Identifying Information from 
unauthorized access, use, modification, disclosure, or destruction. 

c. Conflicts.  Prior to the execution of, and during the performance of this
Agreement and prior to the execution of future agreements with the District, the Contractor agrees 
to notify the District of conflicts known to the Contractor that impact the Contractor’s provision 
of Services to the District.   

13. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS.  All documents produced by or on behalf of the
Contractor prepared pursuant to this Agreement, including, but not limited to, all maps, plans, 
drawings, specifications, reports, electronic files, and other documents, in whatever form, shall 
remain the property of the District under all circumstances, upon payment to the Contractor of the 
invoices representing the work by which such materials were produced.  At the District’s request 
the Contractor will provide the District with all documents produced by or on behalf of the 
Contractor pursuant to this Agreement.  The Contractor shall maintain electronic and reproducible 
copies on file of any such instruments of service involved in the Services for a period of two (2) 
years after termination of this Agreement, shall make them available for the District’s use and shall 
provide such copies to the District upon request at no cost. 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 7

14. LIENS AND ENCUMBRANCES.  The Contractor shall not have any right or
interest in any District assets, or any claim or lien with respect thereto, arising out of this 
Agreement or the performance of the Services contemplated in this Agreement.  The Contractor, 
for itself, hereby waives and releases any and all statutory or common law mechanic’s, 
materialmen’s, or other such lien claims, or rights to place a lien upon the District’s property or 
any improvements thereon in connection with any Services performed under or in connection with 
this Agreement, and the Contractor shall cause all permitted subcontractors, suppliers, 
materialmen, and others claiming by, through, or under the Contractor to execute similar waivers 
prior to commencing any work or providing any materials in connection with the Services.  The 
Contractor further agrees to execute a sworn affidavit respecting the payment and lien releases of 
all subcontractors, suppliers, and materialmen, and release of lien respecting the Services at such 
time or times and in such form as may be reasonably requested by the District.  The Contractor 
will provide indemnification against all such liens for labor performed and/or materials supplied 
or used by the Contractor and/or any other person in connection with the Services undertaken by 
the Contractor, in accordance with Section 15, below. 

15. INDEMNIFICATION.

a. The Contractor shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the District and
each of its directors, officers, contractors, employees, agents, and consultants (collectively, the 
“District Indemnitees”), from and against any and all claims, demands, losses, liabilities, actions, 
lawsuits, damages, and expenses (the “Claims”), including reasonable legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees actually incurred, by the District Indemnitees arising directly or indirectly, in whole 
or in part, out of the errors or omissions, negligence, willful misconduct, or any criminal or tortious 
act or omission of the Contractor or any of its subcontractors, officers, agents, or employees, in 
connection with this Agreement and/or the Contractor’s performance of the Services or work 
pursuant to this Agreement.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement or otherwise to the 
contrary, the Contractor is not obligated to indemnify the District Indemnitees for the negligence 
of the District or the negligence of any other District Indemnitee, except the Contractor.  Except 
as otherwise provided by applicable law, this indemnification obligation will not be limited in any 
way by any limitation on the amount or types of damages, compensation, or benefits payable by 
or for the Contractor under workers’ compensation acts, disability acts, or other employee benefit 
acts, provided that in no event shall the Contractor be liable for special/consequential or punitive 
damages. 

b. In the event the Contractor fails to assume the defense of any Claims under
this Section 15 within fifteen (15) days after notice from the District of the existence of such Claim, 
the District may assume the defense of the Claim with counsel of its own selection, and the 
Contractor will pay all reasonable expenses of such counsel.  Insurance coverage requirements 
specified in this Agreement shall in no way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the 
terms of this indemnification obligation.  

c. Insurance coverage requirements specified in this Agreement shall in no
way lessen or limit the liability of the Contractor under the terms of this indemnification obligation. 
The Contractor shall obtain, at its own expense, any additional insurance that it deems necessary 
with respect to its obligations under this Agreement, including the indemnity obligations set forth 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 8

in Section 15.  This defense and indemnification obligation shall survive the expiration or 
termination of this Agreement.   

16. ASSIGNMENT.  The Contractor shall not assign this Agreement or parts thereof,
or its respective duties, without the express written consent of the District.  Any attempted 
assignment of this Agreement in whole or in part with respect to which the District has not 
consented, in writing, shall be null and void and of no effect whatsoever. 

17. SUB-CONTRACTORS.  The Contractor is solely and fully responsible to the
District for the performance of all Services in accordance with the terms set forth in this 
Agreement, whether performed by the Contractor or a subcontractor engaged by the Contractor, 
and neither the District’s approval of any subcontractor, suppliers, or materialman, nor the failure 
of performance thereof by such persons or entities, will relieve, release, or affect in any manner 
the Contractor’s duties, liabilities, or obligations under this Agreement .  The Contractor shall not 
subcontract any Services without prior written approval by the District.  The Contractor agrees 
that each and every agreement of the Contractor with any subcontractor to perform Services under 
this Agreement shall contain an indemnification provision identical to the one contained in this 
Agreement holding the District harmless for the acts of the subcontractor.  Prior to commencing 
any Services, a subcontractor shall provide evidence of insurance coverage to the District in 
accordance with the requirements of this Agreement.  The Contractor further agrees that all such 
subcontracts shall provide that they may be terminated immediately without cost or penalty upon 
termination of this Agreement, other than payment for services rendered prior to the date of any 
such termination.  

18. TERMINATION.  In addition to the termination provisions contained in Section 2,
above, this Agreement may be terminated for convenience by the Contractor upon delivery of 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to the District and by the District by giving the Contractor 
thirty (30) days’ prior written notice.  Each Party may terminate this Agreement for cause at any 
time upon written notice to the other Party setting forth the cause for termination and the notified 
Party’s failure to cure the cause to the reasonable satisfaction of the Party given such notice within 
the cure period set forth in Section 19.  If this Agreement is terminated, the Contractor shall be 
paid for all the Services satisfactorily performed prior to the designated termination date, including 
reimbursable expenses due.  Said payment shall be made in the normal course of business.  Should 
either Party to this Agreement be declared bankrupt, make a general assignment for the benefit of 
creditors, or commit a substantial and material breach of this Agreement in the view of the other 
Party, said other Party shall be excused from rendering or accepting any further performance under 
this Agreement.  In the event of termination of this Agreement, the Contractor shall cooperate with 
the District to ensure a timely and efficient transition of all work and work product to the District 
or its designees.  All time, fees, and costs associated with such transition shall not be billed by the 
Contractor to the District.   

19. DEFAULT.  If either Party fails to perform in accordance with the terms,
covenants, and conditions of this Agreement, or is otherwise in default of any of the terms of this 
Agreement, the non-defaulting party shall deliver written notice to the defaulting party of the 
default, at the address specified in Section 20 below, and the defaulting party will have ten (10) 
days from and after receipt of the notice to cure the default.  If the default is not of a type which 
can be cured within such ten (10)-day period and the defaulting party gives written notice to the 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 9

non-defaulting party within such ten (10)-day period that it is actively and diligently pursuing a 
cure, the defaulting party will have a reasonable period of time given the nature of the default 
following the end of the ten (10)-day period to cure the default, provided that the defaulting party 
is at all times within the additional time period actively and diligently pursuing the cure.  If any 
default under this Agreement is not cured as described above, the non-defaulting party will, in 
addition to any other legal or equitable remedy, have the right to terminate this Agreement and 
enforce the defaulting party’s obligations pursuant to this Agreement by an action for injunction 
or specific performance. 

20. NOTICES.  Any notice or communication required under this Agreement must be
in writing, and may be given personally, sent via nationally recognized overnight carrier service, 
or by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested.  If given by registered or certified mail, 
the same will be deemed to have been given and received on the first to occur of: (i) actual receipt 
by any of the addressees designated below as the party to whom notices are to be sent; or (ii) three 
days after a registered or certified letter containing such notice, properly addressed, with postage 
prepaid, is deposited in the United States mail.  If personally delivered or sent via nationally 
recognized overnight carrier service, a notice will be deemed to have been given and received on 
the first to occur of: (i) one business day after being deposited with a nationally recognized 
overnight air courier service; or (ii) delivery to the party to whom it is addressed.  Any party hereto 
may at any time, by giving written notice to the other party hereto as provided in this Section 20 
of this Agreement, designate additional persons to whom notices or communications will be given, 
and designate any other address in substitution of the address to which such notice or 
communication will be given.  Such notices or communications will be given to the parties at their 
addresses set forth below:  

District:

With a Copy to: 

Contractor:

Leyden Rock Metropolitan District 
c/o Advance HOA Management 
17865 W. 83rd Drive 
Arvada, CO 80007 
Attention: Katie Call 
Phone: (303) 482-2213 x 360 
Email: katie.call@advancehoa.com 

WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
2154 E. Commons Ave., Suite 2000 
Centennial, CO  80122 
Attention: Megan J. Murphy, Esq. 
Phone: (303) 858-1800 
E-mail: mmurphy@wbapc.com

WranWeed glers, Inc.
6333 S. Santa Fe Drive, Unit A-1 
Littleton, Colorado 80120 
Attention: Clint Cotterer
Phone: (303) 798-4090 



1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 10

Email: ww@weedwrangler.com 

21. AUDITS.  The District shall have the right to audit, with reasonable notice,  any of
the Contractor’s books and records solely as are necessary to substantiate any invoices and 
payments under this Agreement (including, but not limited to, receipts, time sheets, payroll, and 
personnel records) and the Contractor agrees to maintain adequate books and records for such 
purposes during the term of this Agreement and for a period of two (2) years after termination of 
this Agreement and to make the same available to the District at all reasonable times and for so 
long thereafter as there may remain any unresolved question or dispute regarding any item 
pertaining thereto.  

22. ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement
between the Parties hereto relating to the Services, and sets forth the rights, duties, and obligations 
of each to the other as of this date, and hereby supersedes any and all prior negotiations, 
representations, agreements, or arrangements of any kind with respect to the Services, whether 
written or oral.  Any prior agreements, promises, negotiations, or representations not expressly set 
forth in this Agreement are of no force and effect.  This Agreement may not be modified except 
by a writing executed by both the Contractor and the District.   

23. BINDING AGREEMENT.  This Agreement shall inure to and be binding on the
heirs, executors, administrators, successors, and assigns of the Parties hereto. 

24. NO WAIVER.  No waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement shall be
deemed to constitute a waiver of any other of the provisions of this Agreement, nor shall such 
waiver constitute a continuing waiver unless otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, nor 
shall the waiver of any default be deemed a waiver of any subsequent default. 

25. GOVERNING LAW.

a. Venue.  Venue for all actions arising from this Agreement shall be in the
District Court in and for the county in which the District is located.  The Parties expressly and 
irrevocably waive any objections or rights which may affect venue of any such action, including, 
but not limited to, forum non-conveniens or otherwise.  At the District’s request, the Contractor 
shall carry on its duties and obligations under this Agreement during any legal proceedings and 
the District shall continue to pay for the Services performed under this Agreement until and unless 
this Agreement is otherwise terminated.  

b. Choice of Law. Colorado law shall apply to any dispute, without regard to
conflict of law principles that would result in the application of any law other than the law of the State 
of Colorado. 

c. Litigation.  At the District’s request, the Contractor will consent to being
joined in litigation between the District and third parties, but such consent shall not be construed 
as an admission of fault or liability.  The Contractor shall not be responsible for delays in the 
performance of the Services caused by factors beyond its reasonable control including delays 
caused by Act of God, accidents, failure of any governmental or other regulatory authority to act 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 11

in a timely manner, or failure of the District to furnish timely information or to approve or 
disapprove of Contractor’s Services in a timely manner.  

26. GOOD FAITH OF PARTIES.  In the performance of this Agreement, or in 
considering any requested approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time, the Parties agree 
that each will act in good faith and will not act unreasonably, arbitrarily, capriciously, or 
unreasonably withhold, condition, or delay any approval, acceptance, consent, or extension of time 
required or requested pursuant to this Agreement. 

27. SUBJECT TO ANNUAL APPROPRIATION AND BUDGET.  The District does 
not intend hereby to create a multiple-fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation 
whatsoever.  The Contractor expressly understands and agrees that the District’s obligations under 
this Agreement shall extend only to monies appropriated for the purposes of this Agreement by 
the Board and shall not constitute a mandatory charge, requirement, or liability in any ensuing 
fiscal year beyond the then-current fiscal year.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed 
or interpreted as a delegation of governmental powers by the District, or as creating a multiple-
fiscal year direct or indirect debt or other financial obligation whatsoever of the District or statutory 
debt limitation, including, without limitation, Article X, Section 20 or Article XI, Section 6 of the 
Constitution of the State of Colorado.  No provision of this Agreement shall be construed to pledge 
or to create a lien on any class or source of District funds.  The District’s obligations under this 
Agreement exist subject to annual budgeting and appropriations, and shall remain subject to the 
same for the entire term of this Agreement. 

28. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY.  Nothing in this Agreement shall be construed 
to waive, limit, or otherwise modify, in whole or in part, any governmental immunity that may be 
available by law to the District, its respective officials, employees, contractors, or agents, or any 
other person acting on behalf of the District and, in particular, governmental immunity afforded or 
available to the District pursuant to the Colorado Governmental Immunity Act, §§ 24-10-101, et 
seq., C.R.S.  

29. NEGOTIATED PROVISIONS.  This Agreement shall not be construed more 
strictly against one Party than against the other merely by virtue of the fact that it may have been 
prepared by counsel for one of the Parties, it being acknowledged that each Party has contributed 
to the preparation of this Agreement. 

30. SEVERABILITY.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared by any court of 
competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of any other portion of this Agreement which shall remain in full force and effect, the 
intention being that such portions are severable.  In addition, in lieu of such void or unenforceable 
provision, there shall automatically be added as part of this Agreement a provision similar in terms 
to such illegal, invalid, or unenforceable provision so that the resulting reformed provision is legal, 
valid, and enforceable. 

31. NO THIRD-PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  It is expressly understood and agreed that 
enforcement of the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and all rights of action relating to such 
enforcement, shall be strictly reserved to the Parties and nothing contained in this Agreement shall 
give or allow any such claim or right of action by any other third party on such Agreement.  It is 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 12

the express intention of the Parties that any person other than Parties receiving services or benefits 
under this Agreement shall be deemed to be an incidental beneficiary only. 

32. OPEN RECORDS.  The Parties understand that all material provided or produced 
under this Agreement may be subject to the Colorado Open Records Act, §§ 24-72-202, et seq., 
C.R.S.  

33. WARRANTY.  The Contractor shall and does by this Agreement guarantee and 
warrant that all workmanship, materials, and equipment furnished, installed, or performed for the 
accomplishment of the Services (collectively, the “Work”) will be of good quality and new, unless 
otherwise required or permitted by this Agreement.  The Contractor further warrants that the Work 
will conform to all requirements of this Agreement and all other applicable laws, ordinances, 
codes, rules, and regulations of any governmental authorities having jurisdiction over the Work.  
All Services are subject to the satisfaction and acceptance of the District, but payments for the 
completed Work will not constitute final acceptance nor discharge the obligation of the Contractor 
to correct defects at a later date.  Such warranties set forth in this Agreement are in addition to, 
and not in lieu of, any other warranties prescribed by Colorado law. 

34. TAX EXEMPT STATUS.  The District is exempt from Colorado state sales and 
use taxes.  Accordingly, taxes from which the District is exempt shall not be included in any 
invoices submitted to the District.  The District shall, upon request, furnish Contractor with a copy 
of its certificate of tax exemption.  Contractor and subcontractors shall apply to the Colorado 
Department of Revenue, Sales Tax Division, for an Exemption Certificate and purchase materials 
tax free.  The Contractor and subcontractors shall be liable for exempt taxes paid due to failure to 
apply for Exemption Certificates or for failure to use said certificate. 

35. COUNTERPART EXECUTION.  This Agreement may be executed in several 
counterparts, each of which may be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute 
one and the same instrument.  Executed copies hereof may be delivered by facsimile or email of a 
PDF document, and, upon receipt, shall be deemed originals and binding upon the signatories 
hereto, and shall have the full force and effect of the original for all purposes, including the rules 
of evidence applicable to court proceedings. 

[Signature pages follow]. 



 

District’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Weed and Pest Control 
Services with  Weed Wranglers, Inc., dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 13 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement on the date first 
above written.  By the signature of its representative below, each Party affirms that it has taken all 
necessary action to authorize said representative to execute this Agreement. 

DISTRICT: 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado 
 

 
Officer of the District 

 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 

 
General Counsel for the District 
 



 

Contractor’s Signature Page to Independent Contractor Agreement for Noxious Weed and 
Pest Control Services with Leyden Rock Metropolitan District, dated November 20, 2023 

 
1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 14 

CONTRACTOR: 
WEED WRANGLERS, INC., a Colorado 
corporation  
 

 
 
 
Printed Name 
 
Title 

 
 
STATE OF COLORADO )  
 ) ss. 
COUNTY OF ______________________ )  

 
The foregoing instrument was acknowledged before me this _____ day of __________ 

2023, by ____________________, as the ____________________ of Weed Wranglers, Inc., a 
Colorado corporation. 

Witness my hand and official seal. 

My commission expires:   
  
  
  
 Notary Public 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 A-1 

EXHIBIT A 

SCOPE OF SERVICES/COMPENSATION SCHEDULE 

The Contractor shall provide noxious weed control and pest control services at the following rates: 
 
2024 pricing for herbicide application will be: 

 $132/man hour for labor and equipment; and 

 $68/sprayed acre for materials. 

The total budget to provide weed management for the defined areas will not exceed $73,500,  
which the Contractor anticipates will be equally divided over seven months beginning mid-March 
and ending mid-October. The exact distribution of services may vary due to weather conditions, 
especially early and late in the season. 
 
2024 budget for prairie dog control will be: 

 $4,500 in January/February; and 

 $4,500 in late fall. 

Herbicide application will be provided several days each month. Information on application dates, 
areas treated, and products applied will be provided upon request. Yellow “pesticide applied” flags 
will be posted as law requires. Invoices will be submitted monthly. 
 
Pesticide applicator certifications and certificates of insurance are attached. 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 B-1-1 

EXHIBIT B 

CONTRACTOR’S COMPLETED W-9 

 
 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 C-1

EXHIBIT C 

INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

 
NOTE: All insurance required and provided hereunder shall also comply with the provisions of 
Section 11 of this Agreement. 
 
1. Standard Worker’s Compensation and Employer’s Liability Insurance covering all 

employees of Contractor involved with the performance of the Services, with policy 
amounts and coverage in compliance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Services 
will be performed. 

2. Commercial General Liability Insurance with minimum limits of liability of not less than 
$2,000,000 per occurrence for bodily injury and property damage liability; $2,000,000 
designated location, general aggregate; and $1,000,000 umbrella.  Such insurance will 
include coverage for contractual liability, personal injury, and broad form property 
damage, and shall include all major divisions of coverage and be on a comprehensive basis 
including, but not limited to:   

a. premises operations; 
b. personal injury liability without employment exclusion; 
c. limited contractual; 
d. broad form property damages, including completed operations; 
e. medical payments; 
f. products and completed operations; 
g. independent consultants coverage; and 
h. coverage inclusive of construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and 

procedures, employed in the capacity of a construction consultant. 
 

This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification obligations 
contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of bodily injury or 
property damage. 

3. Comprehensive Automobile Liability Insurance covering all owned, non-owned, and hired 
automobiles used in connection with the performance of the Services, with limits of 
liability of not less than $1,000,000 combined single limit bodily injury and property 
damage.  This policy must include coverage extensions to cover the indemnification 
obligations contained in this Agreement to the extent caused by or arising out of 
bodily injury or property damage. 

4. Any other insurance commonly used by contractors for services of the type to be performed 
pursuant to this Agreement. 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 C-1-1 

EXHIBIT C-1 

CERTIFICATE(S) OF INSURANCE 

 



 

1237.4200, PYQJYPJNZ4WX-380565144-1235 D-1 

EXHIBIT D  

CERTIFICATE OF GOOD STANDING WITH COLORADO SECRETARY OF STATE 

 
 
 



OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

OF THE STATE OF COLORADO 

CERTIFICATE OF FACT OF GOOD STANDING 

I, Jena Griswold  , as the Secretary of State of the State of Colorado, hereby certify that, according to the

records of this office, 

is a 

formed or registered on   under the law of Colorado, has complied with all applicable 

requirements of this office, and is in good standing with this office.  This entity has been assigned entity 

identification number   . 

This certificate reflects facts established or disclosed by documents delivered to this office on paper through 

 that have been posted, and by documents delivered to this office electronically through 

 @   . 

I have affixed hereto the Great Seal of the State of Colorado and duly generated, executed, and issued this 

official certificate at Denver, Colorado on   @    in accordance with applicable law. 

This certificate is assigned Confirmation Number  . 

*********************************************End of Certificate******************************************* 
Notice: A certificate issued electronically from the Colorado Secretary of State’s website is fully and immediately valid and effective. 

However, as an option, the issuance and validity of a certificate obtained electronically may be established by visiting the Validate a 
Certificate page of the Secretary of State’s website, https://www.coloradosos.gov/biz/CertificateSearchCriteria.do entering the 

certificate’s confirmation number displayed on the certificate, and following the instructions displayed. Confirming the issuance of a certificate 

is merely optional and is not necessary to the valid and effective issuance of a certificate. For more information, visit our website, 

https://www.coloradosos.gov click “Businesses, trademarks, trade names” and select “Frequently Asked Questions.” 

C. R. Dotterer, Inc.

Corporation

20191377635

11/13/2023
11/14/2023 11:14:23

11/14/2023 11:14:23
15485667

05/01/2019



1237.0007  

LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN DISTRICT  
ANNUAL ADMINISTRATIVE RESOLUTION 

(2024) 
      

WHEREAS, Leyden Rock Metropolitan District (the “District”), was organized as a 
special district pursuant to an Order and Decree of the District Court in and for the County of 
Jefferson, Colorado (the “County”), and is located entirely within the City of Arvada, Colorado; 
and 

WHEREAS, the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of the District has a duty to perform 
certain obligations in order to assure the efficient operation of the District and hereby directs its 
consultants to take the following actions. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD AS FOLLOWS: 

1. The Board directs the District’s legal counsel to cause an accurate map of the 
District’s boundaries to be prepared in accordance with the standards specified by the Division of 
Local Government (“Division”) and to be filed in accordance with § 32-1-306, C.R.S. 

2. The Board directs the District’s legal counsel to notify the Board of County 
Commissioners, the County Assessor, the County Treasurer, the County Clerk and Recorder, the 
governing body of any municipality in which the District is located, and the Division of the name 
of the chairman of the Board, the contact person, telephone number, and business address of the 
District, as required by § 32-1-104(2), C.R.S. 

3. The Board directs the District’s legal counsel to prepare and file with the Division, 
within thirty (30) days of a written request from the Division, an informational listing of all 
contracts in effect with other political subdivisions, in accordance with § 29-1-205, C.R.S.  

4. The Board directs the District’s accountant to cause the preparation of and to file 
with the Department of Local Affairs the annual public securities report for nonrated public 
securities issued by the District within sixty (60) days of the close of the fiscal year, as required 
by §§ 11-58-101, et seq., C.R.S. 

5. The Board directs the District’s accountant to:  (a) obtain proposals for auditors to 
be presented to the Board; (b) cause an audit of the annual financial statements of the District to 
be prepared and submitted to the Board on or before June 30; and (c) cause the audit to be filed 
with the State Auditor by July 31, or by the filing deadline permitted under any extension thereof, 
all in accordance with §§ 29-1-603(1) and 606, C.R.S.  Alternatively, if warranted by § 29-1-604, 
C.R.S., the Board directs the District’s accountant to apply for and obtain an audit exemption from 
the State Auditor on or before March 31 in accordance with § 29-1-604, C.R.S. 

6. The Board directs the District’s accountant, if the District has authorized but 
unissued general obligation debt as of the end of the fiscal year, to cause to be submitted to the 
Board of County Commissioners or the governing body of the municipality that adopted a 
resolution of approval of the District’s audit report or a copy of its application for exemption from 
audit in accordance with § 29-1-606(7), C.R.S. 



1237.0007 
2 

7. The Board directs the District’s accountant to submit a proposed budget to the 
Board by October 15 and prepare the final budget and budget message, including any amendments 
thereto, if necessary.  The Board also directs the District’s accountant to perform the property tax 
limit calculation, if required by §§ 29-1-306, et seq., C.R.S., and to inform the Board of the result 
of such calculation.  The Board directs legal counsel to schedule a public hearing on the proposed 
budget or amendments, as applicable, and to post or publish notices thereof. The Board directs 
legal counsel to prepare all budget resolutions. The Board directs legal counsel to file the budget, 
budget resolution, and budget message with the Division on or before January 30th, all in 
accordance with §§ 29-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. 

8. The Board directs the District’s accountant to monitor all expenditures and, if 
necessary, to notify the District’s legal counsel, the District’s manager, and the Board when 
expenditures are expected to exceed appropriated amounts.  The Board directs legal counsel to 
prepare all budget amendment resolutions. The Board directs legal counsel to schedule a public 
hearing on a proposed budget amendment and post or publish notices thereof in accordance with 
§ 29-1-106, C.R.S. The Board directs legal counsel to file the amended budget with the Division 
on or before the date of making such expenditure or contracting for such expenditure, all in 
accordance with §§ 29-1-101, et seq., C.R.S. 

9. The Board directs legal counsel to cause the preparation of the Unclaimed Property 
Act report and submission of the same to the State Treasurer by November 1st if there is property 
presumed abandoned and subject to custody as unclaimed property, in accordance with § 38-13-
110, C.R.S. 

10. The Board directs the District’s accountant to prepare the mill levy certification 
form and directs legal counsel to file the mill levy certification form with the Board of County 
Commissioners on or before December 15th, in accordance with § 39-5-128, C.R.S. 

11. The Board directs that all legal notices shall be published in accordance with § 32-
1-103(15), C.R.S. 

12. The Board determines that its directors shall not receive compensation for their 
services as directors subject to the limitations set forth in § 32-1-902(3)(a)(I), (II), C.R.S. 

13. The District hereby acknowledges, in accordance with § 32-1-902, C.R.S., the 
following officers for the District: 

President/Chairman: Brett Vernon 
Secretary: Scott J. Plummer 
Treasurer: Jeff Cunningham 
Assistant Secretary: Christian Ardita 
Assistant Secretary: Tanis Batsel Stewart 
Recording Secretary: Legal Counsel 

 



1237.0007 
3 

14. The Board hereby determines that each member of the Board shall, for any potential 
or actual conflicts of interest, complete conflicts of interest disclosures and directs legal counsel 
to file the conflicts of interest disclosures with the Board and with the Colorado Secretary of State 
at least seventy-two (72) hours prior to every regular and special meeting of the Board, in 
accordance with § 32-1-902(3)(b) and § 18-8-308, C.R.S.  Written disclosures provided by Board 
members required to be filed with the governing body in accordance with § 18-8-308, C.R.S., shall 
be deemed filed with the Board when filed with the Secretary of State.  Additionally, at the 
beginning of each year, each Board member shall submit information to legal counsel regarding 
any actual or potential conflicts of interest and, throughout the year, each Board member shall 
provide legal counsel with any revisions, additions, corrections, or deletions to said conflicts of 
interest disclosures. 

15. The Board confirms its obligations under § 24-10-110(1), C.R.S., with regards to 
the defense and indemnification of its public employees, which, by definition, includes elected and 
appointed officers.  

16. The Board hereby appoints legal counsel as the official custodian for the 
maintenance, care, and keeping of all public records of the District, in accordance with §§ 24-72-
202, et seq., C.R.S.  The Board hereby directs its legal counsel, accountant, manager, and all other 
consultants to adhere to the Colorado Special District Records Retention Schedule as adopted by 
the District.  

17. The Board directs the District's manager to post notice of all regular and special 
meetings in accordance with §§ 32-1-903(2) and 24-6-402(2)(c), C.R.S.  The Board hereby 
designates https://leydenrocklife.com/  as the District’s website for the posting of its regular and 
special meeting notices.  The Board also hereby designates, unless otherwise designated by the 
Board, the Leyden Rock Clubhouse located at 17685 W. 83rd Drive, Arvada, CO as the location 
the District will post notices of meetings in the event of exigent or emergency circumstances which 
prevent the District from posting notice of the meeting on the District’s website.  The Board directs 
legal counsel to provide the website address set forth above to the Department of Local Affairs for 
inclusion in the inventory maintained pursuant to § 24-32-116, C.R.S.  

18. The Board determines to hold regular meetings on the first and third Tuesday of 
every month at 6:00 p.m. by telephone, electronic, or other means not requiring physical presence
.  All notices of meetings shall designate whether such meeting will be held by electronic means, 
at a physical location, or both, and shall designate how members of the public may attend such 
meeting, including the conference number or link by which members of the public can attend the 
meeting electronically, if applicable. 

19. The Board determines to hold an annual meeting, pursuant to § 32-1-903(6), on 
July 16, 2024, at 5:30 p.m.  by telephone, electronic, or other means not requiring physical presence
, subject to change by action of the Board.  Notice of the annual meeting shall designate whether 
such meeting will be held by electronic means, at a physical location, or both, and shall designate 
how members of the public may attend such meeting, including the conference number or link by 
which members of the public can attend the meeting electronically, if applicable. The District’s 
Manager shall be responsible for coordinating the required presentations for the annual meeting. 

https://leydenrocklife.com/


1237.0007 
4 

20. In the event of an emergency, the Board may conduct a meeting outside of the 
limitations prescribed in § 24-6-402(2)(c), C.R.S., provided that any actions taken at such 
emergency meeting are ratified at the next regular meeting of the Board or at a special meeting 
conducted after proper notice has been given to the public. 

21. The Board directs the District's manager to maintain the District’s website in 
compliance with state and federal requirements and to make such documents and information 
required by § 32-1-104.5, C.R.S. available to the public on the District’s website. 

22. For the convenience of the electors of the District, and pursuant to its authority set 
forth in § 1-13.5-1101, C.R.S., the Board hereby deems that all regular and special elections of the 
District shall be conducted as independent mail ballot elections in accordance with §§ 1-13.5-1101, 
et seq., C.R.S., unless otherwise deemed necessary and expressed in a separate election resolution 
adopted by the Board. 

23. Pursuant to the authority set forth in § 1-1-111, C.R.S., the Board hereby appoints 
the District's manager, as the Designated Election Official (the “DEO”) of the District for any 
elections called by the Board, or called on behalf of the Board by the DEO, and hereby authorizes 
and directs the DEO to take all actions necessary for the proper conduct of the election, including, 
if applicable, cancellation of the election in accordance with § 1-13.5-513, C.R.S.   

24. In accordance with § 1-11-103(3), C.R.S., the Board hereby directs the DEO to 
certify to the Division the results of any elections held by the District and, pursuant to § 32-1-
1101.5(1), C.R.S., to certify results of any ballot issue election to incur general obligation 
indebtedness to the Board of County Commissioners or the governing body of the municipality 
that adopted a resolution of approval of the District and file a copy of such certification with the 
Division of Securities. 

25. The Board directs legal counsel to cause a notice of authorization of or notice to 
incur general obligation debt to be recorded with the County Clerk and Recorder within thirty (30) 
days of authorizing or incurring any indebtedness, in accordance with § 32-1-1604, C.R.S. 

26. Pursuant to the authority set forth in § 24-12-103, C.R.S., the Board hereby 
designates, in addition to any officer of the District, Alyssa K. Rios of the law firm of White Bear 
Ankele Tanaka & Waldron, Attorneys at Law, as a person with the power to administer all oaths 
or affirmations of office and other oaths or affirmations required to be taken by any person upon 
any lawful occasion. 

27. The Board directs legal counsel to cause the preparation of and filing with the Board 
of County Commissioners or the governing body of the municipality that adopted a resolution of 
approval of the District, if requested, the application for quinquennial finding of reasonable 
diligence in accordance with § 32-1-1101.5(1.5), (2), C.R.S. 

28. The Board directs legal counsel to cause the preparation of and the filing with the 
Board of County Commissioners or the governing body of any municipality in which the District 
is located, the Division, the State Auditor, the County Clerk and Recorder, and any interested 
parties entitled to notice pursuant to § 32-1-204(1), C.R.S., an annual report in accordance with § 
32-1-207(3)(c), C.R.S. 



1237.0007 
5 

29. The Board directs legal counsel to obtain proposals and/or renewals for insurance, 
as applicable, to insure the District against all or any part of the District’s liability, in accordance 
with §§ 24-10-115, et seq., C.R.S.  The Board directs legal counsel to review and update the 
District’s property schedule as needed, and no less than annually. The Board directs the District’s 
accountant to pay the annual SDA membership dues, agency fees, and insurance premiums, as 
applicable, in a timely manner.  The Board appoints legal counsel to designate the proxy for the 
SDA Annual meeting for voting and quorum purposes. 

30. The Board hereby opts to include elected or appointed officials as employees within 
the meaning of § 8-40-202(1)(a)(I)(A), C.R.S., and hereby directs legal counsel to obtain workers’ 
compensation coverage for the District. 

31. The Board hereby directs legal counsel to prepare the disclosure notice required by 
§ 32-1-809, C.R.S., and to disseminate the information to the electors of the District accordingly.  
Further, the Board hereby designates the following website as the District’s official website for 
the purposes thereof: https://leydenrocklife.com/.  

32. The Board hereby directs legal counsel to prepare and record with the County Clerk 
and Recorder updates to the disclosure statement notice and map required by § 32-1-104.8, C.R.S., 
if additional property is included within the District’s boundaries.  

33. In accordance with § 38-35-109.5(2), C.R.S., the District hereby designates the 
President of the Board as the official who shall record any instrument conveying title of real 
property to the District within thirty (30) days of any such conveyance.  

34. The Board hereby affirms the adoption of the corporate seal in substantially the 
form appearing on the signature page of this resolution in accordance with § 32-1-902, C.R.S., 
regardless of whether initially produced electronically or manually.  The requirement of any 
District resolution, proceeding or other document to “affix” the District seal thereto, including for 
the purpose of satisfying any applicable State law, shall be satisfied by manual impression or print, 
facsimile reproduction or electronic reproduction, or inclusion of the image of such seal.   Without 
limiting the foregoing, any electronic production or reproduction of the image of the seal shall 
constitute an electronic record of information, as defined in the Uniform Electronic Transactions 
Act, and the Board hereby authorizes its use in accordance with the authority provided by § 24-
71.3-118, C.R.S. 

35. The Board directs the District's accountant to prepare and submit the documentation 
required by any continuing disclosure obligation signed in conjunction with the issuance of debt 
by the District. 

36. The Board directs legal counsel to monitor, and inform the Board of, any legislative 
changes that may occur throughout the year.   

[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank, Signature Page Follows] 
  

https://leydenrocklife.com/


1237.0007 
6 

ADOPTED NOVEMBER 20, 2023. 

(SEAL) 
DISTRICT: 
 
LEYDEN ROCK METROPOLITAN 
DISTRICT, a quasi-municipal corporation and 
political subdivision of the State of Colorado  
 

By:  
 Officer of the District 

 
 
Attest: 
 

By:  
  
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
WHITE BEAR ANKELE TANAKA & WALDRON 
Attorneys at Law 
 
 
 
 
General Counsel to the District 
 
 
 

 



Property - Leyden Rock MD

Name Street City
Postal 
Code

3 HVAC Units 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
4' Three Rail Fence w/ Column 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
6' Privacy Fence w/ Column 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
888 ft 4' High 3-Rail Fence - Tract F, Filing 
No. 5

W. 85th Drive & Yucca Street Avon 80007

Boulder Wall and Drop Sturctures 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Clubhouse Building 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Concrete Paths & Curbs Throughout District 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007

Irrigation System, Pumps, and Control 
Clocks

17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007

Landscaping: Trees & Turf with Edger W. 82nd Avenue & Yule Way Arvada 80007
Mailbox Kiosks 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Major Landscape - Trees & Shrubs 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Modular Block Wall 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Monument Sign Yule Way & W 82nd Ave, Arvada 80007
Monumentation Throughout District 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Pet Waste Stations 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Pool Deck & Pan Concrete 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Pool Fixtures & Furniture 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Pool Perimeter Fence 17685 W. 83rd Drive Arvada 80007
Stormwater Outlet Structure at Water 
Quality Pond

W. 82nd Avenue & Yule Way Arvada 80007

Three-rail Wood Fencing W. 82nd Avenue & Yule Way Arvada 80007
Trees & Irrigation System - Tract B, Filing 
No. 5

Leyden Rock Drive & W. 87th Avenue Avon 80007

Trees & Irrigation System - Tract C, Filing No. 
5

W. 87th Drive & Yule Street Avon 80007

Trees, Irrigation System, & 182 ft. 4' High 3-
Rail Fence - Tract N, Filing No. 6

W. 88th Drive & Flattop Street Avon 80007

Trees, Irrigation System, & 185 ft. 4' High 3-
Rail Fence - Tract Q, Filing No. 6

W. 88th Drive & El Diente Street Avon 80007

Trees, Irrigation System, 169 ft 4' High 3-Rail 
Fence - Tract M, Filing No. 6

W. 88th Drive & Gore Street Avon 80007

Trees, Irrigation System, 186 ft. 4' High 3-
Rail Fence - Tract O, Filing No. 6

W. 88th Drive & Flagstaff Street Avon 80007

Trees, Irrigation, 187 ft. 4' High Fence, Trash 
Receptacle, & Mail Kiosk - Tract P, Filing No. 
6

W. 88th Drive & Eldora Street Avon 80007

Trees, Irrigation, 210 ft. 4' High Fence, Trash 
Receptacle, & Mail Kiosk - Tract R, Filing No. 
6

W. 88th Drive & Dunraven Street Avon 80007



Trees, Shrubs, Irrigation System, 88 ft. 4' 
High 3-Rail Fence - Tract S, Filing No. 6

W. 87th Drive & Bross Street Avon 80007

Trees, Shrubs, Turf, Irrigation System, & 413 
ft. 4' High 3-Rail Fence - Tract D, Filing No. 6

W. 87th Drive & Antero Court Avon 80007

Trees, Shrubs, Turf, Irrigation System, & 92 
ft. 4' High 3-Rail Fence - Tract C, Filing No. 6

W. 87th Drive & Antero Court Avon 80007

Trees, Shrubs, Turf, Irrigation System, 661 ft. 
4' High 3-Rail Fence - Tract I, Filing No. 6

W. 87th Drive & Bross Street Avon 80007



County Val. Type
Default 

Property 
Ded.

Building 
Value

Contents 
Value

EDP Value BI Value
Starting 

Pipe 
Value

Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 1,750,366.00 28,918.00 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Jefferson Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0
Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0



Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0

Eagle Replacement 500 0 0 0 0 0



Pipe 
Value

NOC Value Total Value Delete Requested?

0 3,693.00 3,693.00
0 113,802.00 113,802.00
0 168,570.00 168,570.00
0 20,995.00 20,995.00

0 40,450.00 40,450.00
0 0 1,779,284.00
0 588,548.00 588,548.00

0 729,329.00 729,329.00
upgraded to smart controllers in 2021

0 113,864.00 113,864.00
0 45,518.00 45,518.00
0 741,854.00 741,854.00
0 83,344.00 83,344.00
0 40,187.00 40,187.00
0 130,547.00 130,547.00 does this include other main entrances monum
0 13,129.00 13,129.00
0 133,215.00 133,215.00
0 22,430.00 22,430.00 new shade and pool furniture in 2023
0 3,215.00 3,215.00
0 33,489.00 33,489.00

0 7,368.00 7,368.00
0 342,570.00 342,570.00

0 19,773.00 19,773.00

0 21,651.00 21,651.00

0 22,418.00 22,418.00

0 64,478.00 64,478.00

0 21,144.00 21,144.00

0 50,533.00 50,533.00

0 49,858.00 49,858.00



0 32,021.00 32,021.00

0 27,085.00 27,085.00

0 52,678.00 52,678.00

0 109,077.00 109,077.00



      ments



BMO

Estimated payroll is subject to yearend audit. 

Payment evidences “acceptance” of this coverage. The terms of the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA) require timely payment to 
prevent automatic cancellation of coverage. Please return this invoice and reference the coverage number on your check to help us apply 
your payment correctly. Only prior notice to the board of directors of the Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool and 
subsequent approval may extend cancellation provision.

Please remit to: Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool We accept online payments at E-Bill Express
c/o McGriff Insurance Services, LLC Refer to Payment Instructions page for additional options
PO Box 1539 billing@csdpool.org
Portland, OR 97207-1539 800-318-8870 ext. 3

Workers’ Compensation Coverage
Invoice

District: Leyden Rock Metropolitan District
c/o White, Bear, Ankele, Tanaka, & Waldron
2154 E Commons Ave, Suite 2000
Centennial, CO 80122

Broker: TCW Risk Management
384 Inverness Parkway
Suite 170
Englewood, CO 80112

Coverage No. Entity ID Effective Date Expiration Date Invoice Date
24WC-61158-0254 61158 1/1/2024 EOD 12/31/2024 8/14/2023

No. of EmployeesClass 
Code Description

FT PT
No. of 

Volunteers 2024 Rate 2024 Estimated 
Employee Payroll

2024 Estimated 
Volunteer Payroll

Estimated Manual 
Contribution

8811 Board Member Coverage 0 0 5 0.75 $0.00 $6,000.00 $45.00

Manual Contribution: $45.00
Experience Modification: × 1.00

Modified Contribution: = $45.00
Minimum Contribution: $450.00

Contribution Volume Credit: - $0.00
Designated Provider Discount: - $0.00

Cost Containment Credit: × 1.00
Manual Adjustment: ×

Multi-Program Discount: × 1.00

Estimated Annual Contribution: = $450.00
Pro Rata Factor: × 1.00

Total Estimated Contribution: = $450.00

Total Amount Due: $450.00

https://www.e-billexpress.com/ebpp/CSDPool/


Workers’ Compensation and Employer’s Liability Declarations Page

Coverage Number: 24WC-61158-0254 FEIN: 30-0716687
Coverage Period: 1/1/2024 — EOD 12/31/2024 Entity ID: 61158

Named Member: Broker of Record:
Leyden Rock Metropolitan District
c/o White, Bear, Ankele, Tanaka, & Waldron
2154 E Commons Ave, Suite 2000
Centennial, CO 80122

TCW Risk Management
384 Inverness Parkway
Suite 170
Englewood, CO 80112

Coverage is provided for only those coverages and classifications indicated below.

State: Colorado
Limits of Liability: Coverage A Workers’ Compensation Statutory

Coverage B Employer’s Liability $2,000,000
Annual Contribution: $450.00 

Class Description 2024 Estimated 
Employee Payroll

2024 Estimated 
Volunteer Payroll

8811 Board Member Coverage $0.00 $6,000.00

This Declarations page is made and is mutually accepted by the Pool and Named Member subject to all 
terms that are made a part of the Workers’ Compensation Coverage Document. This Declarations page 
represents only a brief summary of coverages. Please refer to the Coverage Document at csdpool.org 
for actual coverages, terms, conditions, and exclusions. Named Member must be a member of the 
Special District Association of Colorado and must adopt the Pool’s Intergovernmental Agreement.

Countersigned by:  Date: 8/14/2023
Authorized Representative
Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool



Payment Instructions

The contribution for coverage with the Pool is due upon receipt of this invoice.  

We accept the following payment methods:

1. Online using E-Bill Express (www.e-billexpress.com/ebpp/CSDPool). For detailed instructions, 
please click here or go to csdpool.org/documents. You can also find an FAQ here or go to the E-
Bill Express logon screen.

2. Mail your check to:

Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool 
c/o McGriff Insurance Services, LLC
PO Box 1539 
Portland, OR 97207 

 
For express or overnight mail services, please use the address below: 

 Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool
c/o McGriff Insurance Services, LLC
1800 SW 1st Ave, Suite 400 
Portland, OR 97201

To ensure that your payment is accurately applied, please always include a copy of the invoice.

3. Wire or ACH transfer from your own bank account.  Please let us know if you wish to use this 
method and we will be happy to provide you with these instructions.

Please be advised that in accordance with the Intergovernmental Agreement (IGA), automatic expulsion 
will occur on the 60th day should your account not be current. If you wish to reinstate your district’s 
coverage after cancellation has occurred, a $100 reinstatement fee will apply.  

If your district requires a payment extension, please submit a written request within ten (10) business 
days from the date of the invoice, for consideration by the CSD Pool Board of Directors. 

Finally, all members of the Pool must be members in good standing with the Special District Association 
of Colorado (SDA). Please visit the SDA website at sdaco.org for member information.

Please contact us at billing@csdpool.org or 800-318-8870 ext. 3 for billing questions.

https://csdpool.org/wp-content/uploads/E-Bill-Express-Instructions.pdf
https://www.e-billexpress.com/ebpp/CSDPool/HelpDesk
mailto:billing@csdpool.org


CERTIFICATE OF COVERAGE

CERTIFICATE NO.: CERT-007080
DATE: 8/14/2023

ADMINISTRATOR:
Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool
c/o McGriff Insurance Services, Inc.
PO Box 1539
Portland, OR 97207-1539

This certificate is issued as a matter of information only and confers no 
rights upon the certificate holder other than those provided in the 
coverage document. This certificate does not amend, extend, or alter 
the coverage afforded by the coverage documents listed herein.

COMPANIES AFFORDING COVERAGE
COMPANY A: Colorado Special Districts Property and Liability Pool

NAMED MEMBER:
Leyden Rock Metropolitan District
c/o White, Bear, Ankele, Tanaka, & Waldron
2154 E Commons Ave, Suite 2000
Centennial, CO 80122 COMPANY B: Safety National Casualty Corporation

COVERAGES

This is to certify that the coverage documents listed herein have been issued to the Named Member herein for the 
coverage period indicated. Notwithstanding any requirement, term, or condition of any contract or other document 
with respect to which the certificate may be issued or may pertain, the coverage afforded by the coverage 
documents listed herein is subject to all the terms, conditions, and exclusions of such coverage documents.
CO 
LTR TYPE OF COVERAGE LIMITS COVERAGE NUMBER EFFECTIVE DATE EXPIRATION DATE

AB Workers’ 
Compensation

WC STATUTORY LIMITS

EL EACH 
ACCIDENT $2,000,000

EL DISEASE 
– EACH 

EMPLOYEE
$2,000,000AB Employer’s 

Liability
EL DISEASE 
– POLICY 

LIMIT
$2,000,000

24WC-61158-0254 1/1/2024 EOD 12/31/2024

Description:
Subject to the terms and conditions of the Workers’ Compensation Coverage Document.

Evidence of coverage only.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION
Should any of the above described coverages be canceled before the expiration date 
thereof, notice will be delivered in accordance with the coverage and policy for provisions.

Nationstar Mortgage LLC ISAOA DBA 
Mr. Cooper
PO Box 7729
Springfield, OH 45501-7729

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE: Joseph E. DePaepe


	2023-11-20 Agenda
	2023-10-17 Minutes
	2023-11-07 Minutes
	2023-11-07 Annual Minutes
	ICA with Rhonda Batchelor/Rad Booth CO, LLC 
	ICA with Worldwide Hot Dogs LLC for Catering 
	ICA with Bedrock for Removal of Pool Shades
	ICA with Rhonda Batchelor/Rad Booth for Photo Booth
	Facilities Agreement with Jeffco Public Schools
	Payables
	Claims
	2024 Budget Resolution
	2024 Draft Budget

	District Manager's Report
	Partnership with Loft & Blush, Regarding Clubhouse Refresh
	Patio Homes HOA Reimbursement Request
	ICA with Allied Waste Transportation, Inc for Solid Waste Services
	ICA with Ascent Land Development LLC for Project Management Services
	ICA with Cintas Fire Protection for Fire Protection Services
	ICA with CTL Thompson, Inc. for Annual Seep and Sediment Sampling
	ICA with Done and Dusted, LLC for Clubhouse Cleaning Services
	ICA with Keesen Landscape Management, Inc for 2024 Landscape Maintenance Services
	ICA with Lee Design Group, LLC for Design Review Services
	ICA with Long Corportation for Pet Waste Station Services
	ICA with Mile High Pools LLC for Pool Gate Monitor
	ICA with Peak One Pool & Spa for Pool Maintenance
	Contract with Timberline Mechanical Systems, LLC for HVAC Sysem Maintenance
	ICA with Weed Wranglers, Inc for Noxious Weed and Pest Control Services
	2024 Annual Administrative Resolution
	Renewal of Property and Liability Schedule and Limits, Workers Compensation Coverage, and SDA Membership for 2024

